

No. 15-1363 (and consolidated cases)

---

**IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIRCUIT**

---

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, *et al.*,  
*Petitioners,*

v.

UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, *et al.*,  
*Respondents.*

---

**On Petitions for Review of Final Agency Action of the  
United States Environmental Protection Agency  
80 Fed. Reg. 64,662 (Oct. 23, 2015)**

---

**REPLY BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON  
PROCEDURAL AND RECORD-BASED ISSUES**

---

Thomas A. Lorenzen  
Sherrie A. Armstrong  
CROWELL & MORING LLP  
1001 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004  
Tel: (202) 624-2500  
tlorenzen@crowell.com  
sarmstrong@crowell.com

*Counsel for Petitioners National Rural Electric  
Cooperative Association, et al.*

Patrick Morrissey  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF WEST  
VIRGINIA  
Elbert Lin  
Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
J. Zak Ritchie  
Assistant Attorney General  
State Capitol Building 1, Room 26-E  
Charleston, WV 25305  
Tel: (304) 558-2021  
Fax: (304) 558-0140  
elbert.lin@wvago.gov

**DATED: April 15, 2016**

*Counsel for Petitioner State of West Virginia*

*Additional counsel listed on following pages*

---

---

Ken Paxton  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF TEXAS  
Jeffrey C. Mateer  
First Assistant Attorney General  
Scott A. Keller  
Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
P.O. Box 12548  
Austin, TX 78711-2548  
Tel: (512) 936-1700  
scott.keller@texasattorneygeneral.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Texas*

Mark Brnovich  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ARIZONA  
John R. Lopez IV  
*Counsel of Record*  
Dominic E. Draye  
Keith J. Miller  
Assistant Attorneys General  
Maureen Scott  
Janet Wagner  
Janice Alward  
Arizona Corp. Commission,  
Staff Attorneys  
1275 West Washington  
Phoenix, AZ 85007  
Tel: (602) 542-5025  
john.lopez@azag.gov  
dominic.draye@azag.gov  
keith.miller@azag.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner Arizona Corporation  
Commission*

Luther Strange  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ALABAMA  
Andrew Brasher  
Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
501 Washington Avenue  
Montgomery, AL 36130  
Tel: (334) 353-2609  
abrasher@ago.state.al.us

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Alabama*

Leslie Rutledge  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ARKANSAS  
Lee Rudofsky  
Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
Jamie L. Ewing  
Assistant Attorney General  
323 Center Street, Suite 400  
Little Rock, AR 72201  
Tel: (501) 682-5310  
lee.rudofsky@arkansasag.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Arkansas*

Cynthia H. Coffman  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF COLORADO  
Frederick Yarger  
Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
1300 Broadway, 10th Floor  
Denver, CO 80203  
Tel: (720) 508-6168  
fred.yarger@state.co.us

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Colorado*

Samuel S. Olens  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF GEORGIA  
Britt C. Grant  
Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
40 Capitol Square S.W.  
Atlanta, GA 30334  
Tel: (404) 656-3300  
Fax: (404) 463-9453  
bgrant@law.ga.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Georgia*

Pamela Jo Bondi  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF FLORIDA  
Jonathan L. Williams  
Deputy Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
Jonathan A. Glogau  
Special Counsel  
Office of the Attorney General  
PL-01, The Capitol  
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050  
Tel: (850) 414-3818  
Fax: (850) 410-2672  
jonathan.williams@myfloridalegal.com  
jonathan.glogau@myfloridalegal.com

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Florida*

Gregory F. Zoeller  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF INDIANA  
Timothy Junk  
Deputy Attorney General  
*Counsel of Record*  
Indiana Government Ctr. South  
Fifth Floor  
302 West Washington Street  
Indianapolis, IN 46205  
Tel: (317) 232-6247  
tim.junk@atg.in.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Indiana*

Derek Schmidt  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF KANSAS  
Jeffrey A. Chanay  
Chief Deputy Attorney General  
*Counsel of Record*  
Bryan C. Clark  
Assistant Solicitor General  
120 S.W. 10th Avenue, 3rd Floor  
Topeka, KS 66612  
Tel: (785) 368-8435  
Fax: (785) 291-3767  
jeff.chanay@ag.ks.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Kansas*

Jeff Landry  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF LOUISIANA  
Steven B. "Beaux" Jones  
*Counsel of Record*  
Duncan S. Kemp, IV  
Assistant Attorneys General  
Environmental Section – Civil Division  
1885 N. Third Street  
Baton Rouge, LA 70804  
Tel: (225) 326-6085  
Fax: (225) 326-6099  
jonesst@ag.state.la.us

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Louisiana*

Andy Beshear  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF KENTUCKY  
Mitchel T. Denham  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
Joseph A. Newberg, II  
Assistant Attorney General  
*Counsel of Record*  
700 Capital Avenue  
Suite 118  
Frankfort, KY 40601  
Tel: (502) 696-5611  
joe.newberg@ky.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner Commonwealth of Kentucky*

Herman Robinson  
Executive Counsel  
Donald Trahan  
*Counsel of Record*  
Elliott Vega  
LOUISIANA DEPARTMENT OF  
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY  
Legal Division  
P.O. Box 4302  
Baton Rouge, LA 70821-4302  
Tel: (225) 219-3985  
Fax: (225) 2194068  
donald.trahan@la.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Louisiana  
Department of Environmental Quality*

Monica Derbes Gibson  
Lesley Foxhall Pietras  
LISKOW & LEWIS, P.L.C.  
701 Poydras Street, Suite 5000  
New Orleans, LA 70139  
Tel: (504) 556-4010  
Fax: (504) 556-4108  
mdgibson@liskow.com  
lfpietras@liskow.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Louisiana Public Service  
Commission*

Jim Hood  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF  
MISSISSIPPI  
Harold E. Pizzetta  
Assistant Attorney General  
Civil Litigation Division  
Office of the Attorney General  
Post Office Box 220  
Jackson, MS 39205  
Tel: (601) 359-3816  
Fax: (601) 359-2003  
hpizz@ago.state.ms.us

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Mississippi*

Bill Schuette  
ATTORNEY GENERAL FOR THE PEOPLE  
OF MICHIGAN  
Aaron D. Lindstrom  
Michigan Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
P.O. Box 30212  
Lansing, MI 48909  
Tel: (515) 373-1124  
Fax: (517) 373-3042  
lindstroma@michigan.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner People of the State of  
Michigan*

Donna J. Hodges  
Senior Counsel  
MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF  
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY  
P.O. Box 2261  
Jackson, MS 39225-2261  
Tel: (601) 961-5369  
Fax: (601) 961-5349  
donna\_hodges@deq.state.ms.us

*Counsel for Petitioner Mississippi Department of  
Environmental Quality*

Todd E. Palmer  
Valerie L. Green  
MICHAEL, BEST & FRIEDRICH LLP  
601 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W., Suite 700  
Washington, D.C. 20004-2601  
Tel: (202) 747-9560  
Fax: (202) 347-1819  
tepalmer@michaelbest.com  
vlgreen@michaelbest.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Mississippi Public Service  
Commission*

Timothy C. Fox  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF MONTANA  
Alan Joscelyn  
Chief Deputy Attorney General  
Dale Schowengerdt  
Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
215 North Sanders  
Helena, MT 59620-1401  
Tel: (406) 444-7008  
dales@mt.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Montana*

Chris Koster  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF MISSOURI  
James R. Layton  
Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
P.O. Box 899  
207 W. High Street  
Jefferson City, MO 65102  
Tel: (573) 751-1800  
Fax: (573) 751-0774  
james.layton@ago.mo.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Missouri*

Douglas J. Peterson  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF NEBRASKA  
Dave Bydlaek  
Chief Deputy Attorney General  
Justin D. Lavene  
Assistant Attorney General  
*Counsel of Record*  
2115 State Capitol  
Lincoln, NE 68509  
Tel: (402) 471-2834  
justin.lavene@nebraska.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Nebraska*

Robert Lougy  
ACTING ATTORNEY GENERAL OF NEW  
JERSEY

David C. Apy  
Assistant Attorney General

John R. Renella  
Deputy Attorney General  
*Counsel of Record*

Division of Law  
R.J. Hughes Justice Complex  
P.O. Box 093  
25 Market Street  
Trenton, NJ 08625-0093  
Tel: (609) 292-6945  
Fax: (609) 341-5030  
john.renella@dol.lps.state.nj.us

*Counsel for Petitioner State of New Jersey*

Wayne Stenehjem  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF NORTH  
DAKOTA

Margaret Olson  
Assistant Attorney General  
North Dakota Attorney General's Office  
600 E. Boulevard Avenue #125  
Bismarck, ND 58505  
Tel: (701) 328-3640  
maiolson@nd.gov

Paul M. Seby  
Special Assistant Attorney General  
State of North Dakota  
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP  
1200 17th Street, Suite 2400  
Denver, CO 80202  
Tel: (303) 572-6500  
Fax: (303) 572-6540  
sebyp@gtlaw.com

*Counsel for Petitioner State of North Dakota*

Michael DeWine

ATTORNEY GENERAL OF OHIO

Eric E. Murphy

State Solicitor

*Counsel of Record*

30 E. Broad Street, 17th Floor

Columbus, OH 43215

Tel: (614) 466-8980

eric.murphy@ohioattorneygeneral.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Ohio*

E. Scott Pruitt

ATTORNEY GENERAL OF OKLAHOMA

Patrick R. Wyrick

Solicitor General of Oklahoma

313 N.E. 21st Street

Oklahoma City, OK 73105

Tel: (405) 521-4396

Fax: (405) 522-0669

fc.docket@oag.state.ok.us

scott.pruitt@oag.ok.gov

David B. Rivkin, Jr.

*Counsel of Record*

Mark W. DeLaquil

Andrew M. Grossman

BAKER & HOSTETLER LLP

Washington Square, Suite 1100

1050 Connecticut Ave., N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20036

Tel: (202) 861-1731

Fax: (202) 861-1783

drivkin@bakerlaw.com

*Counsel for Petitioners State of Oklahoma and  
Oklahoma Department of Environmental  
Quality*



Alan Wilson  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF SOUTH  
CAROLINA

Robert D. Cook

Solicitor General

James Emory Smith, Jr.

Deputy Solicitor General

*Counsel of Record*

P.O. Box 11549

Columbia, SC 29211

Tel: (803) 734-3680

Fax: (803) 734-3677

esmith@scag.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of South Carolina*

Sean Reyes

ATTORNEY GENERAL OF UTAH

Tyler R. Green

Solicitor General

*Counsel of Record*

Parker Douglas

Federal Solicitor

Utah State Capitol Complex

350 North State Street, Suite 230

Salt Lake City, UT 84114-2320

pdouglas@utah.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Utah*

Marty J. Jackley

ATTORNEY GENERAL OF SOUTH

DAKOTA

Steven R. Blair

Assistant Attorney General

*Counsel of Record*

1302 E. Highway 14, Suite 1

Pierre, SD 57501

Tel: (605) 773-3215

steven.blair@state.sd.us

*Counsel for Petitioner State of South Dakota*

Brad D. Schimel

ATTORNEY GENERAL OF WISCONSIN

Misha Tseytlin

Solicitor General

*Counsel of Record*

Andrew Cook

Deputy Attorney General

Delanie M. Breuer

Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Wisconsin Department of Justice

17 West Main Street

Madison, WI 53707

Tel: (608) 267-9323

tseytlinm@doj.state.wi.us

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Wisconsin*

Peter K. Michael  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF WYOMING  
James Kaste  
Deputy Attorney General  
*Counsel of Record*  
Michael J. McGrady  
Erik Petersen  
Senior Assistant Attorneys General  
Elizabeth Morrisseau  
Assistant Attorney General  
2320 Capitol Avenue  
Cheyenne, WY 82002  
Tel: (307) 777-6946  
Fax: (307) 777-3542  
james.kaste@wyo.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Wyoming*

Dennis Lane  
STINSON LEONARD STREET LLP  
1775 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W., Suite 800  
Washington, D.C. 20006  
Tel: (202) 785-9100  
Fax: (202) 785-9163  
dennis.lane@stinson.com

Parthenia B. Evans  
STINSON LEONARD STREET LLP  
1201 Walnut Street, Suite 2900  
Kansas City, MO 64106  
Tel: (816) 842-8600  
Fax: (816) 691-3495  
parthy.evans@stinson.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Kansas City Board of  
Public Utilities – Unified Government of  
Wyandotte County/ Kansas City, Kansas*

Sam M. Hayes  
General Counsel  
*Counsel of Record*  
Craig Bromby  
Deputy General Counsel  
Andrew Norton  
Deputy General Counsel  
NORTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF  
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY  
1601 Mail Service Center  
Raleigh, NC 27699-1601  
Tel: (919) 707-8616  
sam.hayes@ncdenr.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner North Carolina  
Department of Environmental Quality*

F. William Brownell  
Allison D. Wood  
Henry V. Nickel  
Tauna M. Szymanski  
HUNTON & WILLIAMS LLP  
2200 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20037  
Tel: (202) 955-1500  
bbrownell@hunton.com  
awood@hunton.com  
hnickel@hunton.com  
tszymanski@hunton.com

*Counsel for Petitioners Utility Air Regulatory  
Group and American Public Power Association*

*Of Counsel*

Rae Cronmiller  
Environmental Counsel  
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF RURAL  
ELECTRIC COOPERATIVES  
4301 Wilson Blvd.  
Arlington, VA 22203  
Tel: (703) 907-5500  
rae.cronmiller@nreca.coop

Stacey Turner  
SOUTHERN COMPANY SERVICES, INC.  
600 18<sup>th</sup> Street North  
BIN 14N-8195  
Birmingham, AL 35203  
Tel: (205) 257-2823  
staturne@southernco.com

*Counsel for Petitioners Alabama Power  
Company, Georgia Power Company, Gulf Power  
Company, and Mississippi Power Company*

Margaret Claiborne Campbell  
Angela J. Levin  
TROUTMAN SANDERS LLP  
600 Peachtree Street, NE, Suite 5200  
Atlanta, GA 30308-2216  
Tel: (404) 885-3000  
margaret.campbell@troutmansanders.com  
angela.levin@troutmansanders.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Georgia Power Company*

C. Grady Moore, III  
Steven G. McKinney  
BALCH & BINGHAM LLP  
1901 Sixth Avenue North, Suite 1500  
Birmingham, AL 35303-4642  
Tel: (205) 251-8100  
Fax: (205) 488-5704  
gmoore@balch.com  
smckinney@balch.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Alabama Power  
Company*

Terese T. Wyly  
Ben H. Stone  
BALCH & BINGHAM LLP  
1310 Twenty Fifth Avenue  
Gulfport, MS 39501-1931  
Tel: (228) 214-0413  
twyly@balch.com  
bstone@balch.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Mississippi Power  
Company*

Jeffrey A. Stone  
BEGGS & LANE, RLLP  
501 Commendancia Street  
Pensacola, FL 32502  
Tel: (850) 432-2451  
JAS@beggslane.com

James S. Alves  
2110 Trescott Drive  
Tallahassee, FL 32308  
Tel: (850) 566-7607  
jim.s.alves@outlook.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Gulf Power Company*

Christina F. Gomez  
Lawrence E. Volmert  
Garrison W. Kaufman  
Jill H. Van Noord  
HOLLAND & HART LLP  
555 Seventeenth Street, Suite 3200  
Denver, CO 80202  
Tel: (303) 295-8000  
Fax: (303) 295-8261  
cgomez@hollandhart.com  
lvolmert@hollandhart.com  
gwkaufman@hollandhart.com  
jhvan Noord@hollandhart.com

Patrick R. Day  
HOLLAND & HART LLP  
2515 Warren Avenue, Suite 450  
Cheyenne, WY 82001  
Tel: (307) 778-4200  
Fax: (307) 778-8175  
pday@hollandhart.com

Emily C. Schilling  
HOLLAND & HART LLP  
222 South Main Street, Suite 2200  
Salt Lake City, UT 84101  
Tel: (801) 799-5800  
Fax: (801) 799-5700  
ecschilling@hollandhart.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Basin Electric Power  
Cooperative*

James S. Alves  
2110 Trescott Drive  
Tallahassee, FL 32308  
Tel: (850) 566-7607  
jim.s.alves@outlook.com

*Counsel for Petitioner CO<sub>2</sub> Task Force of the  
Florida Electric Power Coordinating Group, Inc.*

William M. Bumpers  
Megan H. Berge  
BAKER BOTTS L.L.P.  
1299 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004  
Tel: (202) 639-7700  
william.bumpers@bakerbotts.com  
megan.berge@bakerbotts.com

Kelly McQueen  
ENTERGY SERVICES, INC.  
425 W. Capitol Avenue, 27th Floor  
Little Rock, AR 72201  
Tel: (501) 377-5760  
kmcque1@entergy.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Entergy Corporation*

John J. McMackin  
WILLIAMS & JENSEN  
701 8th Street, N.W., Suite 500  
Washington, D.C. 20001  
Tel: (202) 659-8201  
jjmcmackin@wms-jen.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Energy-Intensive  
Manufacturers Working Group on Greenhouse  
Gas Regulation*

Paul J. Zidlicky  
SIDLEY AUSTIN, LLP  
1501 K Street, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20005  
Tel: (202) 736-8000  
pzidlicky@sidley.com

*Counsel for Petitioners GenOn Mid-Atlantic,  
LLC; Indian River Power LLC; Louisiana  
Generating LLC; Midwest Generation, LLC;  
NRG Chalk Point LLC; NRG Power  
Midwest LP; NRG Rema LLC; NRG Texas  
Power LLC; NRG Wholesale Generation LP;  
and Vienna Power LLC*

David M. Flannery  
Kathy G. Beckett  
Edward L. Kropp  
STEPTOE & JOHNSON, PLLC  
707 Virginia Street East  
Charleston, WV 25326  
Tel: (304) 353-8000  
dave.flannery@steptoe-johnson.com  
kathy.beckett@steptoe-johnson.com  
skipp.kropp@steptoe-johnson.com

Stephen L. Miller  
STEPTOE & JOHNSON, PLLC  
700 N. Hurstbourne Parkway, Suite 115  
Louisville, KY 40222  
Tel: (502) 423-2000  
steve.miller@steptoe-johnson.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Indiana Utility Group*

F. William Brownell  
Eric J. Murdock  
HUNTON & WILLIAMS LLP  
2200 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20037  
Tel: (202) 955-1500  
bbrownell@hunton.com  
emurdock@hunton.com

Nash E. Long III  
HUNTON & WILLIAMS LLP  
Bank of America Plaza, Suite 3500  
101 South Tryon Street  
Charlotte, NC 28280  
Tel: (704) 378-4700  
nlong@hunton.com

*Counsel for Petitioner LG&E and KU Energy  
LLC*

P. Stephen Gidiere III  
Thomas L. Casey III  
Julia B. Barber  
BALCH & BINGHAM LLP  
1901 6th Ave. N., Suite 1500  
Birmingham, AL 35203  
Tel: (205) 251-8100  
sgidiere@balch.com

Stephanie Z. Moore  
Vice President and General Counsel  
Luminant Generation Company LLC  
1601 Bryan Street, 22nd Floor  
Dallas, TX 75201

Daniel J. Kelly  
Vice President and Associate General  
Counsel  
Energy Future Holdings Corp.  
1601 Bryan Street, 43rd Floor  
Dallas, TX 75201

*Counsel for Petitioners Luminant Generation  
Company LLC; Oak Grove Management  
Company LLC; Big Brown Power Company  
LLC; Sandow Power Company LLC; Big  
Brown Lignite Company LLC; Luminant  
Mining Company LLC; and Luminant Big  
Brown Mining Company LLC*

Ronald J. Tenpas  
MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS LLP  
1111 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004  
Tel: (202) 739-3000  
rtenpas@morganlewis.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Minnesota Power (an  
operating division of ALLETE, Inc.)*

Allison D. Wood  
Tauna M. Szymanski  
Andrew D. Knudsen  
HUNTON & WILLIAMS LLP  
2200 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20037  
Tel: (202) 955-1500  
awood@hunton.com  
tszymanski@hunton.com  
aknudsen@hunton.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Montana-Dakota Utilities  
Co., a Division of MDU Resources Group, Inc.*

Eric L. Hiser  
JORDEN BISCHOFF & HISER, PLC  
7272 E. Indian School Road, Suite 360  
Scottsdale, AZ 85251  
Tel: (480) 505-3927  
ehiser@jordenbischoff.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Arizona Electric Power  
Cooperative, Inc.*

Joshua R. More  
Jane E. Montgomery  
Amy Antonioli  
SCHIFF HARDIN LLP  
233 South Wacker Drive  
Suite 6600  
Chicago, IL 60606  
Tel: (312) 258-5500  
jmore@schiffhardin.com  
jmontgomery@schiffhardin.com  
aantonioli@schiffhardin.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Prairie State Generating  
Company, LLC*

Brian A. Prestwood  
Senior Corporate and Compliance  
Counsel  
ASSOCIATED ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE,  
INC.  
2814 S. Golden, P.O. Box 754  
Springfield, MO 65801  
Tel: (417) 885-9273  
bprestwood@aeci.org

*Counsel for Petitioner Associated Electric  
Cooperative, Inc.*



Christopher L. Bell  
GREENBERG TRAURIG LLP  
1000 Louisiana Street, Suite 1700  
Houston, TX 77002  
Tel: (713) 374-3556  
bellc@gtlaw.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Golden Spread Electrical  
Cooperative, Inc.*

John M. Holloway III  
SUTHERLAND ASBILL & BRENNAN LLP  
700 Sixth Street, N.W., Suite 700  
Washington, D.C. 20001  
Tel: (202) 383-0100  
Fax: (202) 383-3593  
jay.holloway@sutherland.com

*Counsel for Petitioners East Kentucky Power  
Cooperative, Inc.; Hoosier Energy Rural Electric  
Cooperative, Inc.; Minnkota Power Cooperative,  
Inc.; and South Mississippi Electric Power  
Association*

Mark Walters  
Michael J. Nasi  
JACKSON WALKER L.L.P.  
100 Congress Avenue, Suite 1100  
Austin, TX 78701  
Tel: (512) 236-2000  
Fax: (512) 236-2002  
mwalters@jw.com  
mnasi@jw.com

*Counsel for Petitioners San Miguel Electric  
Cooperative, Inc. and South Texas Electric  
Cooperative, Inc.*

David Crabtree  
Vice President, General Counsel  
DESERET GENERATION & TRANSMISSION  
CO-OPERATIVE  
10714 South Jordan Gateway  
South Jordan, UT 84095  
Tel: (801) 619-9500  
Crabtree@deseretpower.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Deseret Generation &  
Transmission Co-operative*

Patrick Burchette  
HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP  
800 17<sup>th</sup> Street, N.W., Suite 1100  
Washington, D.C. 20006  
Tel: (202) 469-5102  
Patrick.Burchette@hklaw.com

*Counsel for Petitioners East Texas Electric  
Cooperative, Inc.; Northeast Texas Electric  
Cooperative, Inc.; Sam Rayburn G&T Electric  
Cooperative, Inc.; and Tex-La Electric  
Cooperative of Texas, Inc.*

Randolph G. Holt  
Jeremy L. Fetty  
PARR RICHEY OBREMSKEY FRANSEN &  
PATTERSON LLP  
Wabash Valley Power Association, Inc.  
722 N. High School Road  
P.O. Box 24700  
Indianapolis, IN 46224  
Tel: (317) 481-2815  
R\_holt@wvpa.com  
jfetty@parrlaw.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Wabash Valley Power  
Association, Inc.*

Megan H. Berge  
BAKER BOTTS L.L.P.  
1299 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004  
Tel: (202) 639-7700  
megan.berge@bakerbotts.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Western Farmers Electric  
Cooperative*

William M. Bumpers  
Megan H. Berge  
BAKER BOTTS L.L.P.  
1299 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004  
Tel: (202) 639-7700  
william.bumpers@bakerbotts.com  
megan.berge@bakerbotts.com

*Counsel for Petitioner NorthWestern  
Corporation d/b/a NorthWestern Energy*

William M. Bumpers  
Megan H. Berge  
BAKER BOTTS L.L.P.  
1299 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004  
Tel: (202) 639-7700  
william.bumpers@bakerbotts.com  
megan.berge@bakerbotts.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Westar Energy, Inc.*

Steven C. Kohl  
Gaetan Gerville-Reache  
WARNER NORCROSS & JUDD LLP  
2000 Town Center, Suite 2700  
Southfield, MI 48075-1318  
Tel: (248) 784-5000  
skohl@wnj.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Wolverine Power Supply  
Cooperative, Inc.*

Allison D. Wood  
Tauna M. Szymanski  
Andrew D. Knudsen  
HUNTON & WILLIAMS LLP  
2200 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20037  
Tel: (202) 955-1500  
awood@hunton.com  
tszymanski@hunton.com  
aknudsen@hunton.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Tri-State Generation and  
Transmission Association, Inc.*

Jeffrey R. Holmstead  
Sandra Y. Snyder  
BRACEWELL LLP  
2001 M Street, N.W., Suite 900  
Washington, D.C. 20036  
Tel: (202) 828-5852  
Fax: (202) 857-4812  
jeff.holmstead@bracewelllaw.com

*Counsel for Petitioner American Coalition for  
Clean Coal Electricity*

Andrew C. Emrich  
HOLLAND & HART LLP  
6380 South Fiddlers Green Circle  
Suite 500  
Greenwood Village, CO 80111  
Tel: (303) 290-1621  
Fax: (866) 711-8046  
acemrich@hollandhart.com

Emily C. Schilling  
HOLLAND & HART LLP  
222 South Main Street, Suite 2200  
Salt Lake City, UT 84101  
Tel: (801) 799-5753  
Fax: (202) 747-6574  
ecschilling@hollandhart.com

*Counsel for Petitioners Newmont Nevada  
Energy Investment, LLC and Newmont USA  
Limited*

Geoffrey K. Barnes  
J. Van Carson  
Wendlene M. Lavey  
John D. Lazzaretti  
Robert D. Cheren  
SQUIRE PATTON BOGGS (US) LLP  
4900 Key Tower  
127 Public Square  
Cleveland, OH 44114  
Tel: (216) 479-8646  
geoffrey.barnes@squirepb.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Murray Energy  
Corporation*

Charles T. Wehland  
*Counsel of Record*  
Brian J. Murray  
JONES DAY  
77 West Wacker Drive, Suite 3500  
Chicago, IL 60601-1692  
Tel: (312) 782-3939  
Fax: (312) 782-8585  
ctwehland@jonesday.com  
bjmurray@jonesday.com

*Counsel for Petitioners The North American  
Coal Corporation; The Coteau Properties  
Company; Coyote Creek Mining Company,  
LLC; The Falkirk Mining Company;  
Mississippi Lignite Mining Company; North  
American Coal Royalty Company; NODAK  
Energy Services, LLC; Otter Creek Mining  
Company, LLC; and The Sabine Mining  
Company*

Robert G. McLusky  
JACKSON KELLY, PLLC  
1600 Laidley Tower  
P.O. Box 553  
Charleston, WV 25322  
Tel: (304) 340-1000  
rmclusky@jacksonkelly.com

*Counsel for Petitioner West Virginia Coal  
Association*

Eugene M. Trisko  
LAW OFFICES OF EUGENE M. TRISKO  
P.O. Box 596  
Berkeley Springs, WV 25411  
Tel: (304) 258-1977  
Tel: (301) 639-5238 (cell)  
emtrisko7@gmail.com

*Counsel for Petitioner International Brotherhood  
of Electrical Workers, AFL-CIO*

Eugene M. Trisko  
LAW OFFICES OF EUGENE M. TRISKO  
P.O. Box 596  
Berkeley Springs, WV 25411  
Tel: (304) 258-1977  
Tel: (301) 639-5238 (cell)  
emtrisko7@gmail.com

*Counsel for Petitioner International Brotherhood  
of Boilermakers, Iron Ship Builders,  
Blacksmiths, Forgers & Helpers*

Grant F. Crandall  
General Counsel  
UNITED MINE WORKERS OF AMERICA  
18354 Quantico Gateway Drive  
Triangle, VA 22172  
Tel: (703) 291-2429  
gcrandall@umwa.org

Arthur Traynor, III  
Staff Counsel  
UNITED MINE WORKERS OF AMERICA  
18354 Quantico Gateway Drive  
Triangle, VA 22172  
Tel: (703) 291-2457  
atraynor@umwa.org

Eugene M. Trisko  
LAW OFFICES OF EUGENE M. TRISKO  
P.O. Box 596  
Berkeley Springs, WV 25411  
Tel: (304) 258-1977  
emtrisko7@gmail.com

*Counsel for Petitioner United Mine Workers of  
America*

Megan H. Berge  
William M. Bumpers  
BAKER BOTTS L.L.P.  
1299 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004  
Tel: (202) 639-7700  
megan.berge@bakerbotts.com  
william.bumpers@bakerbotts.com

*Counsel for Petitioner National Association of  
Home Builders*

Kathryn D. Kirmayer  
General Counsel  
Evelyn R. Nackman  
Associate General Counsel  
ASSOCIATION OF AMERICAN RAILROADS  
425 3rd Street, S.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20024  
Tel: (202) 639-2100  
kkirmayer@aar.org

*Counsel for Petitioner Association of American  
Railroads*

Scott M. DuBoff  
Matthew R. Schneider  
GARVEY SCHUBERT BARER  
1000 Potomac Street, N.W., Suite 200  
Washington, D.C. 20007  
Tel: (202) 965-7880  
sduboff@gsblaw.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Local Government  
Coalition for Renewable Energy*

Catherine E. Stetson  
Eugene A. Sokoloff  
HOGAN LOVELLS US LLP  
555 Thirteenth Street, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004-1109  
Tel: (202) 637-5600  
Fax: (202) 637-5910  
cate.stetson@hoganlovells.com  
eugene.sokoloff@hoganlovells.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Denbury Onshore, LLC*

C. Boyden Gray  
Adam R.F. Gustafson  
*Counsel of Record*  
Derek S. Lyons  
James R. Conde  
BOYDEN GRAY & ASSOCIATES, PLLC  
1627 I Street, N.W., #950  
Washington, D.C. 20006  
Tel: (202) 955-0620  
gustafson@boydengrayassociates.com

Sam Kazman  
Hans Bader  
COMPETITIVE ENTERPRISE INSTITUTE  
1899 L Street, N.W., 12th Floor  
Washington, D.C. 20036  
Tel: (202) 331-1010

*Counsel for Petitioners Competitive Enterprise  
Institute; Buckeye Institute for Public Policy  
Solutions; Independence Institute; Rio Grande  
Foundation; Sutherland Institute; Klaus J.  
Christoph; Samuel R. Damewood; Catherine C.  
Dellin; Joseph W. Luquire; Lisa R. Markham;  
Patrick T. Peterson; and Kristi Rosenquist*

Robert Alt  
BUCKEYE INSTITUTE FOR PUBLIC POLICY  
SOLUTIONS  
88 E. Broad Street, Suite 1120  
Columbus, OH 43215  
Tel: (614) 224-4422  
robert@buckeyeinstitute.org

*Counsel for Petitioner Buckeye Institute for  
Public Policy Solutions*

Steven P. Lehotsky  
Sheldon B. Gilbert  
U.S. CHAMBER LITIGATION CENTER, INC.  
1615 H Street, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20062  
Tel: (202) 463-5337  
slehotsky@uschamber.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Chamber of Commerce of  
the United States of America*

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

|  |                |
|--|----------------|
| Table of Authorities .....   | iii            |
| Glossary of Terms .....  | viii           |
| Introduction and Summary of Argument.....  | 1              |
| Argument.....  | 2              |
| I. EPA Unlawfully Promulgated a Rule It Never Proposed. ....   | 2 <sup>1</sup> |
| II. EPA Has Not Shown Its BSER is Adequately Demonstrated or<br>Its Emission Guidelines Are Achievable. .... | 7              |
| A. EPA Ignores Its Burden.....   | 9              |
| B. EPA’s Fleet-Wide Assessment Is Inadequate To Show<br>State-by-State Achievability Of the Rates.....       | 11             |
| C. EPA Has Not Shown Its Building Blocks Are Adequately<br>Demonstrated or Achievable. ....                  | 13             |
| 1. Building Block 1 is neither adequately demonstrated<br>nor achievable.....                                | 14             |
| 2. Building Block 2 is neither adequately demonstrated<br>nor achievable.....                                | 15             |
| 3. Building Block 3 is neither adequately demonstrated<br>nor achievable.....                                | 18             |
| 4. EPA’s modeling cannot support the achievability of<br>Building Blocks 2 and 3.....                        | 20             |
| D. EPA Failed To Meaningfully Assess Infrastructure and<br>Reliability Concerns.....                         | 21             |
| 1. The record does not support EPA’s findings on lack<br>of infrastructure needs. ....                       | 21             |
| 2. EPA has not shown its Rule will preserve grid<br>reliability. ....  | 23             |

---

<sup>1</sup> The Chamber of Commerce of the United States of America joins this brief with respect to Arguments I and II only.

III. EPA Failed To Consider Important Aspects of Its Rulemaking.....27

    A. EPA Penalizes Many Low-Emission Generation Resources..... 27<sup>2</sup>

    B. The Rule Unlawfully Prohibits the Use Of Affected Units’  
Carbon Dioxide in Enhanced Oil Recovery. ....29

    C. EPA Failed to Establish Necessary Subcategories.....29

    D. EPA’s Cost Consideration Is Fundamentally Flawed.....31

IV. EPA Cannot Explain Its Failure To Address Individual State  
Circumstances.....33

Conclusion.....36

Certificate of Compliance.....61

Attachment (Redline of Regulatory Language)

Statutory and Regulatory Addendum

---

<sup>2</sup> The Local Government Coalition for Renewable Energy joins this brief with respect to Argument III.A only.



**TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

|  | <b>Page(s)</b> |
|--|----------------|
| <b>Cases</b>   |                |
| <i>Appalachian Power Co. v. EPA</i> ,<br>249 F.3d 1032 (D.C. Cir. 2001).....   | 21             |
| <i>Consumer Fed'n of Am. v. HHS</i> ,<br>83 F.3d 1497 (D.C. Cir. 1996).....  | 30             |
| <i>Ctr. For Biological Diversity v. Dep't of the Interior</i> ,<br>563 F.3d 466 (D.C. Cir. 2009).....                      | 35, 36         |
| <i>Del. Dep't of Nat. Res. &amp; Env'tl. Control v. EPA</i> ,<br>785 F.3d 1 (D.C. Cir. 2015).....                          | 8              |
| <i>Energy Future Coal. v. EPA</i> ,<br>793 F.3d 141 (D.C. Cir. 2015).....  | 35             |
| <i>Int'l Union, United Mine Workers of Am. v. Mine Safety &amp; Health Admin.</i> ,<br>407 F.3d 1250 (D.C. Cir. 2005)..... | 5              |
| <i>Kennecott Corp. v. EPA</i> ,<br>684 F.2d 1007 (D.C. Cir. 1982).....   | 7              |
| <i>*Mexichem Specialty Resins, Inc. v. EPA</i> ,<br>787 F.3d 544 (D.C. Cir. 2015).....                                     | 6              |
| <i>*Michigan v. EPA</i> ,<br>135 S. Ct. 2699 (2015).....   | 31, 32         |
| <i>Miss. Comm'n on Env'tl. Quality v. EPA</i> ,<br>790 F.3d 138 (D.C. Cir. 2015).....                                      | 8              |
| <i>*Nat'l Ass'n of Home Builders v. EPA</i> ,<br>682 F.3d 1032 (D.C. Cir. 2012).....                                       | 31             |
| <i>*Nat'l Lime Ass'n v. EPA</i> ,<br>627 F.2d 416 (D.C. Cir. 1980).....  | 11, 12         |
| <i>Nat. Res. Def. Council v. EPA</i> ,<br>755 F.3d 1010 (D.C. Cir. 2014).....  | 17             |

|  |       |
|--|-------|
| <i>Portland Cement Ass'n v. EPA</i> ,<br>665 F.3d 177 (D.C. Cir. 2011).....                        | 5     |
| <i>Portland Cement Ass'n v. Train</i> ,<br>513 F.2d 506 (D.C. Cir. 1975).....                      | 31    |
| * <i>Randolph-Sheppard Vendors of America v. Weinberger</i> ,<br>795 F.2d 90 (D.C. Cir. 1986)..... | 6, 7  |
| * <i>Small Refiner Lead Phase-Down Task Force v. EPA</i> ,<br>705 F.2d 506 (D.C. Cir. 1983).....   | 6, 13 |
| <i>West Virginia v. EPA</i> ,<br>362 F.3d 861 (D.C. Cir. 2004).....                                | 14    |
| <i>White Stallion Energy Ctr., LLC v. EPA</i> ,<br>748 F.3d 1222 (D.C. Cir. 2014).....             | 30    |

## Federal Statutes

Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7401, *et seq.*

|  |            |
|--|------------|
| CAA § 101(b), 42 U.S.C. § 7401(b) .....                  | 32         |
| CAA § 111(d), 42 U.S.C. 7411(d) .....                    | 11, 12, 26 |
| CAA § 112(d)(1), 42 U.S.C. § 7412(d)(1) .....            | 30         |
| CAA § 307(d), 42 U.S.C. § 7407(d) .....                  | 4          |
| CAA § 307(d)(7)(B), 42 U.S.C. § 7607(d)(7)(B) .....      | 1, 6, 7    |
| CAA § 307(d)(8), 42 U.S.C. § 7407(d)(8) .....            | 5          |
| CAA § 307(d)(9)(D)(i), 42 U.S.C. § 7607(d)(9)(D)(i)..... | 6          |

## Federal Regulations

|                                 |        |
|---------------------------------|--------|
| 40 C.F.R. § 60.22(b)(5).....    | 29, 30 |
| 40 C.F.R. § 60.5790(c)(1) ..... | 9, 10  |
| 40 C.F.R. § 60.5790(c)(2) ..... | 9      |
| 40 C.F.R. § 60.5880 .....       | 9      |

**Federal Register**

|   |                                     |
|---|-------------------------------------|
| 79 Fed. Reg. 1,352 (Jan. 8, 2014) .....   | 5                                   |
| *79 Fed. Reg. 34,830 (June 18, 2014)..... | 3, 4, 5, 12                         |
| *79 Fed. Reg. 64,543 (Oct. 30, 2014)..... | 1, 3, 4                             |
| 80 Fed. Reg. 52,100 (Aug. 27, 2015) ..... | 28                                  |
| *80 Fed. Reg. 64,662 (Oct. 23, 2015)..... | 2, 3, 8, 14, 24, 28, 30, 32, 33, 36 |

**State Statutes**

|                                     |       |
|-------------------------------------|-------|
| Tex. Util. Code Ann. § 39.001 ..... | 24-25 |
|-------------------------------------|-------|

**Other Authorities**

|  |                |
|--|----------------|
| Basin Electric Power Cooperative Comments, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-23574 .....  | 12, 16, 17, 23 |
| Clean Air Task Force Comments, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-22612.....   | 16             |
| EPA, Analysis of the Clean Power Plan, BB3-Cost-Effectiveness SSR at Summary Tab ( <i>available at</i> <a href="http://www.epa.gov/airmarkets/ipm-run-files-supporting-scenarios">www.epa.gov/airmarkets/ipm-run-files-supporting-scenarios</a> ) .....  | 21, 22         |
| EPA, Analysis of the Clean Power Plan, Mass-Based SSR at Summary Tab ( <i>available at</i> <a href="http://www.epa.gov/airmarkets/analysis-clean-power-plan">www.epa.gov/airmarkets/analysis-clean-power-plan</a> ) .....  | 21             |
| EPA, Analysis of the Clean Power Plan, Rate-Based SSR ( <i>available at</i> <a href="http://www.epa.gov/airmarkets/analysis-clean-power-plan">www.epa.gov/airmarkets/analysis-clean-power-plan</a> ) .....   | 21             |
| EPA CO <sub>2</sub> Emission Performance Rate and Goal Computation TSD, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-36850.....  | 20             |
| EPA Documentation for EPA Base Case v.5.13, Using the Integrated Planning Model, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-0212.....  | 26             |
| EPA, Draft Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks (Feb. 22, 2016), <a href="https://www3.epa.gov/climatechange/Downloads/ghgemissions/US-GHG-Inventory-2016-Main-Text.pdf">https://www3.epa.gov/climatechange/Downloads/ghgemissions/US-GHG-Inventory-2016-Main-Text.pdf</a> ..... | 28-29          |
| EPA, GHG Abatement Measures Technical Support Document, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-0437.....   | 11-12, 13      |

|  |                |
|--|----------------|
| EPA, Greenhouse Gas Mitigation Measures Technical Support Document, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-36859.....  | 15, 18, 19, 20 |
| EPA, Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2013, 2-21, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-36479 .....   | 29             |
| EPA, IPM Run Files for Supporting Scenarios for GHG Mitigation Measures TSD, <a href="https://www.epa.gov/airmarkets/ipm-run-files-supporting-scenario">https://www.epa.gov/airmarkets/ipm-run-files-supporting-scenario</a> ..... | 20             |
| EPA, Proposed Goal Computation TSD, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-0460 .....  | 17             |
| EPA, Resource Adequacy and Reliability Analysis TSD, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-36847.....   | 24             |
| EPA Response to Comments Ch. 2 § 2.6, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-36876 .....   | 30             |
| EPA Response to Comments Ch. 3 § 3.2, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-36876 .....   | 12             |
| Generation & Transmission Cooperative Fossil Group Comments, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-23164.....   | 26             |
| Kansas Corp. Comm'n Comments, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602.....  | 26, 27         |
| LG&E and KU Energy LLC Comments, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-31932 .....  | 13             |
| Luminant Generation Company Comments, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-33559 .....   | 29, 30         |
| National Renewable Energy Laboratories, Eastern Wind Integration and Transmission Study at 28, <i>available at</i> <a href="http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy11osti/47078.pdf">www.nrel.gov/docs/fy11osti/47078.pdf</a> .....            | 20             |
| National Rural Electric Cooperative Association Comments, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-33118.....  | 16, 23, 25, 26 |
| NERC, Potential Reliability Impacts of EPA's Proposed Clean Power Plan, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-37007 .....   | 22-23          |

North American Coal Corp. Comments, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-22519 ..... 29, 30

Public Utility Commission of Texas Comments, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-23305 ..... 24, 25

Regulatory Impact Analysis, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-37105..... 21, 32

U.S. Energy Information Administration Annual Energy Outlook 2015, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-36563..... 18

Utility Air Resources Group , EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-22768 ..... 16, 17, 23

Western Farmers Comments 14, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-23644..... 26

Wisconsin Dep't of Natural Resources Comments, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-23541..... 33

**GLOSSARY OF TERMS**

|                          |  |
|--------------------------|--|
| Act (or CAA)             | Clean Air Act  |
| APA                      | Administrative Procedure Act   |
| BSER                     | Best System of Emission Reduction  |
| CO <sub>2</sub>          | Carbon dioxide   |
| Core Br.                 | Opening Brief of Petitioners on Core Legal Issues, <i>West Virginia v. EPA</i> , No. 15-1363 (and consolidated cases) (D.C. Cir. filed Feb. 19, 2016), ECF 1599889 |
| Core Reply               | Reply Brief of Petitioners on Core Legal Issues, <i>West Virginia v. EPA</i> , No. 15-1363 (and consolidated cases) (D.C. Cir. filed Apr. 15, 2016), ECF __        |
| EPA                      | United States Environmental Protection Agency  |
| EPA Br.                  | Respondent EPA's Initial Brief, <i>West Virginia v. EPA</i> , No. 15-1363 (and consolidated cases) (D.C. Cir. filed Mar. 28, 2016), ECF 1605911                    |
| ERCOT                    | Electric Reliability Council of Texas  |
| ESA                      | Endangered Species Act   |
| GWh                      | Gigawatt hour  |
| JA                       | Joint Appendix   |
| lbs CO <sub>2</sub> /MWh | Pounds of carbon dioxide per megawatt hour   |
| MWh                      | Megawatt hour  |
| NACoal                   | North American Coal  |
| NERC                     | North American Electric Reliability Corporation  |
| NRECA                    | National Rural Electric Cooperative Association  |

|                     |  |
|---------------------|--|
| Proposal            | Proposed Rule, Carbon Pollution Emission Guidelines for Existing Stationary Sources: Electric Utility Generating Units, 79 Fed. Reg. 34,830 (June 18, 2014)                                    |
| PUCT                | Public Utility Commission of Texas   |
| Record Br.          | Opening Brief of Petitioners on Procedural and Record-Based Issues, <i>West Virginia v. EPA</i> , No. 15-1363 (and consolidated cases) (D.C. Cir. filed Mar. 28, 2016), ECF 1599898            |
| RIA                 | Regulatory Impact Analysis   |
| Rule                | U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Carbon Pollution Emission Guidelines for Existing Stationary Sources: Electric Utility Generating Units, Final Rule, 80 Fed. Reg. 64,662 (Oct. 23, 2015) |
| Supplemental Notice | Notice of Data Availability, 79 Fed. Reg. 64,543 (Oct. 30, 2014)   |
| TSD                 | Technical Support Document   |
| UARG                | Utility Air Resource Group   |

## INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Rule is replete with fatal procedural and record-based flaws that EPA's brief drives home.

*First*, EPA proposed nothing even vaguely resembling the program in the Rule. EPA contends Petitioners should have divined from a Supplemental Notice of Data Availability ("Supplemental Notice"), 79 Fed. Reg. 64,543 (Oct. 30, 2014), JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_, that EPA was contemplating nationwide, uniform rates for coal- and natural gas-fired units (though EPA never mentioned them). It argues Petitioners should have foreseen EPA would abandon its novel proposal. But EPA cannot explain how Petitioners could meaningfully comment on uniform rates when EPA not only never proposed any, but specifically disavowed them in its proposal.

EPA also argues Petitioners' sole recourse is a petition for administrative reconsideration under CAA section 307(d)(7)(B). But that section cannot apply where there has been a wholesale failure of notice. Holding otherwise invites evasion of the rulemaking process.

*Second*, EPA's conclusions that its best system of emission reduction ("BSER") is "adequately demonstrated" and its national performance rates are "achievable" by every regulated unit remain unsupported. EPA's BSER is not based on a technology demonstrated at any regulated unit anywhere or on operational changes any regulated unit can make to improve its emissions performance. Instead, it rests on speculation about future growth of renewable sources. EPA's BSER (and its presumptions about



grid reliability and supporting infrastructure development) assumes the availability of these alternative sources will always increase at their maximum historical rate in each regulated State. EPA's BSER is guesswork, nothing more.

EPA avers that the Rule's "flexibility" allows every source to comply. But no individual regulated source, on its own, can meet the uniform national standards with any demonstrated control technology. *Not one.* There are only two ways an affected unit can meet the national standards: shutter entirely, or (notwithstanding EPA's claim that trading is not part of BSER) obtain tradable emission rate credits produced by EPA-favored sources.

*Finally*, EPA has no answers to the Rule's many other record flaws. The Rule discriminates against many existing low- or zero-emission generating units, jeopardizes reliability, rests on a deeply-flawed cost analysis, and fails to address State-specific factors making compliance in many States impossible.

These procedural and record deficiencies require vacatur.

## ARGUMENT

### I. EPA Unlawfully Promulgated a Rule It Never Proposed.

The Rule's "chief regulatory requirement" comprises two uniform, nationally-applicable performance rates: 1,305 and 771 pounds of carbon dioxide per megawatt-hour ("lbs CO<sub>2</sub>/MWh") for coal- and gas-fired units, respectively. Final Rule, Carbon Pollution Emission Guidelines for Existing Stationary Sources: Electric Utility Generating Units, 80 Fed. Reg. 64,662, 64,820, 64,823 (Oct. 23, 2015) ("Rule"),

JA\_\_\_, \_\_\_, \_\_\_. Every element of the Rule, including each State’s goal, derives from these. *See id.* at 64,820, JA\_\_\_. But this national performance-rate-driven program was never proposed.

EPA proposed an entirely different regulation, driven by State-specific, blended emission rate goals that applied to States rather than individual units.<sup>3</sup> In fact, EPA explicitly rejected any regulation based on uniform, national rates for coal and gas. Proposed Rule, Carbon Pollution Emission Guidelines for Existing Stationary Sources: Electric Utility Generating Units, 79 Fed. Reg. 34,830, 34,894 (June 18, 2014) (“proposal”), JA\_\_\_. Under the proposal, States were to adopt plans to achieve those State-specific goals by regulating “affected entities” through measures comprising four Building Blocks: affected units (Building Blocks 1 and 2), renewable generation (Building Block 3), and energy consumers (Building Block 4). *Id.* at 34,851. All affected entities would have been collectively responsible for the emission reductions needed to meet the State’s goals. *Id.* at 34,853.

Subsequently, EPA issued a Supplemental Notice, soliciting comment on calculating the proposal’s State-specific goals using *regional* Building Block 2 and 3 targets. *See* Supplemental Notice, 79 Fed. Reg. at 64,543-53, JA\_\_\_-\_\_\_. Nothing in it suggested EPA was reconsidering its rejection of uniform national rates or

---

<sup>3</sup> A comparison between the proposal and final Rule demonstrates EPA’s near-complete rewrite. *See* Attachment.

contemplating a regulation imposing compliance obligations solely on individual affected units rather than on a broad range of “affected entities.” The uniform national rate-based program first appeared, unheralded, in the final Rule.

In promulgating a Rule it never proposed, EPA evaded its most fundamental obligation under CAA section 307(d)—to propose its Rule before finalizing it. EPA argues the final Rule’s “uniform national rate was simply a more lenient application of the regional approach” because the Rule gives “all states and sources ... the benefit of the least-stringent rates calculated in any region,” and therefore its “uniform national rate was simply a more lenient application of the regional approach.” EPA Br. 110 (emphases omitted). This is a non sequitur: there is no mention of uniform national rates—or even regional rates—in either the original proposal or Supplemental Notice. Instead, the Supplemental Notice explicitly contemplated and reaffirmed EPA’s continued use of State-specific goals. EPA solicited comment only on the “appropriate manner in which [Building Block 2] goals could be derived *and allocated among states*” and on appropriate Building Block 3 “*reallocation* criterion.” 79 Fed. Reg. at 65,551, JA\_\_\_ (emphasis added).

EPA next implausibly argues its proposal to set “State-specific goals based on a single, blended rate for both coal- and gas-fired units” was such a “departure” from its own “longstanding practice” in section 111 rulemakings that it was “foreseeable” EPA might “revert to more traditional” uniform rates. EPA Br. 111. Despite expressly *disavowing* such an approach in its proposal, 79 Fed. Reg. at 34,894, JA\_\_\_,

EPA argues Petitioners should have “foreseen” this and commented on rates that were never proposed. EPA cannot establish a regulatory program it never proposed, never noticed for comment, and never described in the barest of terms until the final Rule. *See Int’l Union, United Mine Workers of Am. v. Mine Safety & Health Admin.*, 407 F.3d 1250, 1261 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (vacating rule because agency “did not afford ... public notice of its intent to adopt, much less an opportunity to comment on” final approach). Once EPA decided to abandon its proposed approach and establish two nationally-uniform rates that applied only to individual sources rather than state-wide goals that applied to a range of “affected entities,” it was required to provide notice and an opportunity to comment, just as it did when it changed direction on its related new source performance standards. *See* 79 Fed. Reg. 1,352 (Jan. 8, 2014).<sup>4</sup>

The CAA’s procedural-error test does not excuse EPA’s complete failure to undertake a statutorily-required proceeding. “[W]here the procedural error would have been reversible error under the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), § 307(d)(8)

---

<sup>4</sup> EPA’s attempt to justify the sufficiency of its notice regarding the Rule’s applicability language also misses the mark. EPA Br. 113-14. While EPA may have proposed language in the new source rule dropping the phrase “constructed for the purpose of” from the applicability language, EPA never proposed abandoning the “sales criterion” requirement that a regulated facility supply a minimum amount of electricity to the grid. 79 Fed. Reg. at 1,459-61, JA\_\_\_-\_\_\_. Rather, EPA consistently *included* the sales criterion in applicability discussions. *See id.*; 79 Fed. Reg. at 34,854, JA\_\_\_. *Portland Cement Ass’n v. EPA*, 665 F.3d 177 (D.C. Cir. 2011), is inapposite. There, unlike here, the associated rulemaking “expressly invited comment” on the topic at issue, and petitioners commented. *Id.* at 192.

does not restrict [the Court's] power, indeed [its] duty, to reverse EPA's action on procedural grounds. Under that test, EPA's failure to give notice on a major portion of a rule is reversible error." *Small Refiner Lead Phase-Down Task Force v. EPA*, 705 F.2d 506, 543-44 (D.C. Cir. 1983). The CAA's "additional requirement in § 307(d)(9)(D)(i) ... that the procedural error is grounds for reversal only if 'arbitrary or capricious' ... cannot excuse failure to give adequate notice of a final rule." *Id.* at 544 n.102. EPA's action requires vacatur under traditional APA analysis *and* the CAA.

EPA's reliance on the exhaustion requirements of section 307(d)(7)(B) to bar judicial review is similarly misplaced. In *Mexichem Specialty Resins, Inc. v. EPA*, this Court expressly recognized certain well-established exceptions to those requirements. 787 F.3d 544, 553 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (citing *Randolph-Sheppard Vendors of America v. Weinberger*, 795 F.2d 90, 104 (D.C. Cir. 1986)). Chief among them is that statutory exhaustion requirements do not bar judicial review where "the reasons supporting the [exhaustion] doctrine are found inapplicable." *Randolph-Sheppard*, 795 F.2d at 104-05 (internal quotation marks omitted). Whether EPA acted unlawfully in promulgating a rule that was never proposed is a legal question this Court can resolve without Agency explanation or record. There is nothing to exhaust.

Moreover, "[r]esort to the administrative process is futile if the agency will almost certainly deny any relief" due to its "preconceived position on ... the matter." *Id.* at 107 (emphases omitted). Here, any reconsideration proceeding addressing this

issue would be a wasteful charade. There is no reason to believe EPA would change its mind on procedural arguments it now so vigorously rejects.

Exhaustion is also excused where the statute's "administrative remedies are inadequate." *Id.* Notice and opportunity to comment have value only before a rule's promulgation. Thus, "petitions for reconsideration [are] not an adequate substitute for an opportunity for notice and comment prior to promulgation of a rule." *Kennecott Corp. v. EPA*, 684 F.2d 1007, 1019 (D.C. Cir. 1982).

Indeed, if section 307(d)(7)(B) barred litigating this procedural issue now, Petitioners would have to file reconsideration petitions objecting to a never-proposed Rule. They would then have to wait many months (or even years) for EPA to act on the petition and initiate the rulemaking EPA should have conducted in the first place. Throughout this ordeal, the regulated parties would be required to comply with an unlawfully promulgated Rule, potentially for many years. The unfairness and absurdity of this underscore that section 307(d)(7)(B) should not be interpreted to bar prompt judicial review of such extreme circumventions of the rulemaking process.

## **II. EPA Has Not Shown Its BSER is Adequately Demonstrated or Its Emission Guidelines Are Achievable.**

Even assuming EPA had legal authority to issue a rule of this type, *see generally* Core Brief and Core Reply, EPA departs so far from the statute and past practice in defining BSER that, in applying this Court's precedent governing whether EPA's "system" is "demonstrated" and its national performance rates are "achievable," EPA

focuses, not on application of emission control *to individual sources* as the statute commands, but on the ability of the electric grid to meet demand by shifting from fossil generation to alternative generation. Thus, even EPA recognizes that, to satisfy the statutory “demonstration” and “achievability” tests, EPA’s national performance rates must “achieve substantial CO<sub>2</sub> reductions *cost-effectively without adverse energy impacts*” in each State. EPA Br. 13; *see* Record Br. 19-21.

EPA fixates on a mantra—its Rule is “flexible.” By this, EPA means States may choose between plans implementing EPA’s national performance rates on a unit-by-unit basis, or plans implementing the Rule’s state-wide “rate-” or “mass-based” goals, which were calculated from the national performance rates. EPA Br. 15-18; *see also* 80 Fed. Reg. at 64,667, 64,887, JA\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_\_. Because the national rates are the “emission limitation” EPA deems “achievable” using its generation-shifting BSER, their validity will also determine the validity of the statewide goals derived from those rates. EPA’s task in promulgating this Rule was therefore to demonstrate the national performance rates are achievable in each regulated State, without impairing reliability. Because this showing is lacking, the Rule must be vacated.<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>5</sup> In reviewing EPA’s BSER, EPA is entitled to deference with respect to “scientific data within its technical expertise.” *Miss. Comm’n on Env’tl. Quality v. EPA*, 790 F.3d 138, 150 (D.C. Cir. 2015). Because EPA’s fleet-wide findings regarding “grid reliability” are not “a subject of the Clean Air Act and ... not the province of EPA,” *Del. Dep’t of Nat. Res. & Env’tl. Control v. EPA*, 785 F.3d 1, 18 (D.C. Cir. 2015), no deference is owed to EPA’s BSER findings.

**A. EPA Ignores Its Burden.**

EPA's generation-shifting BSER cannot be implemented except with tradable credits. *See* 40 C.F.R. § 60.5880 (defining credits as “tradable compliance instrument[s]”). EPA claims “trading” is not necessary to achieve the Rule's uniform national performance rates, EPA Br. 143, but the Rule belies that. Under 40 C.F.R. § 60.5790(c)(1), a source can achieve these rates only by “generation-shifting,” and compliance through generation-shifting can be established *only through* an equation that calculates a “theoretical emission rate” for megawatt-hours generated by an existing fossil unit, where credit is given to that unit for each megawatt-hour generated by another, EPA-preferred generator. *Id.* § 60.5790(c)(2). Consequently, any shortfall in credits in a State necessarily reduces the amount of fossil generation that can lawfully be produced there. Record Br. 9-11, 36. Without these credits, the fossil units must shut down, and shortfalls in electric supply are likely. *Id.* at 36.

To justify the national performance rates, EPA's fleet-wide demonstration projects unimpeded generation-shifting, *nationwide*. Generation-shifting on this scale cannot occur without a robust credit trading program in which all States participate. The Rule, however, does not establish any interstate trading program, much less a national one.



While voluntary participation in regional or national trading programs by a State is possible, it is an “option” that may not materialize.<sup>6</sup> As a result, EPA was required to show its national performance rates are achievable, and its BSER demonstrated, assuming only the credit transfer authority each State possesses: intrastate management authority over the credits that can be produced within that State.<sup>7</sup> Therefore, only a state-by-state evaluation could support the findings required to sustain the national rates.

As Petitioners have shown, Record Br. 53-55, EPA’s national fleet-wide assessment did not evaluate whether generation-shifting could ensure cost-effective

---

<sup>6</sup> It is also uncertain whether a sufficiently robust interstate trading program—a non-BSER measure EPA cannot rely upon to establish achievability—will emerge to enable source owners to achieve compliance. Record Br. 51-52. Experience with other trading markets developed under very different circumstances does not establish that adequate trading markets will develop here, particularly given the Rule’s affirmative restrictions inhibiting trading. *Id.* EPA’s arguments that Petitioners have not shown such restrictions will prevent the development of sufficiently robust trading markets, EPA Br. 146, misses the point. It is *EPA’s* statutory burden to show its Rule is feasible, not Petitioners’ burden to show otherwise.

<sup>7</sup> EPA claims a source owner may comply with the national performance rates through investments in increased generation from the owner’s existing gas or new renewable facilities, investments in new renewables, or agreements to purchase power from such facilities. EPA Br. 143. Not really. Those “investments” have to create credits that the “investor” can use to calculate compliance with the performance rates. 40 C.F.R. § 60.5790(c)(1). Because credits generated by facilities within a State are “instruments” issued by that State, under conditions which may be imposed by that State, the degree to which EPA’s “investment” option creates a flow of credits generated in one State that can be used in another is unknown, and has not been evaluated by EPA. At most, it would represent a very small fraction of the massive interstate trading market implicit in EPA’s fleet-wide assessment.

emission reduction and a reliable electricity supply in every State. EPA argues only that the nation's *fleet* as a whole can be rearranged—not that individual sources in that fleet can comply. *See* generally EPA Br. 117-42. In fact, EPA disclaims any obligation to demonstrate that “every individual source can comply with the uniform rates.” *Id.* at 141. Consequently, as discussed below, EPA's fleet-wide assessment cannot satisfy EPA's section 111(d) burden of showing its national performance rates are achievable through application of the BSER in each State. *See Nat'l Lime Ass'n v. EPA*, 627 F.2d 416, 431 n.46 (D.C. Cir. 1980).

**B. EPA's Fleet-Wide Assessment Is Inadequate To Show State-by-State Achievability Of the Rates.**

By offering only high-level descriptions of what the entire industry might accomplish on a regional or national basis, EPA has not shown *any* individual source can comply solely through application of BSER—much less that sources in different States nationwide, affected by different variables and adverse circumstances, can do so, as required by *National Lime*, *id.* at 431 n.46, 433. In fact, even if EPA had undertaken such an evaluation, it would not support EPA's conclusion that the performance rates are achievable through EPA's BSER. For instance, in States like Kentucky, Montana, North Dakota, Virginia and Wyoming, there is little or no existing natural gas generation to achieve Building Block 2. In others, including Kentucky, renewable energy potential is wholly inadequate to implement Building Block 3. *See EPA*, GHG Abatement Measures Technical Support Document (“TSD”)

at 4-40-4-41, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-0437 (“GHG Abatement TSD”), JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_; Basin Electric Power Cooperative (“Basin”) Comments 25-27, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-23574, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_.<sup>8</sup>

Moreover, commenters recounted many difficulties with EPA’s plan—highlighting unique generation and transmission constraints rendering compliance by various sources and States exceedingly difficult, extraordinarily expensive, or even impossible. *See generally* EPA Response to Comments Ch. 3 § 3.2 32-59, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-36876, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_. EPA never addresses how these problems can be solved; instead, it once again recites its “flexibility” mantra and passes the buck to the States: “We are providing states with substantial flexibility as to how they structure [their] plans to achieve the 111(d) requirements,” and “[t]he Building Blocks are not prescriptive, and states may consider local circumstances as they develop their plans, including system reliability, fuel diversity, other regulatory requirements, infrastructure, and the ‘useful life’ of generation assets.” *E.g., id.* at 34, 37, JA\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_.

Vague promises of “flexibility” do not show that these problems have even been evaluated by EPA, much less that they are surmountable. Rather, EPA must show sources can comply, using its BSER, across the wide range of situations sources may encounter in each State. *Nat’l Lime*, 627 F.2d at 431 n.46. EPA cannot do so.

---

<sup>8</sup> EPA *proposed* its now-abandoned 1,844 lbs/MWh emission goal for Kentucky coal-fired sources based on these limitations. 79 Fed. Reg. at 34,957, JA\_\_\_\_.

Kentucky's quandary again illustrates the chasm between EPA's modeled projections and on-the-ground-reality. Kentucky's generation fleet contains nearly all coal-fired units, plus a single gas unit. LG&E and KU Energy LLC Comments 4, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-31932, JA\_\_\_\_. Because the Rule already imputed an unachievably high capacity factor to the single gas unit, Building Block 2 is effectively unavailable in Kentucky. Kentucky's mere 4% in-state renewable energy potential also severely limits Building Block 3. *Id.*; GHG Abatement TSD at 4-40, JA\_\_\_\_. Yet EPA makes no showing that Kentucky sources can apply EPA's BSER to achieve the national performance rates, or that Kentucky can craft a workable state plan. All EPA says is that Kentucky has a lot of "flexibility." EPA cannot avoid its statutory burden by hiding behind such loose words.

**C. EPA Has Not Shown Its Building Blocks Are Adequately Demonstrated or Achievable.**

The building blocks that form the basis of EPA's fleet-wide assessment are themselves based on speculation and assumption. Rather than rubber-stamp these assertions with "extreme deference," this Court must give each a "hard look." *Small Refiner*, 705 F.2d at 520.

**1. Building Block 1 is neither adequately demonstrated nor achievable.**

EPA misconstrues Petitioners' argument as asserting that EPA "erred in making projections based on statistical modeling instead of the application of specific measures." EPA Br. 119. EPA's Building Block 1 methodology is *not* based on statistical modeling. EPA calculated the targets by simply adjusting historical heat rate data to conform to EPA's unfounded assumptions about future unit performance.

Even if EPA's assumptions constituted a "model," "model assumptions must have a rational relationship to the real world." *West Virginia v. EPA*, 362 F.3d 861, 866-67 (D.C. Cir. 2004). EPA admittedly did not base its targets on any specific measures available to units, EPA Br. 119-20, and thus did not articulate any "rational relationship" between its estimated improvements and actual measures it believes could achieve them. In particular, EPA did not assess what measures units are already implementing, notwithstanding that the "best operating practices" EPA identifies as capable of improving heat rates are already "standard operating procedure" in the industry and cannot support further improvements. 80 Fed. Reg. at 64,792, JA\_\_\_\_.<sup>9</sup>

EPA also failed to account for uncontrollable factors affecting units' heat rates, particularly changes in capacity factor and temperature. These are not simply variables

---

<sup>9</sup> EPA concedes benefits from these measures degrade over time. EPA Br. 121. EPA's response—that units must periodically remediate that degradation—means units must *overshoot* the target and undertake additional heat rate improvements when their performance approaches the target.

that “might conceivably have pulled the analysis’s sting.” EPA Br. 121. They are primary drivers of heat rate. EPA, Greenhouse Gas Mitigation Measures Technical Support Document at 3-5, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-36859 (“GHG Mitigation TSD”), JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_ (capacity factor accounts for up to 50% of variation). At most, EPA partially accounted for these factors’ effects on *past* heat rates. It did not control for the Rule’s forced *future* changes in capacity factor, which will skew units toward more inefficient operation. The Rule, by its own terms, will significantly affect important operating conditions that in turn affect units’ heat rates. Record Br. 24-25. EPA takes no account of this.

**2. Building Block 2 is neither adequately demonstrated nor achievable.**

Building Block 2 assumes the entire gas fleet can generate at a 75% capacity factor, representing a 66% increase in utilization over 2012 levels. Record Br. 27-28. EPA’s response, EPA Br. 123-29, ignores the most salient fact: the existing fleet has never come close to achieving a 75% capacity factor. *See* GHG Mitigation TSD at 3-5, JA\_\_\_\_ (historic annual capacity factors are 40-50%). Nor has EPA shown the entire fleet can achieve this utilization over a sustained period *while providing reliable generation*. EPA concedes projections about improved future performance require “substantial evidence that such improvements are feasible.” EPA Br. 124 (citations omitted). Supporting evidence is conspicuously lacking here.

EPA notes that 88% of gas units operated at the target level for at least *a single day* in 2012.<sup>10</sup> EPA Br. 125. But EPA provides no explanation for how one day of high utilization demonstrates the entire fleet can replicate that high target day-after-day, year-after-year, when many units are incapable of operating at significantly higher capacities on a long-term basis. *See, e.g.*, Basin Comments 49-51, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_; Utility Air Resources Group (“UARG”) Comments 230-31 & Att. C 19-23, 36, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-22768, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_; Record Br. 28.

EPA also dismisses Petitioners’ arguments that permit limits often constrain generation, claiming “the record shows very few air permits” with operational limits. EPA Br. 126. For this, EPA relies on *one* comment examining a narrow set of permits, ignoring numerous record examples of permits *with* operational limits. *Compare* Clean Air Task Force Comments 70-75, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-22612, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_ (reviewing permits in parts of six States), *with* UARG Comments 230 & Att.C 23-24, JA\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_ (citing specific permit constraints); National Rural Electric Cooperative Association (“NRECA”) Comments 92, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-33118, JA\_\_\_\_; Basin Comments 51, JA\_\_\_\_.

EPA similarly dismisses transmission constraints where existing gas units with excess capacity operate far from the demand. In claiming “the fundamental nature of

---

<sup>10</sup> Petitioners did not claim EPA should have disregarded 2012 data. EPA Br. 124. They merely noted that, even in a year with historically low gas prices, only 15% of the fleet reached EPA’s target utilization. Record Br. 28.

the interconnection” can resolve these concerns, EPA Br. 129, EPA reveals its ignorance. Generators face transmission constraints and other practical barriers that *prevent* generators in one area from meeting demand in another, even across the same interconnection. *See* UARG Comments 239-40, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_; Basin Comments 51-52, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_\_.

As to under-construction units, EPA cites no evidence that generation beyond the Lee Plant’s assumed capacity factor of 55% specifically, or any under-construction unit generally, replaced generation from “retired, higher-emitting coal units.” EPA Br. 131-32. The record *contradicts* EPA’s “replacement effect” argument: although EPA now claims the 55% capacity factor for under-construction sources was intended to capture only their incremental addition to total power generation, at proposal EPA plainly stated the 55% capacity factor was chosen because it “was the average capacity factor for these units,” *including* any hypothetical “replacement effect.” EPA, Proposed Goal Computation TSD at 12, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-0460, JA\_\_\_\_. EPA’s new argument is an impermissible post-hoc litigation position. *See Nat. Res. Def. Council v. EPA*, 755 F.3d 1010, 1020-21 (D.C. Cir. 2014).

EPA’s defense regarding its inclusion of duct burner capacity in Building Block 2 also lacks merit. Duct burner capacity boosts power output *temporarily* and cannot be used continually at most units without causing accelerated wear. Record Br. 32-33. EPA avers this is wrong because *some* of the units that operated at 75% capacity in 2012 have duct burners. EPA Br. 132. But these units may have used their duct



burners to gain premium energy prices during high demand periods, fully understanding the resulting accelerated equipment wear. EPA's "evidence" does not show what EPA purports—that it is economically feasible for all units to continually operate duct burners.

EPA also fails to account for the inevitable deterioration of existing units. Because Building Block 2 applies only to units existing in 2012, which will eventually deteriorate and retire, the pool of gas units available for generation-shifting will never replenish. Even if 80% of the fleet is "relatively young," EPA Br. 128 n.103, EPA fails to account for the other 20%. Nor does EPA consider that by 2030 about 20% of the existing fleet will be beyond EPA's assumed 30-year useful life, and another 72% will be 21-30 years old. *See* GHG Mitigation TSD at 3-7, Table 3-1, JA\_\_\_\_. Within another ten years, almost all of the fleet will be beyond EPA's assumed useful life, and generation-shifting under Building Block 2 will be impossible.

**3. Building Block 3 is neither adequately demonstrated nor achievable.**

EPA claims its assumptions about projected growth in renewable energy are "conservative." EPA Br. 134-36. Not so. Non-hydroelectric renewable energy generation in 2012 totaled about 188,400,000 MWh. U.S. Energy Information Administration Annual Energy Outlook 2015 at A-31, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-36563, JA\_\_\_\_. EPA projects new non-hydroelectric renewable generation in 2030 will be 706,030,112 MWh, EPA Br. 134, *nearly five times greater* than it was in 2012, with

such energy *nearly tripling* between 2022 and 2030. GHG Mitigation TSD at 4-9, Table 4-9, JA\_\_\_\_. EPA’s projections assume that from 2024-2030 each individual renewable technology will “grow at [its] *maximum* [annual] historical pace.” EPA Br. 134. In other words, EPA has identified a different single high year of growth for each technology and concluded that future growth for each technology will occur simultaneously, at this maximum rate, for seven consecutive years. EPA assumes this even though the different renewable resources compete with each other for investments and demand for capacity, transmission infrastructure, and energy. EPA has no explanation or technical basis for this assumption. Indeed, the *average* growth rate for each of the renewable technologies was less than half its *maximum* growth rate, GHG Mitigation TSD at 4-2, Table 4-1, JA\_\_\_\_, thoroughly undermining EPA’s assumption.

The studies EPA cites also fail to support its assumption. EPA Br. 136. These studies reflect that incorporating significant amounts of new renewable energy raises extraordinarily complex technical issues requiring further in-depth study. As the National Renewable Energy Laboratories notes:

The scenarios developed ... do not in any way constitute a plan; instead, they should be seen as an initial perspective on a top-down, high-level view of four different 2024 futures. The transition over time from the current state of the bulk power system to any one of the scenarios *would require additional technical and economic evaluation, including detailed modeling of power flows and a study of the effects on the underlying transmission systems.* A more thorough evaluation of the sensitivity of the ... results to the range of assumptions

made would also be required to guide the development of any specific bottom-up plans.

National Renewable Energy Laboratories, Eastern Wind Integration and Transmission Study at 28, *available at* [www.nrel.gov/docs/fy11osti/47078.pdf](http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy11osti/47078.pdf), JA\_\_\_\_ (cited by EPA in GHG Mitigation TSD at 4-20 n.36, JA\_\_\_\_) (emphasis added).

EPA conducted no assessment to determine what can actually be achieved. EPA punts and says it expects States, sources, and others to conduct these assessments during the state planning process. *See* EPA Br. 151. That those future analyses may show that renewables will not be available, however, underscores that EPA should have shown *in this rulemaking* that its Building Block 3 targets are adequately demonstrated and achievable.

**4. EPA's modeling cannot support the achievability of Building Blocks 2 and 3.**

EPA's reliance on its Integrated Planning Model is misplaced. EPA modeled Building Blocks 2 and 3 in isolation. It never modeled them together to show they can be achieved in tandem under a Rule requiring that every megawatt-hour of existing gas generation be offset by a renewable credit and every megawatt-hour of coal-fired generation be offset by both gas and renewable credits. *See* EPA, IPM Run Files for Supporting Scenarios for GHG Mitigation Measures TSD, <https://www.epa.gov/airmarkets/ipm-run-files-supporting-scenarios>, JA\_\_\_\_ (showing separate Building Block 2 and 3 model runs); EPA CO<sub>2</sub> Emission Performance Rate and Goal Computation TSD at 13-15, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-36850, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_.

Consequently, EPA has not shown sufficient generation can be shifted to support Building Blocks 2 and 3 given transmission, dispatch, and reliability constraints.<sup>11</sup>

Accordingly, EPA's modeling does not demonstrate the achievability of Building Blocks 2 and 3. *See Appalachian Power Co. v. EPA*, 249 F.3d 1032, 1053-54 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (“[M]odel assumptions must have a ‘rational relationship’ to the real world,” and EPA must explain why its assumptions and methodology are reasonable).

**D. EPA Failed To Meaningfully Assess Infrastructure and Reliability Concerns.**

**1. The record does not support EPA's findings on lack of infrastructure needs.**

EPA has not shown the infrastructure needed to support Building Blocks 2 and 3 exists or can be developed in time to achieve EPA's limits. EPA relies primarily on its own conclusory statements, EPA Br. 148-50, while largely ignoring warnings from grid regulators, Record Br. 38-39.

---

<sup>11</sup> The modeling for EPA's Regulatory Impact Analysis (“RIA”), which did address both Building Blocks, did not cure this. The modeling outputs for existing gas unit capacity factors and renewable generation were far less than EPA's BSER assumed were achievable—for gas, 54% in the mass-based scenario, and 61% in the rate-based scenario, far short of the assumed 75%. RIA 3-25, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-37105, JA\_\_\_\_. So too for non-hydroelectric renewable generation, which were far short of the BSER's assumed 864,000 gigawatt-hours. *Compare* EPA, Analysis of the Clean Power Plan, BB3-Cost-Effectiveness SSR at Summary Tab (*available at* [www.epa.gov/airmarkets/ipm-run-files-supporting-scenarios](http://www.epa.gov/airmarkets/ipm-run-files-supporting-scenarios)) (BB3: Cost-Effectiveness (Zip)), JA\_\_\_\_, *with* EPA, Analysis of the Clean Power Plan, Rate-Based SSR at Summary Tab (*available at* [www.epa.gov/airmarkets/analysis-clean-power-plan](http://www.epa.gov/airmarkets/analysis-clean-power-plan)) (Rate-Based analyses of the Rule)), JA\_\_\_\_ *and* EPA, Analysis of the Clean Power Plan, Mass-Based SSR at Summary Tab (*available at* [www.epa.gov/airmarkets/analysis-clean-power-plan](http://www.epa.gov/airmarkets/analysis-clean-power-plan)) (Mass-Based analyses of the Rule), JA\_\_\_\_.

EPA cites a Department of Energy report to argue the “limited amount” of transmission construction the Rule requires is within historical ranges. EPA Br. 149. EPA posits that the average 870 miles/year of total new transmission *for all purposes* added from 1991-2011 is similar to the 890 miles/year supposedly needed to accommodate *new wind capacity only* under Building Block 3, based on an assumed addition of 115 gigawatts of wind capacity each year from 2021-2030. *Id.* But EPA ignores *any* transmission necessary to accommodate solar and other non-wind renewables included in Building Block 3. EPA’s own model assumes total new renewable capacity additions from 2020-2030 will be 202 gigawatts—far more than the 115 gigawatts projected for wind alone. EPA, Analysis of the Clean Power Plan, BB3-Cost-Effectiveness SSR at Summary Tab (*available at* [www.epa.gov/airmarkets/ipm-run-files-supporting-scenarios](http://www.epa.gov/airmarkets/ipm-run-files-supporting-scenarios)) (BB3: Cost-Effectiveness (Zip)), JA\_\_\_\_.

Moreover, nothing supports EPA’s prediction that sufficient transmission can be in place to support the interim standards beginning in 2022. Critically, EPA did not respond to concerns expressed by the North American Electric Reliability Corporation (“NERC”) and regional transmission organizations that EPA has not allowed sufficient time to build the necessary transmission (and generation) without affecting grid reliability. *See* Record Br. 39-40. NERC indicates that because new transmission takes up to fifteen years to engineer, site, permit, and construct, adequate infrastructure likely will not be in service to meet the Rule’s interim deadlines. NERC,

Potential Reliability Impacts of EPA's Proposed Clean Power Plan viii, 32, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-37007, JA\_\_\_\_.

Extending that interim compliance date two years, EPA Br. 152, does not eliminate NERC's concern. A new transmission project is a massive undertaking, involving acquisition of miles of rights-of-way, resolution of environmentally-sensitive impacts, complex permitting, financing, design, and construction activities, and possible litigation that can take ten to fifteen years to resolve. *See, e.g.*, UARG Comments 233-36, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_; NRECA Comments 105-07, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_; Basin Comments 25-28, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_. EPA ignores these realities.

**2. EPA has not shown its Rule will preserve grid reliability.**

EPA has not shown its Rule will ensure grid reliability, although EPA acknowledges that reliable transmission of electricity is required. EPA Br. 13, 122, 139. EPA claims "published reports and analyses" show the Rule's national performance rates will not threaten reliability. *Id.* at 150-51. But the only reports EPA cites do not support that assertion. They offer no specific plan or strategy to ensure reliability but assume States and industry will figure it out while applying the Rule's so-called "flexibility." *Id.* Again, EPA fails to respond to concerns expressed by authoritative sources like NERC that the Rule's transformative changes present significant reliability concerns that could profoundly affect the nation's security and its citizens' well-being. Record Br. 42-43.

**Reliability Safety Valve.** EPA’s “reliability safety valve,” EPA Br. 152, offers no meaningful protection. It provides a one-time 90-day relief period, in emergencies, for individual units. 80 Fed. Reg. at 64,878, JA\_\_\_\_. EPA claims it can extend this period if “there is still a serious, ongoing reliability issue,” EPA Br. 152 (citation omitted), but under the Rule any excess emissions beyond those authorized in the state plan count against the State’s overall performance rate. 80 Fed. Reg. at 64,879, JA\_\_\_\_. The “safety valve” is illusory.

**Challenges in the Electric Reliability Council of Texas (“ERCOT”).**

EPA’s faulty reliability analysis presents particular problems within ERCOT. While EPA claims to have “determined achievable emission limitations based on measures that could reliably be implemented *within* this region,” EPA Br. 153-54, it fails to take into account that ERCOT is fundamentally based on a free-market electricity generation system. EPA’s conclusion that system reliability will be unimpaired was based on *assumptions* about reliability built into EPA’s modeling. EPA, Resource Adequacy and Reliability Analysis TSD at 3, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-36847, JA\_\_\_\_; *see* Public Utility Commission of Texas (“PUCT”) Comments 30, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-23305, JA\_\_\_\_. But the model is not appropriate for assessing reliability because it assumes lost generating capacity below an area’s reserve margin will simply be added to fill the loss—an unreasonable assumption in ERCOT, where the State cannot force the construction of new capacity. *See* Tex. Util. Code Ann.

§ 39.001; PUCT Comments 1, 4, JA\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_ (within ERCOT only transmission and distribution are subject to traditional regulation).

EPA also incorrectly dismisses ERCOT's inability to import power from outside the region. EPA Br. 129. In addition to the significant strains on reliability caused by coal-fired plan retirements in this small "power island," this feature of ERCOT has other implications, including possible asymmetries between future emissions trading markets under the Rule and electricity markets. If emissions credits can be traded across state lines where electricity cannot flow, it could have reliability implications for the ERCOT region, where associated integration issues (*i.e.*, system costs and reliability impacts due to increased variable generation and the need for additional transmission) would need to be addressed. *See* PUCT Comments 74, JA\_\_\_\_.

**Challenges for Cooperatives.** EPA further fails to address the cost and reliability concerns facing many rural electric cooperatives. The communities dependent on cooperatives are among the most vulnerable in America. NRECA Comments 2-3, 129-30, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_. EPA brushes off disproportionate impacts on these communities, casually asserting the Rule provides "different ranges of opportunities" for compliance. EPA Br. 155. What opportunities? Cooperatives are severely constrained—by geography, resource availability, financial wherewithal, and the mandates of the Rural Electrification Act. Record Br. 46-47.



EPA again retreats behind “flexibility,” claiming States can “implement a broad range of approaches.” EPA Br. 155. Chief among these are credit trading programs EPA claims will allow cooperatives to purchase credits or allowances and recoup the cost through rate increases. *Id.* at 104, n.87. But many cooperative member-customers cannot bear the rate increases that will result from redispatch away from low-cost coal units. Generation & Transmission Cooperative Fossil Group Comments 22, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-23164, JA\_\_\_\_; NRECA Comments 2-3, 129-30, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_; Western Farmers Comments 14, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-23644, JA\_\_\_\_. The Rule thus uniquely harms cooperatives by effectively overriding the States’ statutory discretion to consider “other factors,” like cooperatives’ statutory mandate to provide reliable and affordable electricity to rural America, in setting section 111(d) standards.

**Modeling Limitations.** Finally, EPA argues its modeling addresses reliability concerns. EPA Br. 153. In fact, the model’s limitations preclude its use to predict the achievability of generation-shifting while maintaining reliable. For instance, the model: (1) dispatches only on a seasonal basis, (2) does not assess intraregional transmission and distribution infrastructure, and (3) does not model actual facilities, but aggregates facilities to create model plants. Kansas Corp. Comm’n Comments 19-21, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_; EPA Documentation for EPA Base Case v.5.13, Using the Integrated Planning Model at 2-5-2-6, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-0212, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_ (model aggregates 16,330 existing plants into 4,971 model plants). A more

complex dispatch model is needed to assess whether changes to the electric grid can be undertaken while maintaining reliable power for all customers at all times. Kansas Corp. Comm'n Comments 19-21, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_. EPA chose not to use those more accepted modeling tools and, therefore, failed to assess a critical element of its generation-shifting scheme.

Indeed, EPA concedes it addressed reliability only “at a general level,” suggesting local reliability concerns could be assessed at the planning and implementation stage when more information is available. EPA Br. 153. But if EPA intends to undertake an ambitious program of nationwide generation-shifting, it should at the very least be required to show the resulting mix of generating resources will provide reliable power nationwide.

### **III. EPA Failed To Consider Important Aspects of Its Rulemaking.**

#### **A. EPA Penalizes Many Low-Emission Generation Resources.**

EPA’s supposed distinction between pre- and post-2013 renewable generating facilities is arbitrary and capricious, and its treatment of States with significant pre-2013 renewable development showcases its failure to demonstrate achievability across a wide range of circumstances.

EPA’s stated rationale for this distinction—that it has already been accounted for in the Rule’s emissions baseline, EPA Br. 165—is incorrect. Nothing in the Rule indicates that any early-adopting States’ 2012 emission baseline was adjusted to account for low- or zero-emission generation.

EPA claims Petitioners failed to demonstrate that pre-2013 renewable energy will cease operating as a result of the Rule's prohibition on providing credits to these units. *Id.* at 167. But it is *EPA's* burden to show a rational distinction between identical sets of resources, and to demonstrate that the numerous States and sources already heavily invested in renewable energy technology can implement the significant additional generation-shifting required by its BSER.<sup>12</sup> Because EPA has failed to do so, its actions are arbitrary and capricious.

Without explanation, EPA also arbitrarily discounted the value of waste-to-energy electricity to account for anthropogenic carbon emissions. Record Br. 60-62. EPA's claim that its rationale should have been "self-evident," EPA Br. 168, is belied by juxtaposing: the Rule's call for a broad, flexible approach to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, 80 Fed. Reg. at 64,665, JA\_\_\_; EPA's recognition that one of the best ways to achieve that objective is to reduce methane emissions, 80 Fed. Reg. 52,100, 52,105 (Aug. 27, 2015); and waste-to-energy's undisputed role as a major net reducer of greenhouse gases from landfill methane, *the nation's largest source of methane*.<sup>13</sup> EPA's disregard of those substantial benefits is fatal.

---

<sup>12</sup> EPA asserts the development of pre-2013 renewable energy will ease States' compliance burdens, EPA Br. 165, but can offer no record support for this conclusion because EPA never analyzed the ability of individual States and sources to implement its BSER.

<sup>13</sup> EPA, Draft Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2014, at 7-1 (p. 434) (Feb. 22, 2016), <https://www3.epa.gov/climatechange/> (Continued...)

**B. The Rule Unlawfully Prohibits the Use Of Affected Units' Carbon Dioxide in Enhanced Oil Recovery.**

The Rule imposes unworkable obstacles to enhanced oil recovery by limiting the injection of captured CO<sub>2</sub> to Subpart-RR compliant facilities. EPA sidesteps these issues, EPA Br. 163, and its failure to address them was arbitrary and capricious. EPA concedes it never proposed subjecting existing sources to Subpart RR. Because of this, no commenter addressed the adverse impact of Subpart RR on the \$6-billion Kemper facility, built with the Department of Energy's active support, and on its associated CO<sub>2</sub> offtake contracts.

**C. EPA Failed to Establish Necessary Subcategories.**

EPA failed to establish subcategories for different types of coal units, in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 60.22(b)(5) (EPA "will specify different emission guidelines or compliance times or both for different sizes, types, and classes of designated facilities when ... appropriate"). Here, establishing subcategories was not only appropriate, but necessary, as Petitioners demonstrated that coal units have varying characteristics warranting subcategorization. *See, e.g.*, North American Coal Corp. ("NACoal") Comments 20-22, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-22519, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_; Luminant Generation Company ("Luminant") Comments 83-84, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-33559, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_.

---

Downloads/ghgemissions/US-GHG-Inventory-2016-Main-Text.pdf, JA\_\_\_\_; *see also* EPA, Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2013 at ES-14, 2-21, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-36479, JA\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_ (third largest in 2013).

EPA argues subcategorization is entirely discretionary, EPA Br. 159, notwithstanding the regulation's use of the mandatory "will." But the case EPA cites addresses a differently-worded statute and is inapposite. *Id.* at 159-60 (citing *Consumer Fed'n of Am. v. HHS*, 83 F.3d 1497, 1504 (D.C. Cir. 1996)). Under EPA's section 111 regulations, it is arbitrary and capricious for EPA not to subcategorize where circumstances demonstrate subcategorization is appropriate. EPA's reliance on *White Stallion Energy Ctr., LLC v. EPA*, 748 F.3d 1222, 1249 (D.C. Cir. 2014), is unavailing because the statutory provision at issue there stated that EPA *may* establish subcategories, while the regulation here states that EPA *will* establish such subcategories where appropriate. *Compare* 42 U.S.C. § 7412(d)(1), *with* 40 C.F.R. § 60.22(b)(5).

EPA wrongly asserts the record does not allow EPA to "discern" a basis for subcategorization. 80 Fed. Reg. at 64,760, JA\_\_\_\_. Unrefuted record evidence demonstrates that various classes of coal units differ in significant ways that will impair compliance with the Rule. *See* EPA Response to Comments Ch. 2 § 2.6 at 66-76, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-36876, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_. For example, commenters identified affected units that could not reasonably achieve the Rule's proposed performance rate by implementing the BSER. *See, e.g.*, NACoal Comments 20-22, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_; Luminant Comments 83-84, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_. Moreover, EPA relied on these very same factors in establishing electric generating unit subcategories under another

rule. Record Br. 67. EPA's failure to at least explain these different outcomes is arbitrary and capricious.

**D. EPA's Cost Consideration Is Fundamentally Flawed.**

EPA concedes section 111(a) requires consideration of costs but fails to respond to Petitioners' argument that the Rule's domestic costs dwarf its domestic benefits. EPA contends it need not weigh costs against benefits. EPA Br. 156-57. But the Supreme Court made clear in *Michigan v. EPA* that “[i]t is not ... rational ... to impose billions of dollars in economic costs in return for a few dollars in ... benefits.” 135 S. Ct. 2699, 2707 (2015).

EPA again relies on inapposite precedent. EPA Br. 156 (citing *Portland Cement Ass'n v. Train*, 513 F.2d 506, 508 (D.C. Cir. 1975)). In *Portland Cement*, the Court instructed EPA to account for cost-benefit analyses “adduced in comments,” and EPA conceded it could not adopt rules with a “gross disproportion” between costs and benefits. 513 F.2d at 508. In any event, *Michigan's* prohibition on rules with “costs far in excess of benefits” resolves any doubt. 135 S. Ct. at 2711. EPA's *ipse dixit* reliance on benchmarks like the costs of regulating *other* pollutants or the costs of *other* carbon-reduction strategies is unlawful, as well as unreasonable.

EPA unlawfully compared “apples to oranges,” *Nat'l Ass'n of Home Builders v. EPA*, 682 F.3d 1032, 1040 (D.C. Cir. 2012), assessing *domestic* costs against *global* benefits measured by the *global* “social cost of carbon.” But EPA never disputes the CAA's purpose—to “protect and enhance the quality of *the Nation's* air resources [for]

... *its* population,” CAA § 101(b) (emphases added)—which prohibits reliance on global benefits. EPA also failed to respond to record documents demonstrating the fatal flaws with the global Social Cost of Carbon, which the National Academy of Sciences recently also identified. Record Br. 70.

EPA measured only compliance costs, 80 Fed. Reg. at 64,750, JA\_\_\_\_, but costs must include “more than the expense of complying with regulations,” *Michigan*, 135 S. Ct. at 2707. EPA points to no consideration of costs associated with energy prices, energy reliability, and employment, or the corresponding effects on human health and mortality—all discussed in comments. Record Br. 71.

EPA fails to respond to arguments presented on pages 70 and 71 of the Record Brief. EPA effectively admits it did not account for the Clean Energy Incentive Program and carbon leakage. EPA argues the program merely “compensat[es]” for carbon “reductions prior to the start of the Rule’s performance period,” EPA Br. 158, but it actually generates credits for up to 300,000,000 tons of emissions the Rule *would otherwise prevent*. This benefit reduction is admittedly “not reflected” in the RIA. RIA at 3-45, JA\_\_\_\_. Finally, EPA did not account for industry relocating to less-regulated countries in response to energy price increases, EPA Br. 159 (citing RIA at 4-5, 5-4 (Table 5-1)), but merely called it “noteworthy,” RIA at 5-6, JA\_\_\_\_. EPA is prohibited from refusing to consider such “disadvantages.” *Michigan*, 135 S. Ct. at 2707.

#### IV. EPA Cannot Explain Its Failure To Address Individual State Circumstances.

The arbitrariness of EPA's action is further demonstrated by the harm that will befall many States due to EPA's failure to address specific State circumstances. EPA has no adequate answer for that failure.

**Wisconsin.** Wisconsin's 2012 baseline included generation from a zero-carbon emitting nuclear facility (the Kewaunee plant) that retired in 2013. EPA knew of the retirement and that the plant represented approximately 7.3% of Wisconsin's total generation in 2012. *See* Wisconsin Dep't of Natural Resources Comments, EPA-HQ-OAR-2013-0602-23541 at 1, 4, JA\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_\_. EPA nonetheless disregarded Kewaunee's retirement in setting Wisconsin's baseline, arguing it acted consistently when it declined to make adjustments for *all* retirements after the baseline year. EPA Br. 168. But retirements of fossil units presumably aid compliance in a State because such units are generally the older, higher-emitting ones. On the other hand, when a zero-emission unit is retired, the State's compliance task becomes much harder. EPA allowed adjustments and allocations of credits for retirements of zero-emitting hydroelectric sources for precisely this reason. 80 Fed. Reg. at 64,815, JA\_\_\_\_. There is no rational basis for treating the retirement of non-emitting nuclear units differently.

**Utah.** EPA improperly set Utah's 2030 mass-based emissions target approximately 2,500,000 tons *below* what it should have been based on Utah's historic



emissions. The 2012 emissions data do not account for a five-month outage of the Intermountain Power Plant. Record Br. 77-79.

EPA contends Utah was not entitled to an adjustment because the failure did not meet EPA's two-part test "for outlier events causing exceptional distortions in the baseline year" and that Utah did "not challenge the reasonableness of EPA's adjustment criteria for unit outages, or the factual basis for EPA's determination that the criteria were not met." EPA Br. 170.

Utah could not challenge EPA's methodology because EPA only disclosed it in the final Rule. Moreover, Utah's arguments cannot fairly be read as anything *other than* a challenge to the reasonableness of EPA's adjustment methodology. Record Br. 77-78. An adjustment formula that does not account for a five-month mechanical failure at a State's largest power plant—which produces almost one-third of the electricity generated there—is arbitrary and capricious.

EPA also assumed Utah could reduce its coal-fired emissions by increasing electrical generation at its four gas-fired plants. This directly conflicts with Utah's commitment in its existing state implementation plan to *reduce* production at these gas-fired plants. EPA is requiring Utah to meet conflicting regulatory goals and obligations, *see* Utah Comments 15, JA\_\_\_\_, where one regulatory objective can be advanced only to the detriment of the other.

**Arizona/Utah Tribes.** EPA failed to account for the unique challenges facing Utah and Arizona, given their heavy reliance on power generated on tribal lands

subject to federal jurisdiction. Contrary to EPA's assertions, EPA Br. 173, the Rule's failure to allow trading of emission credits and allowances between rate- and mass-based States and sovereigns is ripe for review because it presents a purely legal question—whether EPA's final action is arbitrary, capricious, and imposes unlawful hardship on States that have substantial amounts of their energy produced on tribal lands. *Energy Future Coal. v. EPA*, 793 F.3d 141, 146 (D.C. Cir. 2015).<sup>14</sup>

**Wyoming.** EPA failed to account for unique species concerns in Wyoming, such as the sage grouse corridor, which makes the development of new renewable resources extremely challenging. Record Br. 75-76. EPA has not responded in any way to this argument.

EPA also improperly conflated this argument with the concern of Wyoming and North Dakota that EPA failed to consult *nationally* under the Endangered Species Act ("ESA").<sup>15</sup> *Id.* at 76-77. EPA's response relies entirely on an inapposite decision. EPA Br. 171-73 (citing *Ctr. For Biological Diversity v. Dep't of the Interior*, 563 F.3d 466 (D.C. Cir. 2009) ("*CBD*"). In *CBD*, this Court found a delay in consultation appropriate because the Interior Department had committed to ESA consultation *at a*

---

<sup>14</sup> Petitioners are not challenging the proposed federal plan. They challenge the arbitrary hardship created by *this* Rule, which exists *regardless* of how EPA finalizes its proposed federal plan. It is "unnecessary to wait for EPA's legal conclusion to be applied in order to determine its legality." *Energy Future Coal.*, 793 F.3d at 146 (internal quotations omitted).

<sup>15</sup> This argument is advanced solely by Wyoming and North Dakota.

*later stage* in the leasing process and because it was uncertain whether that leasing program would affect any listed species. 563 F.3d at 482. Here, EPA made no such commitment to consult at some later time, 80 Fed. Reg. at 64,925-27, JA\_\_\_\_-\_\_\_\_, although it expressly acknowledged the Rule (which will force the development of new wind and solar generation) is likely to affect listed species, *id.* at 64,926, JA\_\_\_\_. EPA was required to consult under the ESA but failed to do so.

**New Jersey.** EPA failed to consider States like New Jersey that have deregulated energy services and do not regulate electricity generation. Record Br. 80-82. To comply with the Rule, the New Jersey Board of Public Utilities would need new statutory authority to direct existing units' actions, integrate the responsibilities of environmental and public utility regulators, or develop a trading program. *Id.* at 81.

## CONCLUSION

The petitions should be granted and the Rule vacated.

Dated: April 15, 2016

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Thomas A. Lorenzen

Thomas A. Lorenzen  
Sherrie A. Armstrong  
CROWELL & MORING LLP  
1001 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004  
Tel: (202) 624-2500  
tlorenzen@crowell.com  
sarmstrong@crowell.com

*Counsel for Petitioners National Rural Electric Cooperative Association; Big Rivers Electric Corporation; Brazos Electric Power Cooperative, Inc.; Buckeye Power, Inc.; Central Montana Electric Power Cooperative; Central Power Electric Cooperative, Inc.; Corn Belt Power Cooperative; Dairyland Power Cooperative; East River Electric Power Cooperative, Inc.; Georgia Transmission Corporation; Kansas Electric Power Cooperative, Inc.; North Carolina Electric Membership Corporation; Northwest Iowa Power Cooperative; Oglethorpe Power Corporation; PowerSouth Energy Cooperative; Prairie Power, Inc.; Rushmore Electric Power Cooperative, Inc.; Seminole Electric Cooperative, Inc.; Southern Illinois Power Cooperative; Sunflower Electric Power Corporation; and Upper Missouri G. & T. Electric Cooperative, Inc.*

*Of Counsel*

Rae Cronmiller  
Environmental Counsel  
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF RURAL  
ELECTRIC COOPERATIVES  
4301 Wilson Blvd.  
Arlington, VA 22203  
Tel: (703) 907-5500  
rae.cronmiller@nreca.coop

/s/ Elbert Lin

Patrick Morrissey  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF WEST  
VIRGINIA  
Elbert Lin  
Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
J. Zak Ritchie  
Assistant Attorney General  
State Capitol Building 1, Room 26-E  
Charleston, WV 25305  
Tel: (304) 558-2021  
Fax: (304) 558-0140  
elbert.lin@wvago.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of West Virginia*

/s/ Scott A. Keller  
Ken Paxton  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF TEXAS  
Jeffrey C. Mateer  
First Assistant Attorney General  
Scott A. Keller  
Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
P.O. Box 12548  
Austin, TX 78711-2548  
Tel: (512) 936-1700  
scott.keller@texasattorneygeneral.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Texas*

/s/ John R. Lopez IV  
Mark Brnovich  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ARIZONA  
John R. Lopez IV  
*Counsel of Record*  
Dominic E. Draye  
Keith J. Miller  
Assistant Attorneys General  
Maureen Scott  
Janet Wagner  
Janice Alward  
Arizona Corp. Commission,  
Staff Attorneys  
1275 West Washington  
Phoenix, AZ 85007  
Tel: (602) 542-5025  
john.lopez@azag.gov  
dominic.draye@azag.gov  
keith.miller@azag.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner Arizona Corporation  
Commission*

/s/ Andrew Brasher  
Luther Strange  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ALABAMA  
Andrew Brasher  
Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
501 Washington Avenue  
Montgomery, AL 36130  
Tel: (334) 353-2609  
abrasher@ago.state.al.us

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Alabama*

/s/ Lee Rudofsky  
Leslie Rutledge  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ARKANSAS  
Lee Rudofsky  
Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
Jamie L. Ewing  
Assistant Attorney General  
323 Center Street, Suite 400  
Little Rock, AR 72201  
Tel: (501) 682-5310  
lee.rudofsky@arkansasag.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Arkansas*

/s/ Frederick Yarger

Cynthia H. Coffman  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF COLORADO  
Frederick Yarger  
Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
1300 Broadway, 10th Floor  
Denver, CO 80203  
Tel: (720) 508-6168  
fred.yarger@state.co.us

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Colorado*

/s/ Britt C. Grant

Samuel S. Olens  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF GEORGIA  
Britt C. Grant  
Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
40 Capitol Square S.W.  
Atlanta, GA 30334  
Tel: (404) 656-3300  
Fax: (404) 463-9453  
bgrant@law.ga.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Georgia*

/s/ Jonathan L. Williams

Pamela Jo Bondi  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF FLORIDA  
Jonathan L. Williams  
Deputy Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
Jonathan A. Glogau  
Special Counsel  
Office of the Attorney General  
PL-01, The Capitol  
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050  
Tel: (850) 414-3818  
Fax: (850) 410-2672  
jonathan.williams@myfloridalegal.com  
jonathan.glogau@myfloridalegal.com

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Florida*

/s/ Timothy Junk

Gregory F. Zoeller  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF INDIANA  
Timothy Junk  
Deputy Attorney General  
*Counsel of Record*  
Indiana Government Ctr. South  
Fifth Floor  
302 West Washington Street  
Indianapolis, IN 46205  
Tel: (317) 232-6247  
tim.junk@atg.in.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Indiana*

/s/ Jeffrey A. Chanay  
Derek Schmidt  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF KANSAS  
Jeffrey A. Chanay  
Chief Deputy Attorney General  
*Counsel of Record*  
Bryan C. Clark  
Assistant Solicitor General  
120 S.W. 10th Avenue, 3rd Floor  
Topeka, KS 66612  
Tel: (785) 368-8435  
Fax: (785) 291-3767  
jeff.chanay@ag.ks.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Kansas*

/s/ Steven B. "Beaux" Jones  
Jeff Landry  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF LOUISIANA  
Steven B. "Beaux" Jones  
*Counsel of Record*  
Duncan S. Kemp, IV  
Assistant Attorneys General  
Environmental Section – Civil Division  
1885 N. Third Street  
Baton Rouge, LA 70804  
Tel: (225) 326-6085  
Fax: (225) 326-  
6099jonesst@ag.state.la.us

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Louisiana*

/s/ Joe Newberg  
Andy Beshear  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF KENTUCKY  
Mitchel T. Denham  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
Joseph A. Newberg, II  
Assistant Attorney General  
*Counsel of Record*  
700 Capital Avenue  
Suite 118  
Frankfort, KY 40601  
Tel: (502) 696-5611  
joe.newberg@ky.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner Commonwealth of Kentucky*

/s/ Donald Trahan  
Herman Robinson  
Executive Counsel  
Donald Trahan  
*Counsel of Record*  
Elliott Vega  
LOUISIANA DEPARTMENT OF  
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY  
Legal Division  
P.O. Box 4302  
Baton Rouge, LA 70821-4302  
Tel: (225) 219-3985  
Fax: (225) 219-4068  
donald.trahan@la.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Louisiana  
Department of Environmental Quality*

/s/ Monica Derbes Gibson

Monica Derbes Gibson  
Lesley Foxhall Pietras  
LISKOW & LEWIS, P.L.C.  
701 Poydras Street, Suite 5000  
New Orleans, LA 70139  
Tel: (504) 556-4010  
Fax: (504) 556-4108  
mdgibson@liskow.com  
lfpietras@liskow.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Louisiana Public Service  
Commission*

/s/ Harold E. Pizzetta, III

Jim Hood  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF  
MISSISSIPPI  
Harold E. Pizzetta  
Assistant Attorney General  
Civil Litigation Division  
Office of the Attorney General  
Post Office Box 220  
Jackson, MS 39205  
Tel: (601) 359-3816  
Fax: (601) 359-2003  
hpizz@ago.state.ms.us

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Mississippi*

/s/ Aaron D. Lindstrom

Bill Schuette  
ATTORNEY GENERAL FOR THE PEOPLE  
OF MICHIGAN  
Aaron D. Lindstrom  
Michigan Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
P.O. Box 30212  
Lansing, MI 48909  
Tel: (515) 373-1124  
Fax: (517) 373-3042  
lindstroma@michigan.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner People of the State of  
Michigan*

/s/ Donna J. Hodges

Donna J. Hodges  
Senior Counsel  
MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF  
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY  
P.O. Box 2261  
Jackson, MS 39225-2261  
Tel: (601) 961-5369  
Fax: (601) 961-5349  
donna\_hodges@deq.state.ms.us

*Counsel for Petitioner Mississippi Department of  
Environmental Quality*



/s/ Todd E. Palmer

Todd E. Palmer  
Valerie L. Green  
MICHAEL, BEST & FRIEDRICH LLP  
601 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W., Suite 700  
Washington, D.C. 20004-2601  
Tel: (202) 747-9560  
Fax: (202) 347-1819  
tepalmer@michaelbest.com  
vlgreen@michaelbest.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Mississippi Public Service  
Commission*

/s/ Dale Schowengerdt

Timothy C. Fox  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF MONTANA  
Alan Joscelyn  
Chief Deputy Attorney General  
Dale Schowengerdt  
Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
215 North Sanders  
Helena, MT 59620-1401  
Tel: (406) 444-7008  
dales@mt.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Montana*

/s/ James R. Layton

Chris Koster  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF MISSOURI  
James R. Layton  
Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
P.O. Box 899  
207 W. High Street  
Jefferson City, MO 65102  
Tel: (573) 751-1800  
Fax: (573) 751-0774  
james.layton@ago.mo.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Missouri*

/s/ Justin D. Lavene

Douglas J. Peterson  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF NEBRASKA  
Dave Bydlaek  
Chief Deputy Attorney General  
Justin D. Lavene  
Assistant Attorney General  
*Counsel of Record*  
2115 State Capitol  
Lincoln, NE 68509  
Tel: (402) 471-2834  
justin.lavene@nebraska.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Nebraska*

/s/ John R. Renella

Robert Lougy

ACTING ATTORNEY GENERAL OF NEW  
JERSEY

David C. Apy

Assistant Attorney General

John R. Renella

Deputy Attorney General

*Counsel of Record*

Division of Law

R.J. Hughes Justice Complex

P.O. Box 093

25 Market Street

Trenton, NJ 08625-0093

Tel: (609) 292-6945

Fax: (609) 341-5030

john.renella@dol.lps.state.nj.us

*Counsel for Petitioner State of New Jersey*

/s/ Paul M. Seby

Wayne Stenehjem

ATTORNEY GENERAL OF NORTH  
DAKOTA

Margaret Olson

Assistant Attorney General

North Dakota Attorney General's Office

600 E. Boulevard Avenue #125

Bismarck, ND 58505

Tel: (701) 328-3640

maiolson@nd.gov

Paul M. Seby

Special Assistant Attorney General

State of North Dakota

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP

1200 17th Street, Suite 2400

Denver, CO 80202

Tel: (303) 572-6500

Fax: (303) 572-6540

sebyp@gtlaw.com

*Counsel for Petitioner State of North Dakota*

/s/ Eric E. Murphy  
Michael DeWine  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF OHIO  
Eric E. Murphy  
State Solicitor  
*Counsel of Record*  
30 E. Broad Street, 17th Floor  
Columbus, OH 43215  
Tel: (614) 466-8980  
eric.murphy@ohioattorneygeneral.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Ohio*

/s/ David B. Rivkin, Jr.  
E. Scott Pruitt  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF OKLAHOMA  
Patrick R. Wyrick  
Solicitor General of Oklahoma  
313 N.E. 21st Street  
Oklahoma City, OK 73105  
Tel: (405) 521-4396  
Fax: (405) 522-0669  
fc.docket@oag.state.ok.us  
scott.pruitt@oag.ok.gov

David B. Rivkin, Jr.  
*Counsel of Record*  
Mark W. DeLaquil  
Andrew M. Grossman  
BAKER & HOSTETLER LLP  
Washington Square, Suite 1100  
1050 Connecticut Ave., N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20036  
Tel: (202) 861-1731  
Fax: (202) 861-1783  
drivkin@bakerlaw.com

*Counsel for Petitioners State of Oklahoma and  
Oklahoma Department of Environmental  
Quality*

/s/ James Emory Smith, Jr.  
Alan Wilson  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF SOUTH  
CAROLINA  
Robert D. Cook  
Solicitor General  
James Emory Smith, Jr.  
Deputy Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
Tel: (803) 734-3680  
Fax: (803) 734-3677  
esmith@scag.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of South Carolina*

/s/ Tyler R. Green  
Sean Reyes  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF UTAH  
Tyler R. Green  
Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
Parker Douglas  
Federal Solicitor  
Utah State Capitol Complex  
350 North State Street, Suite 230  
Salt Lake City, UT 84114-2320  
pdouglas@utah.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Utah*

/s/ Steven R. Blair  
Marty J. Jackley  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF SOUTH  
DAKOTA  
Steven R. Blair  
Assistant Attorney General  
*Counsel of Record*  
1302 E. Highway 14, Suite 1  
Pierre, SD 57501  
Tel: (605) 773-3215  
steven.blair@state.sd.us

*Counsel for Petitioner State of South Dakota*

/s/ Misha Tseytlin  
Brad D. Schimel  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF WISCONSIN  
Misha Tseytlin  
Solicitor General  
*Counsel of Record*  
Andrew Cook  
Deputy Attorney General  
Delanie M. Breuer  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
Wisconsin Department of Justice  
17 West Main Street  
Madison, WI 53707  
Tel: (608) 267-9323  
tseytlinm@doj.state.wi.us

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Wisconsin*

/s/ James Kaste

Peter K. Michael  
 ATTORNEY GENERAL OF WYOMING  
 James Kaste  
 Deputy Attorney General  
*Counsel of Record*  
 Michael J. McGrady  
 Erik Petersen  
 Senior Assistant Attorneys General  
 Elizabeth Morrisseau  
 Assistant Attorney General  
 2320 Capitol Avenue  
 Cheyenne, WY 82002  
 Tel: (307) 777-6946  
 Fax: (307) 777-3542  
 james.kaste@wyo.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner State of Wyoming*

/s/ Dennis Lane

Dennis Lane  
 STINSON LEONARD STREET LLP  
 1775 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W., Suite 800  
 Washington, D.C. 20006  
 Tel: (202) 785-9100  
 Fax: (202) 785-9163  
 dennis.lane@stinson.com

Parthenia B. Evans  
 STINSON LEONARD STREET LLP  
 1201 Walnut Street, Suite 2900  
 Kansas City, MO 64106  
 Tel: (816) 842-8600  
 Fax: (816) 691-3495  
 parthy.evans@stinson.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Kansas City Board of  
 Public Utilities – Unified Government of  
 Wyandotte County/ Kansas City, Kansas*

/s/ Sam M. Hayes

Sam M. Hayes  
 General Counsel  
*Counsel of Record*  
 Craig Bromby  
 Deputy General Counsel  
 Andrew Norton  
 Deputy General Counsel  
 NORTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF  
 ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY  
 1601 Mail Service Center  
 Raleigh, NC 27699-1601  
 Tel: (919) 707-8616  
 sam.hayes@ncdenr.gov

*Counsel for Petitioner North Carolina  
 Department of Environmental Quality*

/s/ Allison D. Wood

F. William Brownell  
 Allison D. Wood  
 Henry V. Nickel  
 Tauna M. Szymanski  
 HUNTON & WILLIAMS LLP  
 2200 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
 Washington, D.C. 20037  
 Tel: (202) 955-1500  
 bbrownell@hunton.com  
 awood@hunton.com  
 hnickel@hunton.com  
 tszymanski@hunton.com

*Counsel for Petitioners Utility Air Regulatory  
 Group and American Public Power Association*

/s/ Stacey Turner

Stacey Turner  
SOUTHERN COMPANY SERVICES, INC.  
600 18<sup>th</sup> Street North  
BIN 14N-8195  
Birmingham, AL 35203  
Tel: (205) 257-2823  
staturne@southernco.com

*Counsel for Petitioners Alabama Power  
Company, Georgia Power Company, Gulf Power  
Company, and Mississippi Power Company*

/s/ Margaret Claiborne Campbell

Margaret Claiborne Campbell  
Angela J. Levin  
TROUTMAN SANDERS LLP  
600 Peachtree Street, NE, Suite 5200  
Atlanta, GA 30308-2216  
Tel: (404) 885-3000  
margaret.campbell@troutmansanders.com  
angela.levin@troutmansanders.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Georgia Power Company*

/s/ C. Grady Moore, III

C. Grady Moore, III  
Steven G. McKinney  
BALCH & BINGHAM LLP  
1901 Sixth Avenue North, Suite 1500  
Birmingham, AL 35303-4642  
Tel: (205) 251-8100  
Fax: (205) 488-5704  
gmoore@balch.com  
smckinney@balch.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Alabama Power  
Company*

/s/ Terese T. Wyly

Terese T. Wyly  
Ben H. Stone  
BALCH & BINGHAM LLP  
1310 Twenty Fifth Avenue  
Gulfport, MS 39501-1931  
Tel: (228) 214-0413  
twyly@balch.com  
bstone@balch.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Mississippi Power  
Company*

/s/ Jeffrey A. Stone

Jeffrey A. Stone  
BEGGS & LANE, RLLP  
501 Commendencia Street  
Pensacola, FL 32502  
Tel: (850) 432-2451  
JAS@beggslane.com

James S. Alves  
2110 Trescott Drive  
Tallahassee, FL 32308  
Tel: (850) 566-7607  
jim.s.alves@outlook.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Gulf Power Company*

/s/ Christina F. Gomez

Christina F. Gomez  
Lawrence E. Volmert  
Garrison W. Kaufman  
Jill H. Van Noord  
HOLLAND & HART LLP  
555 Seventeenth Street, Suite 3200  
Denver, CO 80202  
Tel: (303) 295-8000  
Fax: (303) 295-8261  
cgomez@hollandhart.com  
lvolmert@hollandhart.com  
gwkaufman@hollandhart.com  
jhvan Noord@hollandhart.com

Patrick R. Day  
HOLLAND & HART LLP  
2515 Warren Avenue, Suite 450  
Cheyenne, WY 82001  
Tel: (307) 778-4200  
Fax: (307) 778-8175  
pday@hollandhart.com

Emily C. Schilling  
HOLLAND & HART LLP  
222 South Main Street, Suite 2200  
Salt Lake City, UT 84101  
Tel: (801) 799-5800  
Fax: (801) 799-5700  
ecschilling@hollandhart.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Basin Electric Power  
Cooperative*

/s/ James S. Alves

James S. Alves  
2110 Trescott Drive  
Tallahassee, FL 32308  
Tel: (850) 566-7607  
jim.s.alves@outlook.com

*Counsel for Petitioner CO<sub>2</sub> Task Force of the  
Florida Electric Power Coordinating Group, Inc.*

/s/ William M. Bumpers

William M. Bumpers  
Megan H. Berge  
BAKER BOTTS L.L.P.  
1299 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004  
Tel: (202) 639-7700  
william.bumpers@bakerbotts.com  
megan.berge@bakerbotts.com

Kelly McQueen  
ENERGY SERVICES, INC.  
425 W. Capitol Avenue, 27th Floor  
Little Rock, AR 72201  
Tel: (501) 377-5760  
kmcque1@entergy.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Entergy Corporation*

/s/ John J. McMackin

John J. McMackin  
WILLIAMS & JENSEN  
701 8th Street, N.W., Suite 500  
Washington, D.C. 20001  
Tel: (202) 659-8201  
jjmcmackin@wms-jen.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Energy-Intensive  
Manufacturers Working Group on Greenhouse  
Gas Regulation*

/s/ Paul J. Zidlicky

Paul J. Zidlicky  
SIDLEY AUSTIN, LLP  
1501 K Street, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20005  
Tel: (202) 736-8000  
pzidlicky@sidley.com

*Counsel for Petitioners GenOn Mid-Atlantic,  
LLC; Indian River Power LLC; Louisiana  
Generating LLC; Midwest Generation, LLC;  
NRG Chalk Point LLC; NRG Power  
Midwest LP; NRG Rema LLC; NRG Texas  
Power LLC; NRG Wholesale Generation LP;  
and Vienna Power LLC*



/s/ David M. Flannery

David M. Flannery  
Kathy G. Beckett  
Edward L. Kropp  
STEPTOE & JOHNSON, PLLC  
707 Virginia Street East  
Charleston, WV 25326  
Tel: (304) 353-8000  
dave.flannery@steptoe-johnson.com  
kathy.beckett@steptoe-johnson.com  
skipp.kropp@steptoe-johnson.com

Stephen L. Miller  
STEPTOE & JOHNSON, PLLC  
700 N. Hurstbourne Parkway, Suite 115  
Louisville, KY 40222  
Tel: (502) 423-2000  
steve.miller@steptoe-johnson.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Indiana Utility Group*

/s/ F. William Brownell

F. William Brownell  
Eric J. Murdock  
HUNTON & WILLIAMS LLP  
2200 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20037  
Tel: (202) 955-1500  
bbrownell@hunton.com  
emurdock@hunton.com

Nash E. Long III  
HUNTON & WILLIAMS LLP  
Bank of America Plaza, Suite 3500  
101 South Tryon Street  
Charlotte, NC 28280  
Tel: (704) 378-4700  
nlong@hunton.com

*Counsel for Petitioner LG&E and KU Energy  
LLC*

/s/ P. Stephen Gidiere III

P. Stephen Gidiere III  
Thomas L. Casey III  
Julia B. Barber  
BALCH & BINGHAM LLP  
1901 6th Ave. N., Suite 1500  
Birmingham, AL 35203  
Tel: (205) 251-8100  
sgidiere@balch.com

Stephanie Z. Moore  
Vice President and General Counsel  
Luminant Generation Company LLC  
1601 Bryan Street, 22nd Floor  
Dallas, TX 75201

Daniel J. Kelly  
Vice President and Associate General  
Counsel  
Energy Future Holdings Corp.  
1601 Bryan Street, 43rd Floor  
Dallas, TX 75201

*Counsel for Petitioners Luminant Generation  
Company LLC; Oak Grove Management  
Company LLC; Big Brown Power Company  
LLC; Sandow Power Company LLC; Big  
Brown Lignite Company LLC; Luminant  
Mining Company LLC; and Luminant Big  
Brown Mining Company LLC*

/s/ Ronald J. Tenpas

Ronald J. Tenpas  
MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS LLP  
1111 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004  
Tel: (202) 739-3000  
rtenpas@morganlewis.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Minnesota Power (an  
operating division of ALLETE, Inc.)*

/s/ Allison D. Wood

Allison D. Wood  
Tauna M. Szymanski  
Andrew D. Knudsen  
HUNTON & WILLIAMS LLP  
2200 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20037  
Tel: (202) 955-1500  
awood@hunton.com  
tszymanski@hunton.com  
aknudsen@hunton.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Montana-Dakota Utilities  
Co., a Division of MDU Resources Group, Inc.*

/s/ Joshua R. More

Joshua R. More  
Jane E. Montgomery  
Amy Antonioli  
SCHIFF HARDIN LLP  
233 South Wacker Drive  
Suite 6600  
Chicago, IL 60606  
Tel: (312) 258-5500  
jmore@schiffhardin.com  
jmontgomery@schiffhardin.com  
aantonioli@schiffhardin.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Prairie State Generating  
Company, LLC*

/s/ Eric L. Hiser

Eric L. Hiser  
JORDEN BISCHOFF & HISER, PLC  
7272 E. Indian School Road, Suite 360  
Scottsdale, AZ 85251  
Tel: (480) 505-3927  
ehiser@jordenbischoff.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Arizona Electric Power  
Cooperative, Inc.*

/s/ Brian A. Prestwood

Brian A. Prestwood  
Senior Corporate and Compliance  
Counsel  
ASSOCIATED ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE,  
INC.  
2814 S. Golden, P.O. Box 754  
Springfield, MO 65801  
Tel: (417) 885-9273  
bprestwood@aeci.org

*Counsel for Petitioner Associated Electric  
Cooperative, Inc.*

/s/ Christopher L. Bell  
Christopher L. Bell  
GREENBERG TRAURIG LLP  
1000 Louisiana Street, Suite 1700  
Houston, TX 77002  
Tel: (713) 374-3556  
belc@gtlaw.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Golden Spread Electrical  
Cooperative, Inc.*

/s/ John M. Holloway III  
John M. Holloway III  
SUTHERLAND ASBILL & BRENNAN LLP  
700 Sixth Street, N.W., Suite 700  
Washington, D.C. 20001  
Tel: (202) 383-0100  
Fax: (202) 383-3593  
jay.holloway@sutherland.com

*Counsel for Petitioners East Kentucky Power  
Cooperative, Inc.; Hoosier Energy Rural Electric  
Cooperative, Inc.; Minnkota Power Cooperative,  
Inc.; and South Mississippi Electric Power  
Association*

/s/ David Crabtree  
David Crabtree  
Vice President, General Counsel  
DESERET GENERATION & TRANSMISSION  
CO-OPERATIVE  
10714 South Jordan Gateway  
South Jordan, UT 84095  
Tel: (801) 619-9500  
Crabtree@deseretpower.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Deseret Generation &  
Transmission Co-operative*

/s/ Patrick Burchette  
Patrick Burchette  
HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP  
800 17<sup>th</sup> Street, N.W., Suite 1100  
Washington, D.C. 20006  
Tel: (202) 469-5102  
Patrick.Burchette@hkklaw.com

*Counsel for Petitioners East Texas Electric  
Cooperative, Inc.; Northeast Texas Electric  
Cooperative, Inc.; Sam Rayburn G&T Electric  
Cooperative, Inc.; and Tex-La Electric  
Cooperative of Texas, Inc.*

/s/ Mark Walters

Mark Walters  
Michael J. Nasi  
JACKSON WALKER L.L.P.  
100 Congress Avenue, Suite 1100  
Austin, TX 78701  
Tel: (512) 236-2000  
Fax: (512) 236-2002  
mwalters@jw.com  
mnasi@jw.com

*Counsel for Petitioners San Miguel Electric  
Cooperative, Inc. and South Texas Electric  
Cooperative, Inc.*

/s/ Megan H. Berge

Megan H. Berge  
BAKER BOTTS L.L.P.  
1299 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004  
Tel: (202) 639-7700  
megan.berge@bakerbotts.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Western Farmers Electric  
Cooperative*

/s/ Randolph G. Holt

Randolph G. Holt  
Jeremy L. Fetty  
PARR RICHEY OBREMSKEY FRANSEN &  
PATTERSON LLP  
Wabash Valley Power Association, Inc.  
722 N. High School Road  
P.O. Box 24700  
Indianapolis, IN 46224  
Tel: (317) 481-2815  
R\_holt@wvpa.com  
jfetty@parrlaw.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Wabash Valley Power  
Association, Inc.*

/s/ Steven C. Kohl

Steven C. Kohl  
Gaetan Gerville-Reache  
WARNER NORCROSS & JUDD LLP  
2000 Town Center, Suite 2700  
Southfield, MI 48075-1318  
Tel: (248) 784-5000  
skohl@wnj.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Wolverine Power Supply  
Cooperative, Inc.*

/s/ William M. Bumpers

William M. Bumpers  
Megan H. Berge  
BAKER BOTTS L.L.P.  
1299 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004  
Tel: (202) 639-7700  
william.bumpers@bakerbotts.com  
megan.berge@bakerbotts.com

*Counsel for Petitioner NorthWestern  
Corporation d/b/a NorthWestern Energy*

/s/ William M. Bumpers

William M. Bumpers  
Megan H. Berge  
BAKER BOTTS L.L.P.  
1299 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004  
Tel: (202) 639-7700  
william.bumpers@bakerbotts.com  
megan.berge@bakerbotts.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Westar Energy, Inc.*

/s/ Allison D. Wood

Allison D. Wood  
Tauna M. Szymanski  
Andrew D. Knudsen  
HUNTON & WILLIAMS LLP  
2200 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20037  
Tel: (202) 955-1500  
awood@hunton.com  
tszymanski@hunton.com  
aknudsen@hunton.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Tri-State Generation and  
Transmission Association, Inc.*

/s/ Jeffrey R. Holmstead

Jeffrey R. Holmstead  
Sandra Y. Snyder  
BRACEWELL LLP  
2001 M Street, N.W., Suite 900  
Washington, D.C. 20036  
Tel: (202) 828-5852  
Fax: (202) 857-4812  
jeff.holmstead@bracewelllaw.com

*Counsel for Petitioner American Coalition for  
Clean Coal Electricity*

/s/ Geoffrey K. Barnes  
Geoffrey K. Barnes  
J. Van Carson  
Wendlene M. Lavey  
John D. Lazzaretti  
Robert D. Cheren  
SQUIRE PATTON BOGGS (US) LLP  
4900 Key Tower  
127 Public Square  
Cleveland, OH 44114  
Tel: (216) 479-8646  
geoffrey.barnes@squirepb.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Murray Energy  
Corporation*

/s/ Andrew C. Emrich  
Andrew C. Emrich  
HOLLAND & HART LLP  
6380 South Fiddlers Green Circle  
Suite 500  
Greenwood Village, CO 80111  
Tel: (303) 290-1621  
Fax: (866) 711-8046  
acemrich@hollandhart.com

Emily C. Schilling  
HOLLAND & HART LLP  
222 South Main Street, Suite 2200  
Salt Lake City, UT 84101  
Tel: (801) 799-5753  
Fax: (202) 747-6574  
ecschilling@hollandhart.com

*Counsel for Petitioners Newmont Nevada  
Energy Investment, LLC and Newmont USA  
Limited*

/s/ Charles T. Wehland

Charles T. Wehland

*Counsel of Record*

Brian J. Murray

JONES DAY

77 West Wacker Drive, Suite 3500

Chicago, IL 60601-1692

Tel: (312) 782-3939

Fax: (312) 782-8585

ctwehland@jonesday.com

bjmurray@jonesday.com

*Counsel for Petitioners The North American Coal Corporation; The Coteau Properties Company; Coyote Creek Mining Company, LLC; The Falkirk Mining Company; Mississippi Lignite Mining Company; North American Coal Royalty Company; NODAK Energy Services, LLC; Otter Creek Mining Company, LLC; and The Sabine Mining Company*

/s/ Robert G. McLusky

Robert G. McLusky

JACKSON KELLY, PLLC

1600 Laidley Tower

P.O. Box 553

Charleston, WV 25322

Tel: (304) 340-1000

rmclusky@jacksonkelly.com

*Counsel for Petitioner West Virginia Coal Association*

/s/ Eugene M. Trisko

Eugene M. Trisko

LAW OFFICES OF EUGENE M. TRISKO

P.O. Box 596

Berkeley Springs, WV 25411

Tel: (304) 258-1977

Tel: (301) 639-5238 (cell)

emtrisko7@gmail.com

*Counsel for Petitioner International Brotherhood of Boilermakers, Iron Ship Builders, Blacksmiths, Forgers & Helpers*

/s/ Eugene M. Trisko

Eugene M. Trisko

LAW OFFICES OF EUGENE M. TRISKO

P.O. Box 596

Berkeley Springs, WV 25411

Tel: (304) 258-1977

Tel: (301) 639-5238 (cell)

emtrisko7@gmail.com

*Counsel for Petitioner International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, AFL-CIO*



/s/ Megan H. Berge \_\_\_\_\_

Megan H. Berge  
William M. Bumpers  
BAKER BOTTS L.L.P.  
1299 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004  
Tel: (202) 639-7700  
megan.berge@bakerbotts.com  
william.bumpers@bakerbotts.com

*Counsel for Petitioner National Association of  
Home Builders*

/s/ Grant F. Crandall \_\_\_\_\_

Grant F. Crandall  
General Counsel  
UNITED MINE WORKERS OF AMERICA  
18354 Quantico Gateway Drive  
Triangle, VA 22172  
Tel: (703) 291-2429  
gcrandall@umwa.org

Arthur Traynor, III  
Staff Counsel  
UNITED MINE WORKERS OF AMERICA  
18354 Quantico Gateway Drive  
Triangle, VA 22172  
Tel: (703) 291-2457  
atraynor@umwa.org

Eugene M. Trisko  
LAW OFFICES OF EUGENE M. TRISKO  
P.O. Box 596  
Berkeley Springs, WV 25411  
Tel: (304) 258-1977  
emtrisko7@gmail.com

*Counsel for Petitioner United Mine Workers of  
America*

/s/ Kathryn D. Kirmayer

Kathryn D. Kirmayer  
General Counsel  
Evelyn R. Nackman  
Associate General Counsel  
ASSOCIATION OF AMERICAN RAILROADS  
425 3rd Street, S.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20024  
Tel: (202) 639-2100  
kkirmayer@aar.org

*Counsel for Petitioner Association of American Railroads*

/s/ Scott M. DuBoff

Scott M. DuBoff  
Matthew R. Schneider  
GARVEY SCHUBERT BARER  
1000 Potomac Street, N.W., Suite 200  
Washington, D.C. 20007  
Tel: (202) 965-7880  
sduboff@gsblaw.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Local Government Coalition for Renewable Energy*

/s/ Catherine E. Stetson

Catherine E. Stetson  
Eugene A. Sokoloff  
HOGAN LOVELLS US LLP  
555 Thirteenth Street, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004-1109  
Tel: (202) 637-5600  
Fax: (202) 637-5910  
cate.stetson@hoganlovells.com  
eugene.sokoloff@hoganlovells.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Denbury Onshore, LLC*

/s/ Adam R.F. Gustafson

C. Boyden Gray  
Adam R.F. Gustafson  
*Counsel of Record*  
Derek S. Lyons  
James R. Conde  
BOYDEN GRAY & ASSOCIATES, PLLC  
1627 I Street, N.W., #950  
Washington, D.C. 20006  
Tel: (202) 955-0620  
gustafson@boydengrayassociates.com

Sam Kazman  
Hans Bader  
COMPETITIVE ENTERPRISE INSTITUTE  
1899 L Street, N.W., 12th Floor  
Washington, D.C. 20036  
Tel: (202) 331-1010

*Counsel for Petitioners Competitive Enterprise Institute; Buckeye Institute for Public Policy Solutions; Independence Institute; Rio Grande Foundation; Sutherland Institute; Klaus J. Christoph; Samuel R. Damewood; Catherine C. Dellin; Joseph W. Luquire; Lisa R. Markham; Patrick T. Peterson; and Kristi Rosenquist*

/s/ Robert Alt \_\_\_\_\_

Robert Alt  
BUCKEYE INSTITUTE FOR PUBLIC POLICY  
SOLUTIONS  
88 E. Broad Street, Suite 1120  
Columbus, OH 43215  
Tel: (614) 224-4422  
robert@buckeyeinstitute.org

*Counsel for Petitioner Buckeye Institute for  
Public Policy Solutions*

/s/ Steven P. Lehotsky \_\_\_\_\_

Steven P. Lehotsky  
Sheldon B. Gilbert  
U.S. CHAMBER LITIGATION CENTER, INC.  
1615 H Street, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20062  
Tel: (202) 463-5337  
slehotsky@uschamber.com

*Counsel for Petitioner Chamber of Commerce of  
the United States of America*

**CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE**

Pursuant to Rule 32(a)(7)(C) of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure and Circuit Rules 32(e)(1) and 32(e)(2)(C), I hereby certify that the foregoing Reply Brief of Petitioners on Procedural and Record-Based Issues contains 8,468 words, as counted by a word processing system that includes headings, footnotes, quotations, and citations in the count, and therefore is within the word limit set by the Court.

Dated: April 15, 2016

/s/ Thomas A. Lorenzen  
Thomas A. Lorenzen

**CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

I hereby certify that, on this 15th day of April 2016, a copy of the foregoing Reply Brief of Petitioners on Procedural and Record-Based Issues was served electronically through the Court's CM/ECF system on all ECF-registered counsel.

/s/ Thomas A. Lorenzen  
Thomas A. Lorenzen

**ATTACHMENT**

## **Redline of Regulatory Language**

**""(Comparing Proposed and Final Rule Regulatory Language)**

For the reasons stated in the preamble, title 40, chapter I, part 60 of the Code of the Federal Regulations is ~~proposed to be~~ amended as follows:

**PART 60—STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR NEW STATIONARY SOURCES**

- 1. The authority citation for Part 60 continues to read as follows:

Authority: 42 U.S.C. 7401 *et seq.*

- 2. ~~Section 60.27 is amended by revising paragraph (b)~~ Add subpart UUUU to read as follows:

~~§ 60.27 Actions by the Administrator.~~

~~\* \* \* \* \*~~ ~~(b) After receipt of a plan or plan~~

~~revision, the Administrator will propose the plan or revision for approval or disapproval. The Administrator will, within four months after the date required for submission of a plan or plan revision, approve or disapprove such plan or revision or each portion thereof, except as provided in § 60.5715.~~

~~\* \* \* \* \*~~ ~~■ Add subpart UUUU reads~~  
~~follows:~~



**Subpart UUU: Emission Guidelines for Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Compliance Times for Electric Utility Generating Units**

Sec.

**Introduction**

60.5700 What is the purpose of this subpart?

60.5705 ~~What~~ Which pollutants are regulated by this subpart?

60.5710 Am I affected by this subpart? 60.5715 What is the review and approval process for my ~~state~~ State plan?

60.5720 What if I do not submit a plan or my plan is not approvable?

60.5725 In lieu of a ~~state~~ State plan submittal, are there other acceptable option(s) for a ~~state~~ State to meet its CAA section 111(d) obligations?

60.5730 Is there an approval process for a negative declaration letter?

60.5735 What authorities will not be delegated to ~~state~~ State, local, or tribal agencies?

60.5736 Will the EPA impose any sanctions?

60.5737 What is the Clean Energy Incentive Program and how do I participate?

**State and Multi-State Plan Requirements**

60.5740 What must I include in my ~~state~~ federally enforceable State or multi-State plan?

60.5745 What must I include in my final plan submittal?

~~60.5745~~ 60.5750 Can I work with other ~~states~~ States to develop a ~~multi-state~~ multi-State plan?

~~60.5750 Can I include existing requirements, programs, and measures in my state plan?~~

~~60.5755~~ 60.5760 What are the timing requirements for submitting my ~~state~~ plan?

~~60.5760~~ 60.5765 What must I include in an initial submittal ~~in lieu of a complete state~~ if requesting an extension for a final plan submittal?

~~60.5765 What are the state rate-based CO2 emission performance goals?~~

~~60.5770 What is the procedure for converting my state rate-based CO2 emission performance goal to a mass-based CO2 emissions performance goal?~~

~~60.5775~~60.5770 What schedules, performance periods, and compliance periods must I include in my ~~state~~-plan?

~~60.5780~~60.5775 What emission standards ~~and enforcing measures~~ must I include in my plan?

60.5780 What State measures may I rely upon in support of my plan?

60.5785 What is the procedure for revising my ~~state~~-plan?

60.5790 What must I do to meet my plan obligations?

#### Emission Rate Credit Requirements

60.5795 What affected EGUs qualify for generation of ERCs?

60.5800 What other resources qualify for issuance of ERCs?

60.5805 What is the process for the issuance of ERCs?

60.5810 What applicable requirements are there for an ERC tracking system?

#### Mass Allocations Requirements

60.5815 What are the requirements for State allocation of allowances in a mass-based program?

60.5820 What are my allowance tracking requirements?

60.5825 What is the process for affected EGUs to demonstrate compliance in a mass-based program?

#### Evaluation Measurement and Verification Plans and Monitoring and Verification Reports

60.5830 What are the requirements for EM&V plans for eligible resources? 60.5835 What are the requirements for M&V reports for eligible resources?

#### **Applicability of ~~State~~-Plans to Affected EGUs**

~~60.5790~~60.5840 Does this subpart directly affect

EGU owners and operators in my ~~state~~? ~~60.5795~~State? 60.5845 What affected EGUs must I address in my ~~state~~State plan?

~~60.5800~~ ~~What~~60.5850 What EGUs are excluded from being affected EGUs ~~are exempt from my state-~~  
~~plan?~~

60.5855 What are the CO2 emission performance rates for affected EGUs? 60.5860 What applicable monitoring. ~~What applicable monitoring,~~ recordkeeping, and reporting requirements do I need to include in my ~~state~~ plan for affected EGUs?

#### Recordkeeping and Reporting Requirements

~~60.5810~~60.5865 What are my ~~state~~ recordkeeping requirements? ~~requirements?~~

~~60.5815~~60.5870 What are my ~~state~~ reporting and notification requirements? ~~requirements?~~

60.5875 How do I submit information required by these emission guidelines to the EPA?

#### Definitions

~~60.5820~~60.5880 What definitions apply to this subpart?

Table 1 to Subpart UUUU of Part 60—~~State Rate-based~~ CO2 Emission Performance ~~Goals~~Rates (Pounds of CO2 ~~Per~~per Net MWh)

Table 2 to Subpart UUUU of Part 60— Statewide Rate-based CO2 Emission Goals (Pounds of CO2 per Net MWh)

Table 3 to Subpart UUUU of Part 60— Statewide Mass-based CO2 Emission Goals (Short Tons of CO2)

Table 4 to Subpart UUUU of Part 60— Statewide Mass-based CO2 Emission Goals plus New Source CO2 Emission Complement (Short Tons of CO2)

#### Introduction

##### § 60.5700 What is the purpose of this subpart?

This subpart establishes emission guidelines and approval criteria for ~~state~~State or multi-State plans that establish emission standards limiting ~~the control of~~ greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from an affected steam generating unit, integrated gasification combined cycle (IGCC), or stationary combustion turbine. An affected steam generating unit, IGCC, or stationary combustion turbine shall, for the purposes of this subpart, be referred to as an affected EGU. These emission guidelines are developed in accordance with ~~sections~~section 111(d) of the Clean Air Act and subpart B of this part. To the extent

any requirement of this subpart is inconsistent with the requirements of subparts A or B of this part, the requirements of this subpart will apply.

**§ 60.5705 ~~What~~Which pollutants are regulated by this subpart?**

~~(a) The pollutants regulated by this subpart are greenhouse gases.~~

~~(b)~~ (a) The ~~greenhouse gas~~pollutants regulated by this subpart ~~is~~are greenhouse gases. The emission guidelines for greenhouse gases established in this subpart are expressed as carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) emission performance rates and equivalent statewide CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals.

(b) PSD and Title V Thresholds for Greenhouse Gases.

(1) For the purposes of

§ 51.166(b)(49)(ii), with respect to GHG emissions from facilities, the “pollutant that is subject to the standard promulgated under section 111 of the Act” shall be considered to be the pollutant that otherwise is subject to regulation under the Act as defined in

§ 51.166(b)(48) and in any State Implementation Plan (SIP) approved by the EPA that is interpreted to incorporate, or specifically incorporates, § 51.166(b)(48) of this chapter.

(2) For the purposes of

§ 52.21(b)(50)(ii), with respect to GHG emissions from facilities regulated in the plan, the “pollutant that is subject to the standard promulgated under section 111 of the Act” shall be considered to be the pollutant that otherwise is subject to regulation under the Act as defined in § 52.21(b)(49) of this chapter.

(3) For the purposes of § 70.2 of this chapter, with respect to greenhouse gas emissions from facilities regulated in the plan, the “pollutant that is subject to any standard promulgated under section 111 of the Act” shall be considered to be the pollutant that otherwise is “subject to regulation” as defined in § 70.2 of this chapter.

(4) For the purposes of § 71.2, with respect to greenhouse gas emissions from facilities regulated in the plan, the “pollutant that is subject to any standard promulgated under section

111 of the Act” shall be considered to be the pollutant that otherwise is “subject to regulation” as defined in § 71.2 of this chapter.

**§ 60.5710 Am I affected by this subpart?**

~~If you are the Administrator of an air quality program in a state with one or~~

If you are the Governor of a State in the contiguous United States with one or more affected EGUs that commenced construction on or before January 8, 2014, you must submit a ~~state~~State or multi-State plan to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) that implements the emission guidelines contained in this subpart. ~~You must submit a negative declaration letter in place of the state plan if there are~~If you are the Governor of a State in the contiguous United States with no affected EGUs for which construction commenced on or before January 8, 2014, in your ~~state~~State, you must submit a negative declaration letter in place of the State plan.

**§ 60.5715 What is the review and approval process for my ~~state~~ plan?**

The EPA will review your ~~state~~ plan according to § 60.27 except that under § 60.27(b) the Administrator will have ~~twelve~~12 months after the date ~~required for submission of a~~the final plan or plan revision (as allowed under § 60.5785) is submitted, to approve or disapprove such plan or revision or each portion thereof. If you submit ~~a request for extension~~an initial submittal under § ~~60.5760~~60.5765(a) in lieu of a ~~complete state~~final plan submittal the EPA will follow the procedure in § ~~60.5760~~60.5765(b).

**§ 60.5720 What if I do not submit a plan or my plan is not approvable?**

(a) If you do not submit an approvable ~~state~~ plan the EPA will develop a Federal plan for your ~~state~~State according to § 60.27 ~~to~~. The Federal plan will implement the emission guidelines contained in this subpart. Owners and operators of affected ~~entities~~EGUs not covered by an approved ~~state~~ plan must comply with a Federal plan implemented by the EPA for the ~~state~~State. ~~The~~

(b) After a Federal plan ~~is an interim action and will be automatically~~has been implemented in your State, it will be withdrawn when your ~~state~~State submits, and the EPA approves, a final plan ~~is~~approved.

**§ 60.5725** In lieu of a ~~state~~State plan submittal, are there other acceptable option(s) for a ~~state~~State to meet its CAA section 111(d) obligations?

A ~~state~~State may meet its CAA section 111(d) obligations only by submitting a ~~complete state final~~State or multi-State plan submittal or a negative declaration letter (if applicable).

**§ 60.5730** Is there an approval process for a negative declaration letter?

No. The EPA has no formal review process for negative declaration letters. Once your negative declaration letter has been received, the EPA will place a copy in the public docket and publish a notice in the **Federal Register**. If, at a later date, an affected EGU for which construction commenced on or before January 8, 2014 is found in your ~~state~~State, you will be found to have failed to submit a final plan as required, and a Federal plan implementing the emission guidelines contained in this subpart ~~would automatically, when promulgated by the EPA, will~~ apply to that affected EGU until ~~your state~~you submit, and the EPA approves, a final State plan ~~is approved~~.

**§ 60.5735** What authorities will not be delegated to ~~state~~State, local, or tribal agencies?

The authorities that will not be delegated to State, local, or tribal agencies are specified in ~~paragraph~~paragraphs (a) and (b) of this section.

(a) Approval of alternatives, not already approved by this subpart, to the ~~emissions~~CO2 emission performance ~~goals~~rates in Table 1 to this subpart established under § 60.5855. ~~§ 60.5755~~.

~~(b) [Reserved]~~

~~State Plan~~

(b) Approval of alternatives, not already approved by this subpart, to the CO2 emissions goals in Tables 2, 3 and 4 to this subpart established under § 60.5855.

**§ 60.5736** Will the EPA impose any sanctions?

No. The EPA will not withhold any existing federal funds from a State on account of a State's failure to submit, implement, or enforce an approvable plan or plan revision, or to meet any other requirements under this subpart or subpart B of this part.

§ 60.5737 What is the Clean Energy Incentive Program and how do I participate?

(a) This subpart establishes the Clean Energy Incentive Program (CEIP). Participation in this program is optional. The program enables States to award early action emission rate credits (ERCs) and allowances to eligible renewable energy (RE) or demand-side energy efficiency (EE) projects that generate megawatt hours (MWh) or reduce end-use energy demand during 2020 and/or 2021. Eligible projects are those that:

(1) Are located in or benefit a state that has submitted a final state plan that includes requirements establishing its participation in the CEIP; and

(2) Commence construction in the case of RE, or commence operation in the case of demand-side EE, following the submission of a final state plan to the EPA, or after September 6, 2018 for a state that chooses not to submit a final state plan by that date; and either

(3) Generate metered MWh from any type of wind or solar resources; or

(4) Result in quantified and verified electricity savings (MWh) through demand-side EE implemented in low-income communities.

(b) The EPA will award matching ERCs or allowances to States that award early action ERCs or allowances, up to a match limit equivalent to 300 million tons of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. The awards will be executed as follows:

(1) For RE projects that generate metered MWh from wind or solar resources: For every two MWh generated, the project will receive one early action ERC (or the equivalent number of allowances) from the State, and the EPA will provide one matching ERC (or the equivalent number of allowances) to the State to award to the project.

(2) For EE projects implemented in low-income communities: For every two MWh in end-use demand savings achieved, the project will receive two early action ERCs (or the equivalent number of allowances) from the State, and the EPA will provide two matching ERCs (or the equivalent number of allowances) to the State to award to the project.

(c) You may participate in this program by including in your State plan a mechanism that enables issuance of early action ERCs or allowances by the State to parties effectuating reductions

in the calendar years 2020 and/or 2021 in a manner that would have no impact on the emission performance of affected EGUs required to meet rate-based or mass-based emission standards during the performance periods. This mechanism is not required to account for matching ERCs or allowances that may be issued to the State by the EPA.

(d) If you are submitting an initial submittal by September 6, 2016, and you intend to participate in the CEIP, you must include a non-binding statement of intent to participate in the program. If you are submitting a final plan by September 6, 2016, and you intend to participate in the CEIP, your State plan must either include requirements establishing the necessary infrastructure to implement such a program and authorizing your affected EGUs to use early action allowances or ERCs as appropriate, or you must include a non-binding statement of intent as part of your supporting documentation and revise your plan to include the appropriate requirements at a later date.

(e) If you intend to participate in the CEIP, your final State plan, or plan revision if applicable, must require that projects eligible under this program be evaluated, monitored, and verified, and that resulting ERCs or allowances be issued, per applicable requirements of the State plan approved by the EPA as meeting § 60.5805 through § 60.5835.

#### State and Multi-State Plan Requirements

§ 60.5740 What must I include in my ~~state~~federally enforceable State or multi State plan?

~~(a) You must include the elements described in paragraphs (a)(1) through (11) of this section in your state plan.~~

(a) You must include the components described in paragraphs (a)(1) through (5) of this section in your plan submittal. The final plan must meet the requirements and include the information required under § 60.5745.

(1) Identification of affected ~~entities, including~~ EGUs. Consistent with § 60.25(a), you must identify the affected EGUs covered by your plan and all affected EGUs in your State that meet the applicability criteria in § 60.5845. In addition, you must include an inventory of CO<sub>2</sub>



emissions from the affected EGUs during the most recent calendar year for which data is available prior to the submission of the plan ~~for which data is available~~.

~~(2) A description of plan approach and the geographic scope of a plan (state or multi-state), including, if relevant, identification of multi-state plan participants and geographic boundaries related to plan elements.~~

~~(3) Identification of the state emission performance level for affected entities that will be achieved through implementation of the plan.~~

~~(i) The plan must specify the average emissions performance that the plan will achieve for the following periods:~~

~~(A) The 10 year interim plan performance period of 2020 through 2029.~~

~~(B) The single projection year of 2030.~~

(2) Emission standards. You must include an identification of all emission standards for each affected EGU according to § 60.5775, compliance periods for each emission standard according to § 60.5770, and a demonstration that the emission standards, when taken together, achieve the applicable CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rates or CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals described in § 60.5855.

Allowance systems are an acceptable form of emission standards under this subpart.

(i) Your plan does not need to include corrective measures specified in paragraph (a)(2)(ii) of this section if your plan:

(A) Imposes emission standards on all affected EGUs that, assuming full compliance by all affected EGUs, mathematically assure achievement of the CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rates in the plan for each plan period;

(B) Imposes emission standards on all affected EGUS that, assuming full compliance by all affected EGUs, mathematically assure achievement of the CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals; or

(C) Imposes emission standards on all affected EGUs that, assuming full compliance by all affected EGUs, in conjunction with applicable requirements under state law for EGUs subject to subpart TTTT of this subpart, assuming the applicable requirements under state law are met by

all EGUs subject to subpart TTTT of this subpart, achieve the applicable mass-based CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals plus new source CO<sub>2</sub> emission complement allowed for in § 60.5790(b)(5).

(ii) ~~The identified emission performance level for each plan performance period in paragraph~~ If your plan does not meet the requirements of (a)(3)(i) or (iii) of this section, your plan must be equivalent to or better than the levels of the rate-based include the requirement for corrective measures to be implemented if triggered. Upon triggering corrective measures, if you do not already have them included in your approved State plan, you must submit corrective measures to EPA for approval as a plan revision per the requirements of § 60.5785(c). These corrective measures must ensure that the interim period and final period CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance goals in Table 1 of this Subpart for affected entities in your state. The rates or CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals are achieved by your affected EGUs, as applicable, and must achieve additional emission reductions to offset any ~~emission performance levels may be in either a rate-based form or a mass-based form which is calculated according to § 60.5770. The~~ shortfall. Your plan must include the requirement that corrective measures be triggered and implemented according to paragraphs (a)(2)(ii)(A) through (H) of this section.

(A) Your plan must include a trigger for an exceedance of an interim step 1 or interim step 2 CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance level specified must include either of the following as rate or CO<sub>2</sub> emission goal by 10 percent or greater, either on average or cumulatively (if applicable).

(B) Your plan must include a trigger for an exceedance of an interim step 1 goal or interim step 2 goal of 10 percent or greater based on either reported CO<sub>2</sub> emissions with applied plus or minus net allowance export or import adjustments (if applicable), or based on the adjusted CO<sub>2</sub> emission rate (if applicable).

(C) Your plan must include a trigger for a failure to meet an interim period goal based on reported CO<sub>2</sub> emissions with applied plus or minus net allowance export or import adjustments

~~(A) For a rate-based CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance level, the identified level must represent the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions rate, in pounds of CO<sub>2</sub> per MWh of net energy output that will be achieved by affected entities.~~

~~(B) For a mass-based CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance level, the identified level of performance must represent the total tons of CO<sub>2</sub> that will be emitted by affected entities during each plan performance period.~~

~~(iii) For the interim plan performance period you must identify the emission performance levels anticipated under the plan during each year 2020 through 2029.~~

~~(4) A demonstration that the plan is projected to achieve each of the state's emission performance levels for affected entities according to paragraph (a)(3) of this section.~~

~~(5) Identification of emission standards for each affected entity, compliance periods for each emission standard, and demonstration that the emission standards are, when taken together, sufficiently protective to meet the state emissions performance level.~~

~~(6) A demonstration that each emission standard is quantifiable, non-duplicative, permanent, verifiable, and enforceable with respect to an affected entity.~~

(if applicable), or based on the adjusted CO<sub>2</sub> emission rate (if applicable).

(D) Your plan must include a trigger for a failure to meet the interim period or any final reporting period CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rate or CO<sub>2</sub> emission goal, either on average or cumulatively (as applicable).

(E) Your plan must include a trigger for a failure to meet any final reporting period goal based on reported CO<sub>2</sub> emissions with applied plus or minus net allowance export or import adjustments (if applicable).

(F) Your plan must include a trigger for a failure to meet the interim period CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rate or CO<sub>2</sub> emission goal based on the adjusted CO<sub>2</sub> emission rate (if applicable).

(G) Your plan must include a trigger for a failure to meet any final reporting period CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rate or CO<sub>2</sub> emission goal based on the adjusted CO<sub>2</sub> emission rate (if applicable).

(H) A net allowance import adjustment represents the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (in tons) equal to the number of net imported CO<sub>2</sub> allowances. This adjustment is subtracted from reported CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. Under this adjustment, such allowances must be issued by a state with an emission

budget trading program that only applies to affected EGUs (or affected EGUs plus EGUs covered by subpart TTTT of this part as applicable). A net allowance export adjustment represents the CO2 emissions (in tons) equal to the number of net exported CO2 allowances. This adjustment is added to reported CO2 emissions.

~~(7iii) If your state plan does not require achievement of the full level of required emission performance, and the identified interim increments of performance relies upon State measures, in addition to or in lieu of emission standards on your affected EGUs, then the final State plan must include the requirements in paragraph (a)(3)(iii) of this section, through emission limits on EGUs, the plan must specify the following: and the submittal must include the information listed in § 60.5745(a)(6).~~

~~(i) Program implementation milestones (e.g., start of an end-use energy efficiency program, retirement of an affected EGU, or increase in portfolio requirements under a renewable portfolio standard) and milestone dates that are appropriate to the requirements, programs, and measures included in the plan.~~

~~(ii) Corrective measures that will be implemented in the event that the comparison required by § 60.5815(b) of projected versus actual emissions performance of affected entities shows that actual emissions performance is greater than 10 percent in excess to projected plan performance for the period described in § 60.5775(e)(1), and a process and schedule for implementing such corrective measures.~~

(iv) If your plan requires emission standards in addition to relying upon State measures, then you must demonstrate that the emission standards and State measures, when taken together, result in the achievement of the applicable mass-based CO2 emission goal described in § 60.5855 by your State's affected EGUs.

(3) State measures backstop. If your plan relies upon State measures, you must submit, as part of the plan in lieu of the requirements in paragraph (a)(2)(i) and (ii) of this section, a federally enforceable backstop that includes emission standards for affected EGUs that will be put into place, if there is a triggering event listed in paragraph (a)(3)(i) of this section, within 18 months of the due

date of the report required in § 60.5870(b). The emission standards on the affected EGUs as part of the backstop must be able to meet either the CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rates or mass-based or rate-based CO<sub>2</sub> emission goal for your State during the interim and final periods. You must either submit, along with the backstop emission standards, provisions to adjust the emission standards to make up for the prior emission performance shortfall, such that no later plan revision to modify the emission standards is necessary in order to address the emission performance shortfall, or you must submit, as part of the final plan, backstop emission standards that assure affected EGUs would achieve your State's CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rates or emission goals during the interim and final periods, and then later submit appropriate revisions to the backstop emission standards adjusting for the shortfall through the State plan revision process described in § 60.5785. The backstop must also include the requirements in paragraphs (a)(3)(i) through (iii) of this section, as applicable.

(i) You must include a trigger for the backstop to go into effect upon:

(A) A failure to meet a programmatic milestone;

(B) An exceedance of 10 percent or greater of an interim step 1 goal or interim step 2 goal based on reported CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, with applied plus or minus net allowance export or import adjustments (if applicable);

(C) A failure to meet the interim period goal based on reported CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, with applied plus or minus net allowance export or import adjustments (if applicable); or

(D) A failure to meet any final reporting period goal based on reported CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, with applied plus or minus net allowance export or import adjustments (if applicable).

(ii) You may include in your plan any additional triggers so long as they do not reduce the stringency of the triggers required under paragraph (a)(3)(i) of this section.

(iii) You must include a schedule for implementation of the backstop once triggered, and you must identify all necessary State administrative and technical procedures for implementing the backstop.

(84) Identification of applicable monitoring, reporting, and recordkeeping requirements for each affected entity. If EGU, you must include in your plan all applicable, ~~these requirements must be~~

~~consistent with the requirements specified in § 60.5810.~~ monitoring, reporting and recordkeeping requirements for each affected EGU and the requirements must be consistent with or no less stringent than the requirements specified in § 60.5860.

~~(95) Description~~ State reporting. You must include in your plan a description of the process, contents, and schedule for ~~annual state~~ State reporting to the EPA about plan implementation and progress, including information required under § ~~60.5815~~ 60.5870.

(i) You must include in your plan a requirement for a report to be submitted by July 1, 2021, that demonstrates that the State has met, or is on track to meet, the programmatic milestone steps indicated in the timeline required in § 60.5770.

(b) You must follow the requirements of subpart B of this part and demonstrate that they were met in your State plan. However, the provisions of § 60.24(f) shall not apply.

#### § 60.5745 What must I include in my final plan submittal?

(a) In addition to the components of the plan listed in § 60.5740, a final plan submittal to the EPA must include the information in paragraphs (a)(1) through (13) of this section. This information must be submitted to the EPA as part of your final plan submittal but will not be codified as part of the federally enforceable plan upon approval by EPA.

(1) You must include a description of your plan approach and the geographic scope of the plan (i.e., State or multi-State, geographic boundaries related to the plan elements), including, if applicable, identification of multi-State plan participants.

(2) You must identify CO2 emission performance rates or equivalent statewide CO2 emission goals that your affected EGUs will achieve. If the geographic scope of your plan is a single State, then you must identify CO2 emission performance rates or emission goals according to § 60.5855. If your plan includes multiple States and you elect to set CO2 emission goals, you must identify CO2 emission goals calculated according to § 60.5750.

(i) You must specify in the plan submittal the CO2 emission performance rates or emission goals that affected EGUs will meet for the interim period, each interim step, and the final period (including each final reporting period) pursuant to § 60.5770.

(ii) [Reserved]

(3) You must include a demonstration that the affected EGUs covered by the plan are projected to achieve the CO2 emission performance rates or CO2 emission goals described in § 60.5855.

(4) You must include a demonstration that each affected EGU's emission standard is quantifiable, non-duplicative, permanent, verifiable, and enforceable according to § 60.5775.

(5) If your plan includes emission standards on your affected EGUs sufficient to meet either the CO2 emission performance rates or CO2 emission goals, you must include in your plan submittal the information in paragraphs (a)(5)(i) through (v) of this section as applicable.

(i) If your plan applies separate rate-based CO2 emission standards for affected EGUs (in lbs CO2/MWh) that are equal to or lower than the CO2 emission performance rates listed in Table 1 of this subpart or uniform rate-based CO2 emission standards equal to or lower than the rate-based CO2 emission goals listed in Table 2 of this subpart, then no additional demonstration is required beyond inclusion of the emission standards in the plan.

(ii) If a plan applies rate-based emission standards to individual affected EGUs at a lbs CO2/MWh rate that differs from the CO2 emission performance rates in Table 1 of this subpart or the State's rate-based CO2 emission goal in Table 2 of this subpart, then a further demonstration is required that the application of the CO2 emission standards will achieve the CO2 emission performance rates or State rate-based CO2 emission goal. You must demonstrate through a projection that the adjusted weighted average CO2 emission rate of affected EGUs, when weighted by generation (in MWh), will be equal to or less than the CO2 emission performance rates or the rate-based CO2 emission goal. This projection must address the interim period and the final period. The projection in the plan submittal must include the information listed in paragraph (a)(5)(v) of this section and in addition the following:

(A) An analysis of the change in generation of affected EGUs given the compliance costs and incentives under the application of different emission rate standards across affected EGUs in a State;

(B) A projection showing how generation is expected to shift between affected EGUs and across affected EGUs and non-affected EGUs over time;

(C) Assumptions regarding the availability and anticipated use of the MWh of electricity generation or electricity savings from eligible resources that can be issued ERCs;

(D) The specific calculation (or assumption) of how eligible resource MWh of electricity generation or savings are being used in the projection to adjust the reported CO<sub>2</sub> emission rate of affected EGUs;

(E) If a state plan provides for the ability of renewable energy resources located in states with mass-based plans to be issued ERCs, consideration in the projection that such resources must meet geographic eligibility requirements, consistent with § 60.5800(a); and

(F) Any other applicable assumptions used in the projection.

(iii) If a plan establishes mass-based emission standards for affected EGUs that cumulatively do not exceed the State's EPA-specified mass CO<sub>2</sub> emission goal, then no additional demonstration is required beyond inclusion of the emission standards in the plan.

(iv) If a plan applies mass-based emission standards to individual affected EGUs that cumulatively exceed the State's EPA-specified mass CO<sub>2</sub> emission goal, then you must include a demonstration that your mass-based emission program will be designed such that compliance by affected EGUs would achieve the State mass-based CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals. This demonstration includes the information listed in paragraph (a)(5)(v) of this section.

(v) Your plan demonstration to be included in your plan submittal, if applicable, must include the information listed in paragraphs (a)(5)(v)(A) through (L) of this section.

(A) A summary of each affected EGU's anticipated future operation characteristics, including:

(1) Annual generation;

(2) CO<sub>2</sub> emissions;



- (3) Fuel use, fuel prices (when applicable), fuel carbon content;
- (4) Fixed and variable operations and maintenance costs (when applicable);
- (5) Heat rates; and
- (6) Electric generation capacity and capacity factors.
- (B) An identification of any planned new electric generating capacity.
- (C) Analytic treatment of the potential for building unplanned new electric generating capacity.
- (D) A timeline for implementation of EGU-specific actions (if applicable).
- (E) All wholesale electricity prices.
- (F) A geographic representation appropriate for capturing impacts and/or changes in the electric system.
- (G) A time period of analysis, which must extend through at least 2031.
- (H) An anticipated electricity demand forecast (MWh load and MW peak demand) at the State and regional level, including the source and basis for these estimates, and, if appropriate, justification and documentation of underlying assumptions that inform the development of the demand forecast (e.g., annual economic and demand growth rate or population growth rate).
- (I) A demonstration that each emission standard included in your plan meets the requirements of § 60.5775.
- (J) Any ERC or emission allowance prices, when applicable.
- (K) An identification of planning reserve margins.
- (L) Any other applicable assumptions used in the projection.
- (6) If your plan relies upon State measures, in addition to or in lieu of the emission standards required by paragraph § 60.5740(a)(2), the final State plan submittal must include the information under paragraphs (a)(5)(v) and (a)(6)(i) through (v) of this section.
  - (i) You must include a description of all the State measures the State will rely upon to achieve the applicable CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals required under

§ 60.5855(e), the projected impacts of the State measures over time, the applicable State laws or regulations related to such measures, and identification of parties or entities subject to or implementing such State measures.

(ii) You must include the schedule and milestones for the implementation of the State measures. If the State measures in your plan submittal rely upon measures that do not have a direct effect on the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions measured at an affected EGU's stack, you must also demonstrate how the minimum emission, monitoring and verification (EM&V) requirements listed under § 60.5795 that apply to those programs and projects will be met.

(iii) You must demonstrate that federally enforceable emission standards for affected EGUs in conjunction with any State measures relied upon for your plan, are sufficient to achieve the mass-based CO<sub>2</sub> emission goal for the interim period, each interim step in that interim period, the final period, and each final reporting period. In addition, you must demonstrate that each emission standard included in your plan meets the requirements of § 60.5775 and each State measure included in your plan submittal meets the requirements of § 60.5780.

(iv) You must include a CO<sub>2</sub> performance projection of your State measures that shows how the measures, whether alone or in conjunction with any federally enforceable CO<sub>2</sub> emission standards for affected EGUs, will result in the achievement of the future CO<sub>2</sub> performance at affected EGUs. Elements of this projection must include those specified in paragraph (a)(5)(v) of this section, as applicable, and the following for the interim period and the final period:

(A) A baseline demand and supply forecast as well as the underlying assumptions and data sources of each forecast;

(B) The magnitude of energy and emission impacts from all measures included in the plan and applicable assumptions;

(C) An identification of State-enforceable measures with electricity savings and RE generation, in MWh, expected for individual and collective measures and any assumptions related to the quantification of the MWh, as applicable.

(7) Your plan submittal must include a demonstration that the reliability of the electrical grid has been considered in the development of your plan.

(8) Your plan submittal must include a timeline with all the programmatic milestone steps the State intends to take between the time of the State plan submittal and January 1, 2022 to ensure the plan is effective as of January 1, 2022.

(9) Your plan submittal must adequately demonstrate that your State has the legal authority (e.g., through regulations or legislation) and funding to implement and enforce each component of the State plan submittal, including federally enforceable emission standards for affected EGUs, and State measures as applicable.

(10) Your State plan submittal must demonstrate that each interim step goal required under § 60.5855(c), will be met and include in its supporting documentation, if applicable, a description of the analytic process, tools, methods, and assumptions used to make this demonstration.

~~(10) Certification that the~~ (11) Your plan submittal must include certification that a hearing required under § 60.23(c)(1) on the ~~state~~ State plan was held, a list of witnesses and their organizational affiliations, if any, appearing at the hearing, and a brief written summary of each presentation or written submission, pursuant to the requirements of § 60.23(d) and (f).

(12) Your plan submittal must include documentation of any conducted community outreach and community involvement, including engagement with vulnerable communities.

~~(11) Supporting~~ (13) Your plan submittal must include supporting material for your plan including:

(i) Materials demonstrating the ~~state's~~ State's legal authority ~~to carry out~~ and funding to implement and enforce each component of its plan, including emissions standards and/or State measures that the plan relies upon;

(ii) Materials supporting that the ~~projected emissions~~ CO2 emission performance ~~level that~~ rates or CO2 emission goals will be achieved by

affected ~~entities~~ EGUs identified under the plan, according to paragraph (a)(~~4~~) of this section;

- (iii) Materials supporting ~~the projected mass-based~~ any calculations for CO<sub>2</sub> emission ~~performance goal, goals~~ calculated ~~pursuant~~ according to § ~~60.5770~~ 60.5855, if applicable; and
- (iv) ~~Materials~~ Any other materials necessary to support evaluation of the plan by the EPA.
- (b) You must ~~follow the requirements of subpart B of this part (Adoption and Submittal of state plans for Designated Facilities) and demonstrate that they were met in your state plans~~ submit your final plan to the EPA electronically according to § 60.5875.

§ ~~60.5745~~ 60.5750 Can I work with other ~~states~~ States to develop a ~~multi-state~~ multi-State plan?

A multi-State plan must include all the required elements for a plan specified in § 60.5740(a). A multi-State plan must meet the requirements of paragraphs (a) and (b) of this section.

(a) The multi-State plan must demonstrate that all affected EGUs in all participating States will meet the CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rates listed in Table 1 of this subpart or an equivalent CO<sub>2</sub> emission goal according to paragraphs (a)(1) or (2) of this section. States may only follow the procedures in (a)(1) or (2) if they have functionally equivalent requirements meeting § 60.5775 and § 60.5790 included in their plans.

~~A multi-state plan may be submitted, provided it is signed by authorized officials for each of the states participating in the multi-state plan. In this instance, the joint submittal will have the same legal effect as an individual submittal for each participating state. A multi-state plan will include all the required elements for a single state plan specified in § 60.5740(a). A multi-state plan, if submitted by a state, must:~~

~~(a) Demonstrate CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance jointly for all affected entities in all states participating in the multi-state plan, as follows:~~

~~(1) For states demonstrating~~

(1) For States electing to demonstrate performance ~~based on the~~ with a CO<sub>2</sub> emission ~~rate, the level of performance~~ rate-based goal, the CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals identified in the ~~multi-state~~ plan ~~pursuant~~ according to § ~~60.5740(a)(3)~~ 60.5855 will be ~~a~~ an adjusted weighted (by net energy output)

average ~~lb~~lbs CO<sub>2</sub>/ MWh emission rate to be achieved by all affected EGUs in the ~~multi-state~~multi-State area during the plan ~~performance period~~periods; or

(2) For ~~states demonstrating performance based on~~States electing to demonstrate performance with a CO<sub>2</sub> emission mass-based goal, the CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals identified in the multi-State plan according to § 60.5855 will be total mass CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, ~~the level of performance identified in the multi-state plan pursuant to 60.5740(a)(3) will be total CO<sub>2</sub> emissions~~ by all affected EGUs in the ~~multi-state~~multi-State area during the plan ~~performance period~~periods, representing the sum of all individual mass CO<sub>2</sub> goals for states participating in the multi-state plan.

~~(b) Assign among states, according to a formula in the multi-state plan, avoided CO<sub>2</sub> emissions resulting from emission standards contained in the plan, from affected entities in states participating in the multi-state plan.~~

~~§ 60.5750 Can I include existing requirements, programs, and measures in my state plan?~~

~~(a) Yes, you may include existing requirements, programs and measures in your plan according to paragraphs (b) through (d) of this section.~~

~~(b) Existing state programs, requirements, and measures, may qualify for use in demonstrating that a state plan achieves the required level of emission performance specified in a plan, according to § 60.5740(a)(3).~~

(b) Options for submitting a multi-State plan include the following:

(1) States participating in a multi-State plan may submit one multi-State plan submittal on behalf of all participating States. The joint submittal must be signed electronically, according to § 60.5875, by authorized officials for each of the States participating in the multi-State plan. In this instance, the joint submittal will have the same legal effect as an individual submittal for each participating State. The joint submittal must address plan components that apply jointly for all participating States and components that apply for each individual State in the multi-State plan, including necessary State legal authority to implement the plan, such as State regulations and statutes.

(2) States participating in a multi-State plan may submit a single plan submittal, signed by authorized officials from each participating State, which addresses common plan elements. Each participating State must, in addition, provide individual plan submittals that address State-specific elements of the multi-State plan.

(3) States participating in a multi-State plan may separately make individual submittals that address all elements of the multi-State plan. The plan submittals must be materially consistent for all common plan elements that apply to all participating States, and also must address individual State-specific aspects of the multi-State plan. Each individual State plan submittal must address all required plan components in § 60.5740.

~~(c) Existing state programs, requirements, and measures, may qualify for use in projecting that a state plan will achieve the required level of emission performance specified in a plan, according to § 60.5740(a)(4).~~ A State may elect to participate in more than one multi-State plan. If your State elects to participate in more than one multi-State plan then you must identify in the State plan submittal required under § 60.5745, the subset of affected EGUs that are subject to the specific multi-State plan or your State's individual plan. An affected EGU can only be subject to one plan.

(d) A State may elect to allow its affected EGUs to interact with affected EGUs in other States through mass-based trading programs or a rate-based trading program without entering into a formal multi-State plan allowed for under this section, so long as such programs are part of an EPA-approved state plan and meet the requirements of paragraphs (d)(1) and (2) of this section, as applicable.

~~(d) Emission impacts of existing programs, requirements, and measures that occur during a plan performance period may be recognized in meeting or projecting CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance by affected EGUs according to § 60.5740(a)(3) and (4), as long as they meet the following requirements:~~

~~(1) Actions taken pursuant to an existing state program, requirement, or measure, such as compliance with a regulatory obligation or initiation of an action related to a program or measure, must occur after June 18, 2014; and~~ For States that elect to do mass-based trading under this

option the State must indicate in its plan that its emission budget trading program will be administered using an EPA-approved (or EPA-administered) emission and allowance tracking system.

~~(2) The existing state program, requirement, or measure, and any related actions taken pursuant to such program, requirement, or measure, meet the applicable requirements pursuant to § 60.5740(a) and § 60.5780.~~ For States that elect to use a rate-based trading program which allows the affected EGUs to use ERCs from other State rate-based trading programs, the plan must require affected EGUs within their State to comply with emission standards equal to the sub-category CO2 emission performance rates in Table 1 of this subpart.

~~§ 60.5755 What are the timing~~

§ 60.5760 What are the timing requirements for submitting my ~~state~~ plan?

(a) You must submit ~~your state~~ a final plan with the information ~~in § 60.5740 by June 30, 2016 unless you are submitting a request for extension according to paragraphs (b) or (c) of this section.~~ required under § 60.5745 by September 6, 2016, unless you are submitting an initial submittal allowed under § 60.5765, in lieu of a final State plan submittal, according to paragraph (b) of this section.

(b) For ~~a state~~ States seeking a ~~one~~ two year extension for a ~~complete~~ final plan submittal, you must include the information in § ~~60.5760~~ 60.5765(a) in ~~a~~ an initial submittal by ~~June 30~~ September 6, 2016, to receive an extension to submit your ~~complete state~~ final State plan submittal by ~~June 30~~ September 6, ~~2017~~ 2018.

(c) ~~For states in a multi-state plan seeking a two-year extension for a complete plan submittal you must include the information in § 60.5760(a) in a submittal by June 30, 2016 to receive an extension to submit your complete multi-state plan by June 30, 2018.~~ You must submit all information required under paragraphs (a) and (b) of this section according to the electronic reporting requirements in § 60.5875.

§ ~~60.5760~~60.5765 What must I include in an initial submittal ~~in lieu of a complete state if~~  
requesting an extension for a final plan submittal?

(a) You must ~~include~~sufficiently demonstrate that your State is able to undertake steps and  
processes necessary to timely submit a final plan by the extended date of September 6, 2018, by  
addressing the following required ~~elements~~components in an initial submittal ~~in lieu of a complete-~~  
~~state~~by September 6, 2016, if requesting an extension for a final plan submittal:

(1) ~~A description of the~~An identification of final plan approach ~~and~~or approaches under consideration  
and a description of progress made to date ~~in developing each of on~~ the final plan ~~elements in §~~  
~~60.5740~~components;

~~(2) An initial projection of the level of emission performance that will be achieved under the~~  
~~complete plan;~~

~~(3) A commitment by the state to maintain existing state programs and measures that limit or avoid~~  
~~CO2 emissions from affected entities (e.g., renewable energy standards, unit-specific limits on~~  
~~operation or fuel utilization), which must at a minimum apply during the interim period prior~~  
~~to state submission and EPA approval of a complete plan, and must continue to apply in lieu of~~  
~~a complete plan if one is ultimately not submitted and approved;~~

~~(4) Justification of why~~An appropriate explanation of why the State requires additional time ~~is~~  
~~needed~~ to submit a ~~complete~~final plan by September 6, 2018; and

~~(5) A comprehensive roadmap for completing the plan, including process, analytical methods~~  
~~and schedule (including milestones) specifying when all necessary plan components will be~~  
~~complete (e.g., projection of emission performance; implementing legislation, regulations and~~  
~~agreements; necessary approvals);~~

~~(6) Identification of existing and future programs, requirements, and measures the state~~  
~~intends to include in the plan;~~

~~(7) If a multi-state plan is being developed, an executed agreement(s) with other states (e.g.,~~  
~~MOU) participating in the development of the multistate plan; and~~



~~(8)~~ A ~~commitment to submit a complete plan by June 30, 2017, for a single state plan, or June 30, 2018, for a multi-state plan, and actions the state will take to show progress in addressing incomplete plan components prior to submittal of the complete~~ demonstration or description of the opportunity for public comment on the initial submittal and meaningful engagement with stakeholders, including vulnerable communities, during the time in preparation of the initial submittal and the plans for engagement during development of the final plan.

~~(9) A description of all steps the state has already taken in furtherance of actions needed to finalize a complete plan.~~

~~(10) Evidence of an opportunity for public comment and a response to any significant comments received on issues relating to the approvability of the initial plan.~~

(b) You must submit ~~either a complete state plan or~~ an initial submittal ~~by June 30, 2016.~~ Where allowed in paragraph (a) of this section, information required under paragraph (c) of this section (only if a State elects to submit an initial submittal ~~is submitted in lieu of a complete state plan the due date of a complete state plan will be June 30, 2017, for a single state plan, or June 30, 2018, for a multistate plan~~ to request an extension for a final plan submittal), and a final State plan submittal according to § 60.5870. If a State submits an initial submittal, an extension for a final State plan submittal is considered granted and a final State plan submittal is due according to § 60.5760(b) unless a ~~state~~ State is notified within ~~60~~ 90 days of the EPA receiving the initial submittal ~~in paragraph (a) of this section~~ that the EPA finds the initial submittal does not meet the requirements listed in paragraph (a) of this section. If the EPA notifies the State that the initial submittal does not meet such requirements, the EPA will also notify the State that it has failed to submit the final plan required by September 6, 2016.

(c) If an extension for submission of a final plan has been granted, you must submit a progress report by September 6, 2017. The 2017 report must include the following:

~~§ 60.5765 What are the state rate-based CO<sub>2</sub> emissions performance goals?~~

~~(a) The annual average state rate-based CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance goals for the interim performance periods of 2020 through 2029, and the final 2030 and thereafter period are respectively listed in Table 1 of this Subpart. The state rate-based CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance goal may be converted to a mass-based emission performance goal according to § 60.5770.~~

~~(b) [Reserved]~~

~~§ 60.5770 What is the procedure for converting my state rate-based CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance goal to a mass-based CO<sub>2</sub> emissions performance goal?~~

~~(a) If the plan adopts a mass-based goal according to § 60.5740(a)(3), the plan must identify the mass-based goal, in tons of CO<sub>2</sub> emitted by affected EGUs over the plan performance period, and include a description of the analytic process, tools, methods, and assumptions used to convert from the rate-based goal for the state identified in Table 1 of this Subpart to an equivalent mass-based goal. The conversion process must include following requirements:~~

~~(1) The process, tools, methods, and assumptions used in the conversion of the rate-based goal must be included in your state plan according to § 60.5740(a)(11). A summary of the status of each component of the final plan, including an update from the 2016 initial submittal and a list of which final plan components are not complete.~~

~~(2) The material supporting the conversion of the rate-based goal, including results, data, and descriptions, must be include in a state plan according to § 60.5740(a)(11). A commitment to a plan approach (e.g., single or multi-State, rate-based or mass-based emission performance level, rate-based or mass-based emission standards), including draft or proposed legislation and/or regulations.~~

~~(3) An updated comprehensive roadmap with a schedule and milestones for completing the final plan, including any updates to community engagement undertaken and planned.~~

~~(3) The conversion must represent the tons of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions that are projected to be emitted by affected EGUs, in the absence of emission standards contained in the plan, if the affected EGUs were to perform at an average lb CO<sub>2</sub>/MWh rate equal to the rate-based goal for the state identified in Table 1 of this Subpart.~~

~~(b) [Reserved]~~

§ ~~60.5775~~ 60.5770 What schedules, performance periods, and compliance periods must I include in my ~~state~~-plan?

(a) The affected EGUs covered by your plan must meet the CO2 emission requirements required under § 60.5855 for the interim period, interim steps, and the final reporting periods according to paragraph (b) of this section. You must also include in your plan compliance periods for each affected EGU regulated under the plan according to paragraphs (c) and (d) of this section.

(b) Your plan must require your affected EGUs to achieve each CO2 emission performance rate or CO2 emission goal, as applicable, required under § 60.5855 over the periods according to paragraphs (b)(1) through (3) of this section.

(1) The interim period.

(2) Each interim step.

(3) Each final reporting period.

~~(c) Your state~~ The emission standards for affected EGUs regulated under the plan must include ~~a~~ schedule of the following compliance ~~for each~~ periods:

(1) For the interim period, affected EGUs must have emission standards that have compliance periods that are no longer than each interim step and are imposed for the entirety of the interim step either alone or in combination.

(2) For the final period, affected EGUs must have emission standards that have compliance periods that are no longer than each final reporting period and are imposed for the entirety of the final reporting period either alone or in combination.

(3) Compliance periods for each interim step and each final reporting period may take forms shorter than specified in this regulation, provided the schedules of compliance collectively end on the same schedule as each interim step and final reporting period.

(d) If your plan relies upon State measures in lieu of or in addition to emission standards for affected EGUs regulated under the plan, then the performance periods must be identical to the

compliance periods for affected EGUs listed in paragraphs (c)(1) through (3) of this section.

~~affected entity regulated under the plan.~~

~~(b) Your state plan must include compliance periods, as defined in section § 60.5820, for each affected entity regulated under the plan.~~

~~(c) For the interim performance period of 2020–2029 your state must meet the requirements in paragraphs (c)(1) and (2) of this section.~~

~~(1) Your state plan must include increments of emissions performance (either rate based or mass based with respect to the interim level of performance set in the state plan) within the interim performance period for every 2–rolling calendar years starting January 1, 2020 and ending in 2028 (i.e. 2020–2021, 2021–2022, 2022–2023, etc.), unless other periods that ensure regular progress in the interim period are approved by the Administrator.~~

~~(2) At the end of 2029 your state must meet the interim emissions performance level specified in § 60.5740(a)(3) as averaged over the plan performance period 2020–2029.~~

~~(d) During the final performance period, 2030 and thereafter, your state must meet the final emission performance level specified in § 60.5740(a)(3) on a 3–calendar year rolling average starting January 1, 2030 (i.e., 2030–2032, 2031–2033, 2032–2034, etc.).~~

~~(e) You must include the provisions of your state plan which demonstrate progress and compliance with the requirements in this § 60.5775 and § 60.5740 in your state’s annual report required in § 60.5815.~~

**§ 60.5780**60.5775 What emission standards ~~and enforcing measures~~ must I include in my plan?

(a) ~~Your state plan shall include emission~~ Emission standard(s) ~~that are~~ for affected EGUs included under your plan must be demonstrated to be quantifiable, verifiable, non-duplicative, permanent, and enforceable with respect to each affected ~~entity~~ EGU. The plan ~~shall~~ submittal must include the methods by which each emission standard meets each of the following requirements in paragraphs (b) through (f) of this section.

(b) An affected EGU's emission standard is quantifiable ~~with respect to an affected entity~~ if it can be reliably measured, in a manner that can be replicated.

(c) An affected EGU's emission standard is verifiable ~~with respect to an affected entity~~ if adequate monitoring, recordkeeping and reporting requirements are in place to enable the ~~state~~ State and the Administrator to independently evaluate, measure, and verify compliance with the emission standard.

(d) An affected EGU's emission standard is non-duplicative with respect to ~~an affected entity~~ a State plan if it is not already incorporated as an emission standard in another ~~state~~ State plan unless incorporated in ~~multi-state~~ multi-State plan.

(e) An affected EGU's emission standard is permanent ~~with respect to an affected entity~~ if the emission standard must be met for each compliance period, ~~or~~ unless it is replaced by another emission standard in an approved plan revision, or the ~~state~~ State demonstrates in an ~~approved~~ approvable plan revision that the emission reductions from the emission standard are no longer necessary for the ~~state~~ State to meet its ~~state~~ State level of performance.

(f) An affected EGU's emission standard is enforceable if: ~~enforceable against an affected entity if:~~

(1) A technically accurate limitation or requirement and the time period for the limitation or requirement ~~is~~ are specified;

(2) Compliance requirements are clearly defined;

(3) The affected ~~entities~~ EGUs responsible for compliance and liable for violations can be identified;

(4) Each compliance activity or measure is enforceable as a practical matter; and

(5) The Administrator ~~and~~, the ~~state~~ State, and third parties maintain the ability to enforce against violations (including if an affected EGU does not meet its emission standard based on its emissions, its allowances if it is subject to a mass-based emission standard, or its ERCs if it is subject to a rate-based emission standard) and secure appropriate corrective actions, in the case of the Administrator pursuant to CAA sections 113(a) ~~through~~ (h) ~~of the Act~~, in the case of a State, pursuant to its plan, State law or CAA section 304, as applicable, and in the case of third parties, pursuant to CAA section 304.

§ 60.5780 What State measures may I rely upon in support of my plan?

You may rely upon State measures in support of your plan that are not emission standard(s) on affected EGUs, provided those State measures meet the requirements in paragraph (a) of this section.

(a) Each State measure is quantifiable, verifiable, non-duplicative, permanent, and enforceable with respect to each affected entity (e.g., entities other than affected EGUs with no federally enforceable obligations under a State plan), and your plan supporting materials include the methods by which each State measure meets each of the following requirements in paragraphs (a)(1) through (5) of this section.

(1) A State measure is quantifiable with respect to an affected entity if it can be reliably measured in a manner that can be replicated.

(2) A State measure is verifiable with respect to an affected entity if adequate monitoring, recordkeeping and reporting requirements are in place to enable the State to independently evaluate, measure, and verify compliance with the State measure.

(3) A State measure is non-duplicative with respect to an affected entity if it is not already incorporated as a State measure or an emission standard in another State plan or State plan supporting material unless incorporated in a multi-State plan.

(4) A State measure is permanent with respect to an affected entity if the State measure must be met for at least each compliance period, or unless either it is replaced by another State measure in an approved plan revision, or the State demonstrates in an approved plan revision that the emission reductions from the State measure are no longer necessary for the State's affected EGUs to meet their mass-based CO<sub>2</sub> emission goal.

(5) A State measure is enforceable against an affected entity if:

(i) A technically accurate limitation or requirement and the time period for the limitation or requirement are specified;

(ii) Compliance requirements are clearly defined;

(iii) The affected entities responsible for compliance and liable for violations can be identified;

(iv) Each compliance activity or measure is enforceable as a practical matter; and

(v) The State maintains the ability to enforce violations and secure appropriate corrective actions.

(b) [Reserved]

**§ 60.5785 What is the procedure for revising my ~~state~~ plan?**

~~State plans can only be revised with approval by the Administrator. If one (or more) of the elements of the state plan set in § 60.5740 require revision with respect to reaching the emission performance goal set in § 60.5765 a request may be submitted to the Administrator indicating the proposed corrections to the state plan to ensure the emission performance goal is met.~~

(a) EPA-approved plans can be revised only with approval by the Administrator. The Administrator will approve a plan revision if it is satisfactory with respect to the applicable requirements of this subpart and any applicable requirements of subpart B of this part, including the requirement in § 60.5745(a)(3) to demonstrate achievement of the CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rates or CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals in § 60.5855. If one (or more) of the elements of the plan set in § 60.5740 require revision with respect to achieving the CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rates or CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals in § 60.5855, a request must be submitted to the Administrator indicating the proposed revisions to the plan to ensure the CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rates or CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals are met. In addition, the following provisions in paragraphs (b) through (d) of this section may apply.

(b) You may submit revisions to a plan to adjust CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals according to § 60.5855(d).

(c) If your State is required to submit a notification according to § 60.5870(d) indicating a triggering of corrective measures as described in § 60.5740(a)(2)(i) and your plan does not already include corrective measures to be implemented if triggered, you must revise your State plan to include corrective measures to be implemented. The corrective measures must ensure achievement of the CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rates or State CO<sub>2</sub> emission goal. Additionally, the corrective measures must achieve additional CO<sub>2</sub> emission reductions to offset any CO<sub>2</sub> emission

performance shortfall relative to the overall interim period or final period CO2 emission performance rate or State CO2 emission goal. The State plan revision submission must explain how the corrective measures both make up for the shortfall and address the State plan deficiency that caused the shortfall. The State must submit the revised plan and explanation to the EPA within 24 months after submitting the State report required in § 60.5870(a) indicating the CO2 emission performance deficiency in lieu of the requirements of § 60.28(a). The State must implement corrective measures within 6 months of the EPA's approval of a plan revision adding them. The shortfall must be made up as expeditiously as practicable.

(d) If your plan relies upon State measures, your backstop is triggered under § 60.5740(a)(3)(i), and your State measures plan backstop does not include a mechanism to make up the shortfall, you must revise your backstop emission standards to make up the shortfall. The shortfall must be made up as expeditiously as practicable.

(e) Reliability Safety Valve:

(1) In order to trigger a reliability safety valve, you must notify the EPA within 48 hours of an unforeseen, emergency situation that threatens reliability, such that your State will need a short-term modification of emission standards under a State plan for a specified affected EGU or EGUs. The EPA will consider the notification in § 60.5870(g)(1) to be an approved short-term modification to the State plan without needing to go through the full State plan revision process if the State provides a second notification to the EPA within seven days of the first notification. The short-term modification under a reliability safety valve allows modification to emission standards under the State plan for an affected EGU or EGUs for an initial period of up to 90 days. During that period of time, the affected EGU or EGUs will need to comply with the modified emission standards identified in the initial notification required under § 60.5870(g)(1) or amended in the second notification required under § 60.5870(g)(2). For the duration of the up to 90-day short-term modification, the CO2 emissions of the affected EGU or EGUs that exceed their obligations under the originally approved State plan will not be counted against the State's CO2 emission performance rate or CO2 emission goal. The EPA reserves the right to review any such



notification required under § 60.5870(g), and, in the event that the EPA finds such notification is improper, the EPA may disallow the short-term modification and affected EGUs must continue to operate under the approved State plan emission standards. As described more fully in § 60.5870(g)(3), at least seven days before the end of the initial 90-day reliability safety valve period, the State must notify the appropriate EPA regional office whether the reliability concern has been addressed and the affected EGU or EGUs can resume meeting the original emission standards established in the State plan prior to the short-term modification or whether a serious, ongoing reliability issue necessitates the affected EGU or EGUs emitting beyond the amount allowed under the State plan.

(2) Plan revisions submitted pursuant to § 60.5870(g)(3) must meet the requirements for State plan revisions under § 60.5785(a).

#### § 60.5790 What must I do to meet my plan obligations?

(a) To meet your plan obligations, you must demonstrate that your affected EGUs are complying with their emission standards as specified in § 60.5740, and you must demonstrate that the emission standards on affected EGUs, alone or in conjunction with any State measures, are resulting in achievement of the CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rates or statewide CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals by affected EGUs using the procedures in paragraphs (b) through (d) of this section. If your plan requires the use of allowances for your affected EGUs to comply with their mass-based emission standards, you must follow the requirements under paragraph (b) of this section and § 60.5830. If your plan requires the use of ERCs for your affected EGUs to comply with their rate-based emission standards, you must follow the requirements under paragraphs (c) and (d) of this section and §§ 60.5795 through 60.5805.

(b) If you submit a plan that sets a mass-based emission trading program for your affected EGUs, the State plan must include emission standards and requirements that specify the allowance system, related compliance requirements and mechanisms, and the emission budget as

appropriate. These requirements must include those listed in paragraphs (b)(1) through (5) of this section.

(1) CO2 emission monitoring, reporting, and recordkeeping requirements for affected EGUs.

(2) Requirements for State allocation of allowances consistent with § 60.5815.

(3) Requirements for tracking of allowances, from issuance through submission for compliance, consistent with § 60.5820.

(4) The process for affected EGUs to demonstrate compliance (allowance “true-up” with reported CO2 emissions) consistent with § 60.5825.

(5) Requirements that address potential increased CO2 emissions from new sources, beyond the emissions expected from new sources if affected EGUs were given emission standards in the form of the subcategory-specific CO2 emission performance rates. You may meet this requirement by requiring one of the options under paragraphs (b)(5)(i) through (iii) of this section.

(i) You may include, as part of your plan’s supporting documentation, requirements enforceable as a matter of State law regulating CO2 emissions from EGUs covered by subpart TTTT of this part under the mass-based CO2 goal plus new source CO2 emission complement applicable to your State in Table 4 of this subpart. If you choose this option, the term “mass-based CO2 goal plus new source CO2 emission complement” shall apply rather than “CO2 mass-based goal” and the term “CO2 emission goal” shall include “mass-based CO2 goal plus new source CO2 emission complement” in these emission guidelines.

(ii) You may include requirements in your State plan for emission budget allowance allocation methods that align incentives to generate to affected EGUs or EGUs covered by subpart TTTT of this part that result in the affected EGUs meeting the mass-based CO2 emission goal;

(iii) You may submit for the EPA’s approval, an equivalent method which requires affected EGUs to meet the mass-based CO2 emission goal. The EPA will evaluate the approvability of such an alternative method on a case by case basis.

(c) If you submit a plan that sets rate-based emission standards on your affected EGUs, to meet the requirements of § 60.5775, you must follow the requirements in paragraphs (c)(1) through (4) of this section.

(1) You must require the owner or operator of each affected EGU covered by your plan to calculate an adjusted CO<sub>2</sub> emission rate to demonstrate compliance with its emission standard by factoring stack emissions and any ERCs into the following equation:

$$\text{CO}_2 \text{ emission rate} = \frac{\sum M_{\text{CO}_2}}{\sum \text{MWh}_{\text{net}} + \sum \text{MWh}_{\text{ERC}}}$$

Where:

CO<sub>2</sub> emission rate = An affected EGU's adjusted CO<sub>2</sub> emission rate that will be used to determine compliance with the applicable CO<sub>2</sub> emission standard.

MCO<sub>2</sub> = Measured CO<sub>2</sub> mass in units of pounds (lbs) summed over the compliance period for an affected EGU.

MWh<sub>net</sub> = Total net energy output over the compliance period for an affected EGU in units of MWh.

MWh<sub>ERC</sub> = ERC replacement generation for an affected EGU in units of MWh (ERCs are denominated in whole integers as specified in paragraph (d) of this section).

(2) Your plan must specify that an ERC qualifies for the compliance demonstration specified in paragraph (c)(1) of this section if the ERC meets the requirements of paragraphs (c)(2)(i) through (iv) of this section.

(i) An ERC must have a unique serial number.

(ii) An ERC must represent one MWh of actual energy generated or saved with zero associated CO<sub>2</sub> emissions.

(iii) An ERC must only be issued to an eligible resource that meets the requirements of § 60.5800 or to an affected EGU that meets the requirements of § 60.5795 and must only be

issued by a State or its State agent through an EPA-approved ERC tracking system that meets the requirements of § 60.5810, or by the EPA through an EPA-administered tracking system.

(iv) An ERC must be surrendered and retired only once for purpose of compliance with this regulation through an EPA-approved ERC tracking system that meets the requirements of § 60.5810, or by the EPA through an EPA-administered tracking system.

(3) Your plan must specify that an ERC does not qualify for the compliance demonstration specified in paragraph (c)(1) of this section if it does not meet the requirements of paragraph (c)(2) of this section or if any State has used that same ERC for purposes of demonstrating achievement of a CO2 emission performance rate or CO2 emission goal. The plan must additionally include provisions that address requirements for revocation or adjustment that apply if an ERC issued by the State is subsequently found to have been improperly issued.

(4) Your plan must include provisions either allowing for or restricting banking of ERCs between compliance periods for affected EGUs, and provisions not allowing any borrowing of any ERCs from future compliance periods by affected EGUs or eligible resources.

#### Emission Rate Credit Requirements

#### § 60.5795 What affected EGUs qualify for generation of ERCs?

(a) For issuance of ERCs to the affected EGUs that generate them, the plan must specify the accounting method and process for ERC issuance. For plans that require that affected EGUs meet a rate-based CO2 emission goal, where all affected EGUs have identical emission standards, you must specify the accounting method listed in paragraph (a)(1) of this section for generating ERCs. For plans that require affected EGUs to meet the CO2 emission performance rates or CO2 emission goals where affected EGUs have emission standards that are not equal for all affected EGUs, you must specify the accounting methods listed in paragraphs (a)(1) and (2) of this section for generating ERCs.

(1) You must include the calculation method for determining the number of ERCs, denominated in MWh, that may be generated by and issued to an affected EGU that is in

compliance with its emission standard, based on the difference between its emission standard and its reported CO<sub>2</sub> emission rate for the compliance period; and

(2) You must include the calculation method for determining the number of ERCs, denominated in MWh, that may be issued to affected EGUs that meet the definition of a stationary combustion turbine based on the displaced emissions from affected EGUs not meeting the definition of a stationary combustion turbine, resulting from the difference between its annualized net energy output in MWh for the calendar year(s) in the compliance period and its net energy output in MWh for the 2012 calendar year (January 1, 2012, through December 31, 2012).

(b) Any ERCs generated through the method described as required by paragraph (a)(2) of this section must not be used by any affected EGUs other than steam generating units or IGCCs to demonstrate compliance as prescribed under § 60.5790(c)(1).

(c) Any states in a multi-State plan that requires the use of ERCs for affected EGUs to comply with their emission standards must have functionally equivalent requirements pursuant to paragraphs (a)(1) and (2) of this section for generating ERCs.

#### § 60.5800 What other resources qualify for issuance of ERCs?

(a) ERCs may only be issued for generation or savings produced on or after January 1, 2022, to a resource that qualifies as an eligible resource because it meets each of the requirements in paragraphs (a)(1) through (4) of this section.

(1) Resources qualifying for eligibility only include resources that increased installed electrical generation nameplate capacity, or implemented new electrical savings measures, on or after January 1, 2013. If a resource had a nameplate capacity uprate, ERCs may be issued only for the difference in generation between its uprated nameplate capacity and its nameplate capacity prior to the uprate. ERCs must not be issued for generation for an uprate that followed a derate that occurred on or after January 1, 2013. A resource that is relicensed or receives a license extension is considered existing capacity and is not an eligible resource, unless it receives a capacity uprate as a result of the relicensing process that is reflected in its relicensed permit. In such a case, only

the difference in nameplate capacity between its relicensed permit and its prior permit is eligible to be issued ERCs.

(2) The resource must be connected to, and deliver energy to or save electricity on, the electric grid in the contiguous United States.

(3) The resource must be located in either:

(i) A State whose affected EGUs are subject to rate-based emission standards pursuant to this regulation; or

(ii) A State with a mass-based CO<sub>2</sub> emission goal, and the resource can demonstrate (e.g., through a power purchase agreement or contract for delivery) that the electricity generated is delivered with the intention to meet load in a State with affected EGUs which are subject to rate-based emission standards pursuant to this regulation, and was treated as a generation resource used to serve regional load that included the State whose affected EGUs are subject to rate-based emission standards. Notwithstanding any other provision of paragraph (a)(4) of this section, the only type of eligible resource in the State with mass-based emission standards is renewable generating technologies listed in (a)(4)(i) of this section.

(4) The resource falls into one of the following categories of resources:

(i) Renewable electric generating technologies using one of the following renewable energy resources: Wind, solar, geothermal, hydro, wave, tidal;

(ii) Qualified biomass;

(iii) Waste-to-energy (biogenic portion only);

(iv) Nuclear power;

(v) A non-affected combined heat and power (CHP) unit, including waste heat power;

(vi) A demand-side EE or demand-side management measure that saves electricity and is calculated on the basis of quantified ex post savings, not “projected” or “claimed” savings; or

(vii) A category identified in a State plan and approved by the EPA to generate ERCs.

(b) Any resource that does not meet the requirements of this subpart or an approved State plan cannot be issued ERCs for use by an affected EGU with its compliance demonstration required under § 60.5790(c).

(c) ERCs may not be issued to or for any of the following:

(1) New, modified, or reconstructed EGUs that are subject to subpart TTTT of this part, except CHP units that meet the requirements of a CHP unit under paragraph (a);

(2) EGUs that do not meet the applicability requirements of §§ 60.5845 and 60.5850, except CHP units that meet the requirements of a CHP unit under paragraph (a);

(3) Measures that reduce CO<sub>2</sub> emissions outside the electric power sector, including, for example, GHG offset projects representing emission reductions that occur in the forestry and agriculture sectors, direct air capture, and crediting of CO<sub>2</sub> emission reductions that occur in the transportation sector as a result of vehicle electrification; and

(4) Any measure not approved by the EPA for issuance of ERCs in connection with a specific State plan.

(d) You must include the appropriate requirements in paragraphs (d)(1) through (3) of this section for an applicable eligible resource in your plan.

(1) If qualified biomass is an eligible resource, the plan must include a description of why the proposed feedstocks or feedstock categories should qualify as an approach for controlling increases of CO<sub>2</sub> levels in the atmosphere as well as the proposed valuation of biogenic CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. In addition, for sustainably-derived agricultural and forest biomass feedstocks, the state plan must adequately demonstrate that such feedstocks appropriately control increases of CO<sub>2</sub> levels in the atmosphere and methods for adequately monitoring and verifying these feedstock sources and related sustainability practices. For all qualified biomass feedstocks, plans must specify how biogenic CO<sub>2</sub> emissions will be monitored and reported, and identify specific EM&V, tracking and auditing approaches.

(2) If waste-to-energy is an eligible resource, the plan must assess both the capacity to strengthen existing or implement new waste reduction, reuse, recycling and composting programs, and measures to minimize any potential negative impacts of waste-to-energy operations on such programs. Additionally the plan must include a method for determining the proportion of total MWh generation from a waste-to-energy facility that is eligible for use in adjusting a CO2 emission rate (i.e., that which is generated from biogenic materials).

(3) If carbon capture and utilization (CCU) is an eligible resource in a plan, the plan must include analysis supporting how the proposed qualifying CCU technology results in CO2 emission mitigation from affected EGUs and provide monitoring, reporting, and verification requirements to demonstrate the reductions.

(e) States and areas of Indian country that do not have any affected EGUs, and other countries, may provide ERCs to adjust CO2 emissions provided they are connected to the contiguous U.S. grid and meet the other requirements for eligibility and eligible resources and the issuance of ERCs included in these emission guidelines, except that such States and other countries may not provide ERCs from resources described in § 60.5800(a)(4)(vi).

#### § 60.5805 What is the process for the issuance of ERCs?

If your plan uses ERCs your plan must include the process and requirements for issuance of ERCs to affected EGUs and eligible resources set forth in paragraphs (a) through (f) of this section.

(a) Eligibility application. Your plan must require that, to receive ERCs, the owner or operator must submit an eligibility application to you that demonstrates that the requirements of your State plan as approved by the EPA as meeting § 60.5795 (for an affected EGU) or § 60.5800 (for an eligible resource) are met, and, in the case of an eligible resource, includes at a minimum:

(1) Documentation that the eligibility application has only been submitted to you, or pursuant to an EPA-approved multi-State collaborative approach;



(2) An EM&V plan that meets the requirements of the State plan as approved by the EPA as meeting § 60.5830; and

(3) A verification report from an independent verifier that verifies the eligibility of the eligible resource to be issued an ERC and that the EM&V plan meets the requirements of the State plan as approved by the EPA of meeting § 60.5805.

(b) *Registration.* Your plan must require that any affected EGU or eligible resource register with an ERC tracking system that meets the requirements of § 60.5810 prior to the issuance of ERCs, and your plan must specify that you will only register an affected EGU or eligible resource after you approve its eligibility application and determine that the requirements of paragraph (a) of this section are met.

(c) *M&V reports.* For an eligible resource registered pursuant to paragraph (b) of this section, your plan must require that, prior to issuance of ERCs by you, the owner or operator must submit the following:

(1) An M&V report that meets the requirements of your State plan as approved by the EPA as meeting § 60.5835; and

(2) A verification report from an independent verifier that verifies that the requirements for the M&V report are met.

(e) *Issuance of ERCs.* Your plan must specify your procedure for issuance of ERCs based on your review of an M&V report and verification report, and must require that ERCs be issued only on the basis of energy actually generated or saved, and that only one ERC is issued for each verified MWh.

(f) *Tracking system.* Your plan must require that ERCs may only be issued through an ERC tracking system approved as part of the State plan.

(g) *Error adjustment.* Your plan must include a mechanism to adjust the number of ERCs issued if any are issued based on error (clerical, formula input error, etc.).

(h) *Qualification status of an eligible resource.* Your plan must include a mechanism to temporarily or permanently revoke the qualification status of an eligible resource, such that it can no longer be issued

ERCs for at least the duration that it does not meet the requirements for being issued ERCs in your State plan.

(i) *Qualification status of an independent verifier*—(1) *Eligibility.* To be an independent verifier, a person must be approved by the State as:

(A) An independent verifier, as defined by this regulation; and

(B) Eligible to verify eligibility applications, EM&V plans, and/or M&V reports per the requirements of the approved State plan as meeting §§ 60.5830 and 60.5835 respectively.

(2) *Revocation of qualification.* Your plan must include a mechanism to temporarily or permanently revoke the qualification status of an independent verifier, such that it can no longer verify eligibility applications, EM&V plans or M&V reports for at least the duration of the period it does not meet the requirements of your State plan.

#### § 60.5810 What applicable requirements are there for an ERC tracking system?

(a) Your plan must include provisions for an ERC tracking system, if applicable, that meets the following requirements:

(1) It electronically records the issuance of ERCs, transfers of ERCs among accounts, surrender of ERCs by affected EGUs as part of a compliance demonstration, and retirement or cancellation of ERCs; and

(2) It documents and provides electronic, internet-based public access to all information that supports the eligibility of eligible resources and issuance of ERCs and functionality to generate reports based on such information, which must include, for each ERC, an eligibility application, EM&V plan, M&V reports, and independent verifier verification reports.

(b) If approved in a State plan, an ERC tracking system may provide for transfers of ERCs to or from another ERC tracking system approved in a State plan, or provide for transfers of ERCs to or from an EPA-administered ERC tracking system used to administer a Federal plan.

Mass Allocation Requirements

§ 60.5815 What are the requirements for State allocation of allowances in a mass-based program?

- (a) For a mass-based trading program, a State plan must include requirements for CO<sub>2</sub> allowance allocations according to paragraphs (b) through (f) of this section.
- (b) Provisions for allocation of allowances for each compliance period prior to the beginning of the compliance period.
- (c) Provisions for allocation of set-aside allowance, if applicable, must be established to ensure that the eligible resources must meet the same requirements for the ERC eligible resource requirements of § 60.5800, and the State must include eligibility application and verification provisions equivalent to those for ERCs in § 60.5805 and EM&V plan and M&V report provisions that meet the requirements of § 60.5830 and § 60.5835.
- (d) Provisions for adjusting allocations if the affected EGUs or eligible resources are incorrectly allocated CO<sub>2</sub> allowances.
- (e) Provisions allowing for or restricting banking of allowances between compliance periods for affected EGUs.
- (f) Provisions not allowing any borrowing of allowances from future compliance periods by affected EGUs.

§ 60.5820 What are my allowance tracking requirements?

- (a) Your plan must include provisions for an allowance tracking system, if applicable, that meets the following requirements:
- (1) It electronically records the issuance of allowances, transfers of allowances among accounts, surrender of allowances by affected EGUs as part of a compliance demonstration, and retirement of allowances; and
- (2) It documents and provides electronic, internet-based public access to all information that supports the eligibility of eligible resources and issuance of set aside allowances, if applicable, and functionality to generate reports based on such information, which must include, for each

set aside allowance, an eligibility application, EM&V plan, M&V reports, and independent verifier verification reports.

(b) If approved in a State plan, an allowance tracking system may provide for transfers of allowances to or from another allowance tracking system approved in a State plan, or provide for transfers of allowances to or from an EPA-administered allowance tracking system used to administer a Federal plan.

§ 60.5825 What is the process for affected EGUs to demonstrate compliance in a mass-based program?

(a) A plan must require an affected EGU's owners or operators to demonstrate compliance with emission standards in a mass based program by holding an amount of allowances not less than the tons of total CO<sub>2</sub> emissions for such compliance period from the affected EGUs in the account for the affected EGU's emissions in the allowance tracking system required under § 60.5820 during the applicable compliance period.

(b) In a mass-based trading program a plan may allow multiple affected EGUs co-located at the same facility to demonstrate that they are meeting the applicable emission standards on a facility-wide basis by the owner or operator holding enough allowances to cover the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions of all the affected EGUs at the facility.

(1) If there are not enough allowances to cover the facility's affected EGUs' CO<sub>2</sub> emissions then there must be provisions for determining the compliance status of each affected EGU located at that facility.

(2) [Reserved]

Evaluation Measurement and Verification Plans and Monitoring and Verification Reports

§ 60.5830 What are the requirements for EM&V plans for eligible resources?

(a) If your plan requires your affected EGUs to meet their emission standards in accordance with § 60.5790, your plan must include requirements that any EM&V plan that is submitted in accordance with the requirements of § 60.5805, in support of the issuance of an ERC or set-aside

allowance that can be used in accordance with § 60.5790, must meet the EM&V criteria approved as part of your State plan.

(b) Your plan must require each EM&V plan to include identification of the eligible resource.

(c) Your plan must require that an EM&V plan must contain specific criteria, as applicable to the specific eligible resource.

(1) For RE resources, your plan must include requirements discussing how the generation data will be physically measured on a continuous basis using, for example, a revenue-quality meter.

(2) For demand-side EE, your plan must require that each EM&V plan quantify and verify electricity savings on a retrospective (ex-post) basis using industry best-practice EM&V protocols and methods that yield accurate and reliable measurements of electricity savings. Your plan must also require each EM&V plan to include an assessment of the independent factors that influence the electricity savings, the expected life of the savings (in years), and a baseline that represents what would have happened in the absence of the demand-side EE activity. Additionally, your plan must require that each EM&V plan include a demonstration of how the industry best-practices protocol and methods were applied to the specific activity, project, measure, or program covered in the EM&V plan, and include an explanation of why these protocols or methods were selected. EM&V plans must require eligible resources to demonstrate how all such best-practice approaches will be applied for the purposes of quantifying and verifying MWh results. Subsequent reporting of demand-side EE savings values must demonstrate and explain how the EM&V plan was followed.

#### § 60.5835 What are the requirements for M&V reports for eligible resources?

(a) If your plan requires your affected EGUs to meet their emission standards in accordance with § 60.5790, your plan must include requirements that any M&V report that is submitted in accordance with the requirements of § 60.5805, in support of the issuance of an ERC or set-aside allocation that can be used in accordance with § 60.5790, must meet the requirements of this section.

(b) Your plan must require that each M&V report include the following:

(1) For the first M&V report submitted, documentation that the energy-generating resources, energy-saving measures, or practices were installed or implemented consistent with the description in the approved eligibility application required in § 60.5805(a).

(2) Each M&V report submitted must include the following:

(i) Identification of the time period covered by the M&V report;

(ii) A description of how relevant quantification methods, protocols, guidelines, and guidance specified in the EM&V plan were applied during the reporting period to generate the quantified MWh of generation or MWh of energy savings;

(iii) Documentation (including data) of the energy generation and/or energy savings from any activity, project, measure, resource, or program addressed in the EM&V plan, quantified and verified in MWh for the period covered by the M&V report, in accordance with its EM&V plan, and based on ex-post energy generation or savings; and

(iv) Documentation of any change in the energy generation or savings capability of the eligible resource from the description of the resource in the approved eligibility application during the period covered by the M&V report and the date on which the change occurred, and/or demonstration that the eligible resource continued to meet the requirements of § 60.5800.

Applicability of ~~State~~ Plans to Affected EGUs

~~§ 60.5790~~60.5840 Does this subpart directly affect EGU owners ~~and~~or operators in my ~~state~~State?

(a) This subpart does not directly affect EGU owners ~~and~~or operators in your ~~state~~State.

However, affected EGU owners ~~and~~or operators must comply with the ~~state~~-plan that a ~~state~~-developsState or States develop to implement the emission guidelines contained in this subpart.

(b) If a ~~state~~State does not submit ~~an approvable~~a final plan ~~or initial submittal~~ to implement and enforce the emission guidelines contained in this subpart ~~by June 30, 2016,~~ or an initial submittal for which an extension to submit a final plan can be granted, by September 6, 2016, or the EPA disapproves a final plan, the EPA will implement and enforce a Federal plan, as provided in §

~~60.5740, to ensure that~~ 60.5720, applicable to each affected EGU within the ~~state~~ State that commenced construction on or before January 8, 2014 ~~reaches compliance with all the provisions of this subpart.~~

**§ ~~60.5795~~ 60.5845 What affected EGUs must I address in my ~~state~~ State plan?**

(a) The EGUs that must be addressed by your ~~state~~-plan are any affected steam generating unit, IGCC, or stationary combustion turbine that ~~commences~~ commenced construction on or before January 8, 2014.

(b) An affected EGU is a steam generating unit, ~~integrated gasification combined cycle (IGCC)~~, or stationary combustion turbine that meets the relevant applicability conditions specified in paragraph

(b)(1) ~~or~~ through (23) of this section, as applicable, except as provided in § 60.5850.

(1) ~~A steam generating unit or IGCC that has a base load rating greater than~~ Serves a generator or generators connected to a utility power distribution system with a nameplate capacity greater than 25 MW-net (i.e., capable of selling greater than 25 MW of electricity); ~~73 MW~~

(2) Has a base load rating (i.e., design heat input capacity) greater than 260 GJ/ hr (250 MMBtu/hr) heat input of fossil fuel (either alone or in combination with any other fuel); and ~~was constructed for the purpose of supplying~~

(3) Stationary combustion turbines that meet the definition of either a combined cycle or combined heat and power combustion turbine.

**§ 60.5850 What EGUs are excluded from being affected EGUs?**

EGUs that are excluded from being affected EGUs are:

(a) EGUs that are subject to subpart TTTT of this part as a result of commencing construction after the subpart TTTT applicability date;

(b) Steam generating units and IGCCs that are, and always have been, subject to a federally enforceable permit limiting annual net-electric sales to one-third or ~~more~~ less of its potential electric output ~~and more than, or~~ 219,000 MWh net electric output to a utility distribution system on an annual basis, or less;

(c) Non-fossil units (i.e., units that are capable of combusting 50 percent or more non-fossil fuel) that have always historically limited the use of fossil fuels to 10 percent or less of the annual capacity factor or are subject to a federally enforceable permit limiting fossil fuel use to 10 percent or less of the annual capacity factor;

~~(2d) A stationary combustion turbine that has a base load rating greater than 73 MW (250 MMBtu/h), was~~Stationary combustion turbines not capable of combusting natural gas (e.g., not connected to a natural gas pipeline); constructed for the purpose of supplying, and supplies, one-third or more of its potential electric output and more than 219,000 MWh net electrical output to a utility distribution system on a 3-year rolling average basis, combusts fossil fuel for more than 10.0 percent of the heat input during a 3-year rolling average basis and combusts over 90% natural gas on a heat input basis on a 3-year rolling average basis.

(e) EGUs that are combined heat and power units that have always historically limited, or are subject to a federally enforceable permit limiting, annual net-electric sales to a utility distribution system to no more than the greater of either 219,000 MWh or the product of the design efficiency and the potential electric output;

(f) EGUs that serve a generator along with other steam generating unit(s), IGCC(s), or stationary combustion turbine(s) where the effective generation capacity (determined based on a prorated output of the base load rating of each steam generating unit, IGCC, or stationary combustion turbine) is 25 MW or less;

(g) EGUs that are a municipal waste combustor unit that is subject to subpart Eb of this part; and

(h) EGUs that are a commercial or industrial solid waste incineration unit that is subject to subpart CCCC of this part.

~~§ 60.5800-What~~§ 60.5855 What are the CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rates for affected EGUs-are exempt from my state plan?

~~Affected EGUs that are exempt from your state plan include: those that are subject to subpart TTTT as a result of commencing construction or reconstruction after the subpart TTTT-~~



~~applicability date; and those subject to subpart TTTT as a result of commencing modification or reconstruction prior becoming subject to an applicable state plan.~~

(a) You must require, in your plan, emission standards on affected EGUs to meet the CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rates listed in Table 1 of this subpart except as provided in paragraph (b) of this section. In addition, you must set CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rates for the interim steps, according to paragraph (a)(1) of this section, except as provided in paragraph (b) of this section.

(1) You must set CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rates for your affected EGUs to meet during the interim step periods on average and as applicable for the two subcategories of affected EGUs.

(2) [Reserved]

(b) You may elect to require your affected EGUs to meet emission standards that differ from the CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rates listed in Table 1 of this subpart, provided that you demonstrate that the affected EGUs in your State will collectively meet their CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rate by achieving statewide emission goals that are equivalent and no less stringent than the CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance rates listed in Table 1, and provided that your equivalent statewide CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals take one of the following forms:

(1) Average statewide rate-based CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals listed in Table 2 of this subpart, except as provided in paragraphs (c) and (d); or

(2) Cumulative statewide mass-based CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals listed in Table 3 of this subpart, except as provided in paragraphs (c) and (d) of this section.

(c) If your plan meets CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals listed in paragraphs (b)(1) or (2) of this section you must develop your own interim step goals and final reporting period goal for your affected EGUs to meet either on average (in the case of rate-based goals) or cumulatively (in the case of mass-based goals). Additionally the following applies if you develop your own goals:

(1) The interim period and interim steps CO<sub>2</sub> emission goals must be in the same form, either both rate (in units of pounds per net MWh) or both mass (in tons); and

(2) You must set interim step goals that will either on average or cumulatively meet the State's interim period goal, as applicable to a rate-based or mass-based CO2 emission goal.

(d) Your plan's interim period and final period CO2 emission goals required to be met pursuant to paragraph (b)(1) or (2) of this section, may be changed in the plan only according to situations listed in paragraphs (d)(1) through (3) of this section. If a situation requires a plan revision, you must follow the procedures in § 60.5785 to submit a plan revision.

(1) If your plan implements CO2 emission goals, you may submit a plan or plan revision, allowed in § 60.5785, to make corrections to them, subject to EPA's approval, as a result of changes in the inventory of affected EGUs; and

(2) If you elect to require your affected EGUs to meet emission standards to meet mass-based CO2 emission goals in your plan, you may elect to incorporate, as a matter of state law, the mass emissions from EGUs that are subject to subpart TTTT of this part that are considered new affected EGUs under subpart TTTT of this part.

(e) If your plan relies upon State measures in addition to or in lieu of emission standards, you must only use the mass-based goals allowed for in paragraph (b)(2) of this section to demonstrate that your affected EGUs are meeting the required emissions performance.

(f) Nothing in this subpart precludes an affected EGU from complying with its emission standard or you from meeting your obligations under the State plan.

**§ ~~60.5805~~60.5860** What applicable monitoring, recordkeeping, and reporting requirements do I need to include in my ~~state~~ plan for affected EGUs?

(a) ~~A state~~Your plan must include monitoring for affected EGUs that is no less stringent ~~that~~than what is described in (a)(1) through (~~68~~) of this section.

(1) ~~If~~The owner or operator of an affected EGU (or group of affected EGUs that share a monitored common stack) that is required to meet ~~a rate-based~~rate-based or mass-based emission ~~standard~~they standards must prepare a monitoring plan in accordance with the applicable provisions in § 75.53(g) and (h) of this chapter, unless such a plan is already in place under another program that requires CO2 mass emissions to be monitored and reported according to part 75 of this chapter.

(2) For rate-based emission standards, each compliance period shall include only “valid operating hours” in the compliance period, i.e., full or partial unit (or stack) operating hours for which:

(i) “Valid data” (as defined in § 60.5880) are obtained for all of the parameters used to determine the hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions (lbs). For the purposes of this subpart, substitute data recorded under part 75 of this chapter are not considered to be valid data; and

(ii) The corresponding hourly net energy output value is also valid data (Note: For operating hours with no useful output, zero is considered to be a valid value).

~~(23)~~ An For rate-based emission standards, the owner or operator of an affected EGU must measure and report the hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions (lbs) from each affected unit using the procedures in paragraphs (a)~~(23)~~(i) through ~~(v)~~(vi) of this section, except as otherwise provided in paragraph (a)~~(34)~~ of this section.

(i) ~~An~~ The owner or operator of an affected EGU must install, certify, operate, maintain, and calibrate a CO<sub>2</sub> continuous emissions monitoring system (CEMS) to directly measure and record CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations in the affected EGU exhaust gases emitted to the atmosphere and an exhaust gas flow rate monitoring system according to § 75.10(a)(3)(i) of this chapter. ~~If an affected EGU measures~~ As an alternative to direct measurement of CO<sub>2</sub> concentration, provided that the affected EGU does not use carbon separation (e.g., carbon capture and storage), the owner or operator of an affected EGU may use data from a certified oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>) monitor to calculate hourly average CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations, in accordance with § 75.10(a)(3)(iii) of this chapter. However, when an O<sub>2</sub> monitor is used this way, it only quantifies the combustion CO<sub>2</sub>; therefore, if the EGU is equipped with emission controls that produce non-combustion CO<sub>2</sub> (e.g., from sorbent injection), this additional CO<sub>2</sub> must be accounted for, in accordance with section 3 of appendix G to part 75 of this chapter. If CO<sub>2</sub> concentration is measured on a dry basis, ~~they~~ the owner or operator of the affected EGU must also install, certify, operate, maintain, and calibrate a continuous moisture monitoring system, according to § 75.11(b) of this chapter.

Alternatively, the owner or operator of an affected EGU may either use an appropriate fuel-

specific default moisture value from § 75.11(b) or submit a petition to the Administrator under § 75.66 of this chapter for a site-specific default moisture value.

(ii) For each “valid operating hour” (as defined in paragraph (a)(2) of this section), calculate the hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass emission rate (tons/hr), either from Equation F-11 in Appendix F to part 75 of this chapter (if CO<sub>2</sub> concentration is measured on a wet basis), or by following the procedure in section 4.2 of Appendix F to part 75 of this chapter (if CO<sub>2</sub> concentration is measured on a dry basis).

(iii) Next, multiply each hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass emission rate by the EGU or stack operating time in hours (as defined in § 72.2 of this chapter), to convert it to tons of CO<sub>2</sub>. Multiply the result by 2,000 lbs/ton to convert it to lbs.

(iv) The hourly CO<sub>2</sub> tons/hr values and EGU (or stack) operating times used to calculate CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions are required to be recorded under § 75.57(e) of this chapter and must be reported electronically under § 75.64(a)(6), if required by a plan. The owner or operator must use these data, or equivalent data, to calculate the hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions.

(v) Sum all of the hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions values from paragraph (a)(3)(ii) of this section over the entire compliance period.

(ii)(vi) For each continuous monitoring system ~~an affected EGU uses~~ used to determine the CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions, ~~they~~ from an affected EGU, the monitoring system must meet the applicable certification and quality assurance procedures in § 75.20 of this chapter and Appendices A and B ~~and D~~ to part 75 of this chapter.

~~(iii) An affected EGU must use a laser device to measure the dimensions of each exhaust gas stack or duct at the flow monitor and the reference method sampling locations prior to the initial setup (characterization) of the flow monitor. For circular stacks, an affected EGU must measure the diameter at three or more distinct locations and average the results. For rectangular stacks or ducts, an affected EGU must measure each dimension (i.e., depth and width) at three or more~~

~~distinct locations and average the results. If the flow rate monitor or reference method sampling site is relocated, an affected EGU must repeat these measurements at the new location.~~

~~(iv) An affected EGU must use only unadjusted exhaust gas volumetric flow rates to determine the hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions from the affected facility; an affected EGU must not apply the bias adjustment factors described in section 7.6.5 of Appendix A to part 75 of this chapter to the exhaust gas flow rate data.~~

~~(v) If an affected EGU chooses to use Method 2 in Appendix A-1 to this part to perform the required relative accuracy test audits (RATAs) of the part 75 flow rate monitoring system, they must use a calibrated Type S pitot tube or pitot tube assembly. An affected EGU must not use the default Type S pitot tube coefficient.~~

~~(34) If The owner or operator of an affected EGU that exclusively combusts liquid fuel and/or gaseous fuel may, as an alternative to complying with paragraph (b)(3) of this section, they may determine the hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions by using Equation G-4 in Appendix G to part 75 of this chapter according to the requirements in paragraphs (a)(34)(i) and (i) through (a)(4)(vi) of this section.~~

~~(i) An affected EGU must implement Implement the applicable procedures in appendix D to part 75 of this chapter to determine hourly unit EGU heat input rates (MMBtu/hr), based on hourly measurements of fuel flow rate and periodic determinations of the gross calorific value (GCV) of each fuel combusted. The fuel flow meter(s) used to measure the hourly fuel flow rates must meet the applicable certification and quality-assurance requirements in sections 2.1.5 and 2.1.6 of appendix D to part 75 (except for qualifying commercial billing meters). The fuel GCV must be determined in accordance with section 2.2 or 2.3 of appendix D, as applicable.~~

~~(ii) For each measured hourly heat input rate, use Equation G-4 in Appendix G to part 75 of this chapter to calculate the hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass emission rate (tons/hr).~~

~~(iii) For each "valid operating hour" (as defined in paragraph (a)(2) of this section), multiply the hourly tons/hr CO<sub>2</sub> mass emission rate from paragraph (a)(4)(ii) of this section by the EGU~~

or stack operating time in hours (as defined in § 72.2 of this chapter), to convert it to tons of CO<sub>2</sub>. Then, multiply the result by 2,000 lbs/ton to convert it to lbs.

(iv) The hourly CO<sub>2</sub> tons/hr values and EGU (or stack) operating times used to calculate CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions are required to be recorded under § 75.57(e) of this chapter and must be reported electronically under § 75.64(a)(6), if required by a plan. You must use these data, or equivalent data, to calculate the hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions.

(v) Sum all of the hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions values (lb) from paragraph (a)(4)(iii) of this section over the entire compliance period.

~~(ii) An~~ (vi) The owner or operator of an affected EGU may determine site-specific carbon-based F-factors ( $F_{:,}$ ) using Equation F-7b in section 3.3.6 of appendix F to part 75 of this chapter, and may use these  $F_{:,}$  values in the emissions calculations instead of using the default  $F_{eF,}$  values in the Equation G-4 nomenclature.

~~(4)~~ An For both rate-based and mass-based standards, the owner or operator of an affected EGU (or group of affected units that share a monitored common stack) must install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a sufficient number of watt meters to continuously measure and record on an hourly basis net electric output. Measurements must be performed using 0.2 accuracy class electricity metering instrumentation and calibration procedures as specified under ANSI Standards No. C12.20. Further, the owner or operator of an affected EGU that is a combined heat and power facility must install, calibrate, maintain and operate equipment to continuously measure and record on an hourly basis useful thermal output and, if applicable, mechanical output, which are used with net electric output to determine net energy output. The owner or operator must use the following procedures to calculate net energy output, as appropriate for the type of affected EGU(s).

~~(5) In accordance with § 60.13(g), if two or more affected EGUs that implement the continuous emissions monitoring provisions in paragraph (a)(2) of this section share a common exhaust gas stack and are subject to the same emissions standard, they may monitor the hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions at the common stack in lieu of monitoring each EGU separately. If an affected EGU~~

~~chooses this option, the hourly net electric output for the common stack must be the sum of the hourly net electric output of the individual affected facility and you must express the operating time as “stack operating hours” (as defined in § 72.2 of this chapter).~~

(i) Determine  $p_{net}$ , the hourly net energy output in MWh. For rate-based standards, perform this calculation only for valid operating hours (as defined in paragraph (a)(2) of this section). For mass-based standards, perform this calculation for all unit (or stack) operating hours, i.e., full or partial hours in which any fuel is combusted.

(ii) If there is no net electrical output, but there is mechanical or useful thermal output, either for a particular valid operating hour (for rate-based applications), or for a particular operating hour (for mass-based applications), the owner or operator of the affected EGU must still determine the net energy output for that hour.

(iii) For rate-based applications, if there is no (i.e., zero) gross electrical, mechanical, or useful thermal output for a particular valid operating hour, that hour must be used in the compliance determination. For hours or partial hours where the gross electric output is equal to or less than the auxiliary loads, net electric output shall be counted as zero for this calculation.

(iv) Calculate  $p_{net}$  for your affected EGU (or group of affected EGUs that share a monitored common stack) using the following equation. All terms in the equation must be expressed in units of MWh. To convert each hourly net energy output value reported under part 75 of this chapter to MWh, multiply by the corresponding EGU or stack operating time.

Where:

Pnet = Net energy output of your affected EGU for each valid operating hour (as defined in 60.5860(a)(2)) in MWh.

(Pe)ST = Electric energy output plus mechanical energy output (if any) of steam turbines in MWh.

$$\frac{(Add)_{ST} + (Pe)_{CT} + (Pe)_{IE} - (Pe)_{A}}{TDF} + [(Pl)_{PS} + (Pl)_{HR} + (Pl)_{IE}] \quad (Pe)_{CT} =$$

$$(Pl)_{PS} = \frac{Q_{in} \times \eta}{\eta}$$

Electric energy

output plus mechanical energy output (if any) of stationary combustion turbine(s) in MWh.

(Pe)IE = Electric energy output plus mechanical energy output (if any) of your affected EGU's integrated equipment that provides electricity or mechanical energy to the affected EGU or auxiliary equipment in MWh.

(Pe)A = Electric energy used for any auxiliary loads in MWh.

(Pt)PS = Useful thermal output of steam (measured relative to SATP conditions, as applicable) that is used for applications that do not generate additional electricity, produce mechanical energy output, or enhance the performance of the affected EGU. This is calculated using the equation specified in paragraph (a)(5)(v) of this section in MWh.

(Pt)HR = Non-steam useful thermal output (measured relative to SATP conditions, as applicable) from heat recovery that is used for applications other than steam generation or performance enhancement of the affected EGU in MWh.

(Pt)IE = Useful thermal output (relative to SATP conditions, as applicable) from any integrated equipment is used for applications that do not generate additional steam, electricity, produce mechanical energy output, or enhance the performance of the affected EGU in MWh.

TDF = Electric Transmission and Distribution Factor of 0.95 for a combined heat and power affected EGU where at least on an annual basis 20.0 percent of the total gross or net energy output consists of electric or direct mechanical output and 20.0 percent of the total net energy output consist of useful thermal output on a 12-operating month rolling average basis, or 1.0 for all other affected EGUs.



(v) If applicable to your affected EGU (for example, for combined heat and power), you must calculate (Pt)PS using the following equation:

Where:

$Q_m$  = Measured steam flow in kilograms (kg) (or pounds (lbs)) for the operating hour.

H = Enthalpy of the steam at measured temperature and pressure (relative to SATP conditions or the energy in the condensate return line, as applicable) in Joules per kilogram (J/kg) (or Btu/lb).

CF = Conversion factor of  $3.6 \times 10^9$  J/MWh or  $3,413 \times 10^6$  Btu/MWh.

(vi) For rate-based standards, sum all of the values of  $p_{net}$  for the valid operating hours (as defined in paragraph (a)(2) of this section), over the entire compliance period. Then, divide the total CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions for the valid operating hours from paragraph (a)(3)(v) or (a)(4)(v) of this section, as applicable, by the sum of the  $p_{net}$  values for the valid operating hours plus any ERC replacement generation (as shown in § 60.5790(c)), to determine the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions rate (lb/net MWh) for the compliance period.

(vii) For mass-based standards, sum all of the values of  $p_{net}$  for all operating hours, over the entire compliance period.

(6) In accordance with § 60.13(g), if two or more affected EGUs implementing the continuous emissions monitoring provisions in paragraph (a)(2) of this section share a common exhaust gas stack and are subject to the same emissions standard, the owner or operator may monitor the hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions at the common stack in lieu of monitoring each EGU separately. If an owner or operator of an affected EGU chooses this option, the hourly net electric output for the common stack must be the sum of the hourly net electric output of the individual affected EGUs and the operating time must be expressed as “stack operating hours” (as defined in § 72.2 of this chapter).

(67) In accordance with § 60.13(g), if the exhaust gases from an affected EGU ~~that~~ ~~implements~~implementing the continuous emissions monitoring provisions in paragraph (a)(2) of this

section are emitted to the atmosphere through multiple stacks (or if the exhaust gases are routed to a common stack through multiple ducts and you elect to monitor in the ducts), ~~they must monitor~~ the hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions and the “stack operating time” (as defined in § 72.2 of this chapter) at each stack or duct must be monitored separately. In this case, the owner or operator of an affected EGU must determine compliance with an applicable emissions standard by summing the CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions measured at the individual stacks or ducts and dividing by the net energy output for the affected EGU.

~~(b) An affected EGU must maintain records for at least 10 years following the date of each occurrence, measurement, maintenance, corrective action, report, or record.~~

(8) Consistent with § 60.5775 or § 60.5780, if two or more affected EGUs serve a common electric generator, you must apportion the combined hourly net energy output to the individual affected EGUs according to the fraction of the total steam load contributed by each EGU. Alternatively, if the EGUs are identical, you may apportion the combined hourly net electrical load to the individual EGUs according to the fraction of the total heat input contributed by each EGU.

(b) For mass-based standards, the owner or operator of an affected EGU must determine the CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions (tons) for the compliance period as follows:

(1) For each operating hour, calculate the hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass (tons) according to paragraph (a)(3) or (4) of this section, except that a complete data record is required, i.e., CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions must be reported for each operating hour. Therefore, substitute data values recorded under part 75 of this chapter for CO<sub>2</sub> concentration, stack gas flow rate, stack gas moisture content, fuel flow rate and/or GCV shall be used in the calculations; and

(2) Sum all of the hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions values over the entire compliance period.

(3) The owner or operator of an affected EGU must install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a sufficient number of watt meters to continuously measure and record on an hourly basis net electric output. Measurements must be performed using 0.2 accuracy class electricity metering instrumentation and calibration procedures as specified under ANSI Standards No. C12.20.

Further, the owner or operator of an affected EGU that is a combined heat and power facility must install, calibrate, maintain and operate equipment to continuously measure and record on an hourly basis useful thermal output and, if applicable, mechanical output, which are used with net electric output to determine net energy output (P<sub>net</sub>). The owner or operator must calculate net energy output according to paragraphs (a)(5)(i)(A) and (B) of this section.

(c) Your plan must require the owner or operator of each affected EGU covered by your plan to maintain the records, as described in paragraphs (b)(1) and (2) of this section, for at least 5 years following the date of each compliance period, occurrence, measurement, maintenance, corrective action, report, or record.

(1) ~~An~~ The owner or operator of an affected EGU must maintain each record on site for at least 2 years after the date of each compliance period, occurrence, measurement, maintenance, corrective action, report, or record, whichever is latest, according to

§ 60.7. ~~An~~ The owner or operator of an affected EGU may maintain the records off site and electronically for the remaining year(s).

~~(c) An affected EGU must include in a report required by the state plan covering each compliance period all hourly CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and all hourly net electric output and all hourly net energy output measurements for a CHP facility calculated from data monitored according to paragraph (a) of this section.~~

(2) The owner or operator of an affected EGU must keep all of the following records, in a form suitable and readily available for expeditious review:

(i) All documents, data files, and calculations and methods used to demonstrate compliance with an affected EGU's emission standard under § 60.5775.

(ii) Copies of all reports submitted to the State under paragraph (c) of this section.

(iii) Data that are required to be recorded by 40 CFR part 75 subpart F.

(iv) Data with respect to any ERCs generated by the affected EGU or used by the affected EGU in its compliance demonstration including the information in paragraphs (c)(2)(iv)(A) and (B) of this section.

(A) All documents related to any ERCs used in a compliance demonstration, including each eligibility application, EM&V plan, M&V report, and independent verifier verification report associated with the issuance of each specific ERC.

(B) All records and reports relating to the surrender and retirement of ERCs for compliance with this regulation, including the date each individual ERC with a unique serial identification number was surrendered and/or retired.

(d) Your plan must require the owner or operator of an affected EGU covered by your plan to include in a report submitted to you at the end of each compliance period the information in paragraphs (d)(1) through (5) of this section.

(1) Owners or operators of an affected EGU must include in the report all hourly CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, for each affected EGU (or group of affected EGUs that share a monitored common stack).

(2) For rate-based standards, each report must include:

(i) The hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass emission rate values (tons/hr) and unit (or stack) operating times, (as monitored and reported according to part 75 of this chapter), for each valid operating hour in the compliance period;

(ii) The net electric output and the net energy output  $(P_{net})$  values for each valid operating hour in the compliance period;

(iii) The calculated CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions (lb) for each valid operating hour in the compliance period;

(iv) The sum of the hourly net energy output values and the sum of the hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions values, for all of the valid operating hours in the compliance period;

(v) ERC replacement generation (if any), properly justified (see paragraph (c)(5) of this section);  
and

(vi) The calculated CO<sub>2</sub> mass emission rate for the compliance period (lbs/net MWh).

(3) For mass-based standards, each report must include:

(i) The hourly CO<sub>2</sub> mass emission rate value (tons/hr) and unit (or stack) operating time, as monitored and reported according to part 75 of this chapter, for each unit or stack operating hour in the compliance period;

(ii) The calculated CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions (tons) for each unit or stack operating hour in the compliance period;

(iii) The sum of the CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions (tons) for all of the unit or stack operating hours in the compliance period;

(iv) The net electric output and the net energy output (P<sub>net</sub>) values for each unit or stack operating hour in the compliance period; and

(v) The sum of the hourly net energy output values for all of the unit or stack operating hours in the compliance period.

(vi) Notwithstanding the requirements in paragraphs (c)(3)(i) through (c)(3)(iii) of this section, if the compliance period is a discrete number of calendar years (e.g., one year, three years), in lieu of reporting the information specified in those paragraphs, the owner or operator may report:

(A) The cumulative annual CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions (tons) for each year of the compliance period, derived from the electronic emissions report for the fourth calendar quarter of that year, submitted to EPA under § 75.64(a) of this chapter; and

(B) The sum of the cumulative annual CO<sub>2</sub> mass emissions values from paragraph (c)(3)(v)(A) of this section, if the compliance period includes multiple years.

(4) For each affected EGU's compliance period, the report must also include the applicable emission standard and demonstration that it met the emission standard. An owner or operator must also include in the report the affected EGU's calculated emission performance as a CO<sub>2</sub> emission rate or cumulative mass in units of the emission standard required in §§ 60.5790(b) through (c) and 60.5855, as applicable.

(5) If the owner or operator of an affected EGU is complying with an emission standard by using ERCs, they must include in the report a list of all unique ERC serial numbers that were retired in the compliance period, and, for each ERC, the date an ERC was surrendered and retired and

eligible resource identification information sufficient to demonstrate that it meets the requirements of § 60.5800 and qualifies to be issued ERCs (including location, type of qualifying generation or savings, date commenced generating or saving, and date of generation or savings for which the ERC was issued).

(6) If the owner or operator of an affected EGU is complying with an emission standard by using allowances, they must include in the report a list of all unique allowance serial numbers that were retired in the compliance period, and, for each allowance, the date an allowance was surrendered and retired and if the allowance was a set-aside allowance the eligible resource identification information sufficient to demonstrate that it meets the requirements of § 60.5815(c) and qualifies to be issued set-aside allowances (including location, type of qualifying generation or savings, date commenced generating or saving, and date of generation or savings for which the allowance was issued).

(e) The owner or operator of an affected EGU must follow any additional requirements for monitoring, recordkeeping and reporting in a plan that are required under § 60.5745(a)(4), if applicable.

(f) If an affected EGU captures CO<sub>2</sub> to meet the applicable emission limit, the owner or operator must report in accordance with the requirements of 40 CFR part 98 subpart PP and either:

(1) Report in accordance with the requirements of 40 CFR part 98 subpart RR, if injection occurs on-site;

(2) Transfer the captured CO<sub>2</sub> to an EGU or facility that reports in accordance with the requirements of 40 CFR part 98 subpart RR, if injection occurs off-site; or

(3) Transfer the captured CO<sub>2</sub> to a facility that has received an innovative technology waiver from EPA pursuant to paragraph (g) of this section.

(g) Any person may request the Administrator to issue a waiver of the requirement that captured CO<sub>2</sub> from an affected EGU be transferred to a facility reporting under 40 CFR part 98 subpart RR. To receive a waiver, the applicant must demonstrate to the Administrator that its technology will store captured CO<sub>2</sub> as effectively as geologic sequestration, and that the proposed technology will not cause or contribute to an unreasonable risk to public health, welfare, or safety. In making

this determination, the Administrator shall consider (among other factors) operating history of the technology, whether the technology will increase emissions or other releases of any pollutant other than CO<sub>2</sub>, and permanence of the CO<sub>2</sub> storage. The Administrator may test the system itself, or require the applicant to perform any tests considered by the Administrator to be necessary to show the technology's effectiveness, safety, and ability to store captured CO<sub>2</sub> without release. The Administrator may grant conditional approval of a technology, the approval conditioned on monitoring and reporting of operations. The Administrator may also withdraw approval of the waiver on evidence of releases of CO<sub>2</sub> or other pollutants. The Administrator will provide notice to the public of any application under this provision, and provide public notice of any proposed action on a petition before the Administrator takes final action.

#### Recordkeeping and Reporting Requirements

~~§ 60.5840~~60.5865 What are my ~~state~~recordkeeping requirements?~~recordkeeping requirements?~~

(a) ~~States~~You must keep records of all information relied upon in support of any demonstration of plan components, plan requirements, supporting documentation, State measures, and the status of meeting the plan requirements defined in the ~~state~~-plan ~~on an annual basis during~~for each interim step and the interim ~~plan performance~~-period ~~from 2020–2029~~. After 2029 ~~states~~, States must keep records of all information ~~that is used to~~relied upon in support of any continued ~~effort to meet demonstration that~~ the final ~~emissions~~CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance ~~goal~~rates or CO<sub>2</sub> emissions goals are being achieved.

(b) ~~States~~You must keep records of all data submitted by the owner or operator of each affected ~~entity~~EGU that is used to determine compliance with each affected ~~entity's~~EGU emissions standard or requirements in an approved State plan, consistent with the affected EGU requirements listed in § 60.5860.

(c) If ~~a state~~your State has a requirement for all hourly CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and net generation information to be used to calculate compliance with an annual emissions standard for affected EGUs, any information that is submitted by the owners or operators of affected EGUs to the EPA

electronically pursuant to requirements in Part 75 ~~would meet~~meets the recordkeeping requirement of this section and ~~a state would~~you are not ~~need~~required to keep records of information that would be in duplicate of paragraph (b) of this section.

(d) ~~A state~~You must keep records at a minimum for ~~20~~10 years, for the interim period, and 5 years, for the final period, from the date the record is used to determine compliance with an emissions standard, plan requirement, CO2 emission performance rate or CO2 emissions goal. Each record must be in a form suitable and readily available for expeditious review.

§ ~~60.5845~~60.5870 What are my ~~state~~ reporting and notification requirements?

(a) In lieu of the annual report required under § 60.25(e) and (f) of this part, you must report the information in paragraphs (b) through (f) of this section.

~~(a)~~ (b) You must submit ~~an annual~~a report covering each interim step within the interim period and each of the final 2-calendar year periods due no later than July 1 of the ~~following~~ year, ~~starting July 1 2021. The annual~~ following the end of the period. The interim period reporting starts with a report covering interim step 1 due no later than July 1, 2025. The final period reports start with a biennial report covering the first final reporting period (which is due by July 1, 2032), a 2-calendar year average of emissions or cumulative sum of emissions used to determine compliance with the final CO2 emission performance rate or CO2 emission goal (as applicable). The report must include the ~~following:~~information in paragraphs (b)(1) through (4) of this section.

~~(1) The level of emissions performance achieved by all affected entities and identification of whether affected entities are on schedule to meet the applicable level of emissions performance for affected entities during the plan performance period and compliance periods, as specified in the plan.~~

~~(2)~~ (1) The ~~level of~~report must include the emissions performance achieved by all affected EGUs during the reporting period, ~~and prior reporting periods, expressed as~~consistent with the plan approach according to § 60.5745(a), and identification of whether each affected average CO2 emissions rate or total mass CO2 emissions, consistent with the plan approach, and identification of whether EGU is in compliance with its emission standard and whether the collective of all affected EGUs



covered by the State are on schedule to meet the applicable ~~level of emissions~~ CO2 emission performance ~~for affected EGUs~~ rate or emission goal during the ~~plan~~ performance ~~period~~ periods and compliance periods, as specified in the plan.

(2) The report must include a comparison of the CO2 emission performance rate or CO2 emission goal identified in the State plan for the applicable interim step period versus the actual average, cumulative, or adjusted CO2 emission performance (as applicable) achieved by all affected EGUs.

(i) For interim step 3, you do not need to include a comparison between the applicable interim step 3 CO2 emission performance rate or emission goal; you must only submit the average, cumulative or adjusted CO2 emission performance (as applicable) of your affected EGUs during that period in units of your applicable CO2 emission performance rate or emission goal.

~~(3) A list of affected entities and their compliance status with the applicable emissions standards specified in the state plan.~~

~~(4) A list of all affected EGUs and their reported CO2 emissions performance for each compliance period during the reporting period, and prior reporting periods.~~

~~(5)~~ All ~~The report must include all~~ other required information, as specified in your ~~state~~ State plan according to § 60.5740(a)(~~9~~5).

~~(6) All information required by § 60.5775(e).~~

~~(b) For each two-year period in § 60.5775(e)(1), you must compare the average CO2 emission performance achieved by affected entities in the state versus the CO2 emission performance projected in the state plan. If actual emission performance is greater than 10 percent in excess to projected plan performance for a two-year comparison period, you must explain the reasons for the deviation and specify the corrective actions that will be taken to ensure that the required interim and final levels of emission performance in the plan will be met. The information required in this paragraph must be included in the annual report required by paragraph (a) of this section.~~

(4) If applicable, the report must include a program review that your State has conducted that addresses all aspects of the administration of the State plan and overall program, including State

evaluations and regulatory decisions regarding eligibility applications for ERC resources and M&V reports (and associated EM&V activities), and State issuance of ERCs. The program review must assess whether the program is being administered properly in accordance with the approved plan, whether reported annual MWh of generation and savings from qualified ERC resources are being properly quantified, verified, and reported in accordance with approved EM&V plans, and whether appropriate records are being maintained. The program review must also address determination of the eligibility of verifiers by the State and the conduct of independent verifiers, including the quality of verifier reviews.

(c) If your plan relies upon State measures, in lieu of or in addition to emission standards, then you must submit an annual report to the EPA in addition to the reports required under paragraph (b) of this section for the interim period. In the final period, you must submit biennial reports consistent with those required under paragraph (b) of this section. The annual reports in the interim period must be submitted no later than July 1 following the end of each calendar year starting with 2022.

The annual and biennial reports must include the information in paragraphs (c)(1) and (2) of this section for the preceding year or two years, as applicable.

(1) You must include in your report the status of implementation of federally enforceable emission standards (if applicable) and State measures.

(2) You must include information regarding the status of the periodic programmatic milestones to show progress in program implementation. The programmatic milestones with specific dates for achievement must be consistent with the State measures included in the State plan submittal.

(d) If your plan includes the requirement for emission standards on your affected EGUs, then you must submit a notification, if applicable, in the report required under paragraph (b) of this section to the EPA if your affected EGUs trigger corrective measures as described in § 60.5740(a)(2)(i). If corrective measures are required and were not previously submitted with

your state plan, you must follow the requirements in § 60.5785 for revising your plan to implement the corrective measures.

(e) If your plan relies upon State measures, in lieu of or in addition to emission standards, than you must submit a notification as required under paragraphs (e)(1) and (2) of this section.

(1) You must submit a notification in the report required under paragraph (c) of this section to the EPA if at the end of the calendar year your State did not meet a programmatic milestone included in your plan submittal. This notification must detail the implementation of the backstop required in your plan to be fully in place within 18 months of the due date of the report required in paragraph (b) of this section. In addition, the notification must describe the steps taken by the State to inform the affected EGUs in its State that the backstop has been triggered.

(2) You must submit a notification in the report required under paragraph (b) of this section to the EPA if you trigger the backstop as described in § 60.5740(a)(3)(i). This notification must detail the steps that will be taken by you to implement the backstop so that it is fully in place within 18 months of the due date of the report required in paragraph (b) of this section. In addition, the notification must describe the steps taken by the State to inform the affected EGUs that the backstop has been triggered.

(ef) You must include in your 2029 ~~annual~~-report (which is ~~subsequently~~ due by July 1, 2030) the calculation of average CO<sub>2</sub> emissions rate, cumulative sum of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, or adjusted CO<sub>2</sub> emissions rate (as applicable) over the ~~2020–2029~~-interim ~~performance period used to determine compliance with~~period and a comparison of those values to your interim CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance level~~rate or emission goal~~. The calculated value must be in units consistent with the approach you set in your plan for the interim ~~emission performance level~~period.

~~(d) You must include in each report, starting with the 2032 annual report (which is subsequently due by July 1, 2033), a 3-calendar year rolling average used to determine compliance with the final emission performance level. The calculated value must be in units consistent with your final emission performance level.~~

(g) The notifications listed in paragraphs (g)(1) through (3) of this section are required for the reliability safety valve allowed in § 60.5785(e).

(1) As required under § 60.5785(e), you must submit an initial notification to the appropriate EPA regional office within 48 hours of an unforeseen, emergency situation. The initial notification must:

(i) Include a full description, to the extent that it is known, of the emergency situation that is being addressed;

(ii) Identify the affected EGU or EGUs that are required to run to assure reliability; and

(iii) Specify the modified emission standards at which the identified EGU or EGUs will operate.

(2) Within 7 days of the initial notification in § 60.5870(g)(1), the State must submit a second notification to the appropriate EPA regional office that documents the initial notification. If the State fails to submit this documentation on a timely basis, the EPA will notify the State, which must then notify the affected EGU(s) that they must operate or resume operations under the original approved State plan emission standards. This notification must include the following:

(i) A full description of the reliability concern and why an unforeseen, emergency situation that threatens reliability requires the affected EGU or EGUs to operate under modified emission standards from those originally required in the State plan including discussion of why the flexibilities provided under the state's plan are insufficient to address the concern;

(ii) A description of how the State is coordinating or will coordinate with relevant reliability coordinators and planning authorities to alleviate the problem in an expedited manner;

(iii) An indication of the maximum time that the State anticipates the affected EGU or EGUs will need to operate in a manner inconsistent with its or their obligations under the State's approved plan;

(iv) A written concurrence from the relevant reliability coordinator and/or planning authority confirming the existence of the imminent reliability threat and supporting the temporary modification request or an explanation of why this kind of concurrence cannot be provided;

(v) The modified emission standards or levels that the affected EGU or EGU will be operating at for the remainder of the 90-day period if it has changed from the initial notification; and

(vi) Information regarding any systemwide or other analysis of the reliability concern conducted by the relevant planning authority, if any.

(3) At least 7 days before the end of the 90-day reliability safety valve period, the State must notify the appropriate EPA regional office that either:

(i) The reliability concern has been addressed and the affected EGU or EGUs can resume meeting the original emission standards in the State plan approved prior to the short-term modification; or

(ii) There still is a serious, ongoing reliability issue that necessitates the affected EGU or EGUs to emit beyond the amount allowed under the State plan. In this case, the State must provide a notification to the EPA that it will be submitting a State plan revision according to paragraph § 60.5785(a) of this section to address the reliability issue. The notification must provide the date by which a revised State plan will be submitted to EPA and documentation of the ongoing emergency with a written concurrence from the relevant reliability coordinator and/or planning authority confirming the continuing urgent need for the affected EGU or EGUs to operate beyond the requirements of the State plan and that there is no other reasonable way of addressing the ongoing reliability emergency but for the affected EGU or EGUs to operate under an alternative emission standard than originally approved under the State plan. After the initial 90-day period, any excess emissions beyond what is authorized in the original approved State plan will count against the State's overall CO2 emission goal or emission performance rate for affected EGUs.

§ 60.5875 How do I submit information required by these Emission Guidelines to the EPA?

(a) You must submit to the EPA the information required by these emission guidelines following the procedures in paragraphs (b) through (e) of this section.

(b) All negative declarations, State plan submittals, supporting materials that are part of a State plan submittal, any plan revisions, and all State reports required to be submitted to the EPA by the State plan must be reported through EPA's State Plan Electronic Collection System (SPeCS).

SPeCS is a web accessible electronic system accessed at the EPA's Central Data Exchange (CDX) (<http://www.epa.gov/cdx/>). States who claim that a State plan submittal or supporting documentation includes confidential business information (CBI) must submit that information on a compact disc, flash drive, or other commonly used electronic storage media to the EPA. The electronic media must be clearly marked as CBI and mailed to U.S. EPA/OAQPS/CORE CBI Office, Attention: State and Local Programs Group, MD C539-01, 4930 Old Page Rd., Durham, NC 27703.

(c) Only a submittal by the Governor or the Governor's designee by an electronic submission through SPeCS shall be considered an official submittal to the EPA under this subpart. If the Governor wishes to designate another responsible official the authority to submit a State plan, the EPA must be notified via letter from the Governor prior to the September 6, 2016, deadline for plan submittal so that the official will have the ability to submit the initial or final plan submittal in the SPeCS. If the Governor has previously delegated authority to make CAA submittals on the Governor's behalf, a State may submit documentation of the delegation in lieu of a letter from the Governor. The letter or documentation must identify the designee to whom authority is being designated and must include the name and contact information for the designee and also identify the State plan preparers who will need access to SPeCS. A State may also submit the names of the State plan preparers via a separate letter prior to the designation letter from the Governor in order to expedite the State plan administrative process. Required contact information for the designee and preparers includes the person's title, organization and email address.

(d) The submission of the information by the authorized official must be in a non-editable format. In addition to the non-editable version all plan components designated as federally enforceable must also be submitted in an editable version. Following initial plan approval, States must provide the EPA with an editable copy of any submitted revision to existing approved federally enforceable plan components, including State plan backstop measures. The editable copy of any such submitted plan revision must indicate the changes made at the State level, if any.

to the existing approved federally enforceable plan components, using a mechanism such as redline/strikethrough. These changes are not part of the State plan until formal approval by EPA.

(e) You must provide the EPA with non-editable and editable copies of any submitted revision to existing approved federally enforceable plan components, including State plan backstop measures. The editable copy of any such submitted plan revision must indicate the changes made at the State level, if any, to the existing approved federally enforceable plan components, using a mechanism such as redline/strikethrough. These changes are not part of the State plan until formal approval by EPA.

#### Definitions

#### § ~~60.5820~~60.5880 What definitions apply to this subpart?

As used in this subpart, all terms not defined herein will have the meaning given them in the Clean Air Act and in subparts A ~~(General Provisions)~~ and B, and TTTT, of this part.

#### Adjusted CO2 Emission Rate Means

(1) For an affected EGU, the reported CO2 emission rate of an affected EGU, adjusted as described in § 60.5790(c)(1) to reflect any ERCs used by an affected EGU to demonstrate compliance with its CO2 emission standards; or

(2) For a State (or states in a multistate plan) calculating a collective CO2 emission rate achieved under the plan, the actual CO2 emission rate during a plan reporting period of the affected EGUs subject to the rate specified in the plan, adjusted by the ERCs used for compliance by those EGUs (total CO2 mass divided by the sum of the total MWh and ERCs).

*Affected electric generating unit* or *Affected EGU* means a steam generating unit, ~~an~~integrated gasification combined cycle (IGCC facility), or a stationary combustion turbine that meets the relevant applicability conditions in section § ~~60.5795~~60.5845.

~~*Affected Entity* shall mean any of the following: An affected EGU, or another entity with obligations under this subpart for the purpose of meeting the emissions performance goal requirements in these emission guidelines.~~

Allowance means an authorization for each specified unit of actual CO<sub>2</sub> emitted from an affected EGU or a facility during a specified period.

Allowance system means a control program under which the owner or operator of each affected EGU is required to hold an allowance for each specified unit of CO<sub>2</sub> emitted from that affected EGU or facility during a specified period and which limits the total amount of such allowances for a specified period and allows the transfer of such allowances.

Annual capacity factor means the ratio between the actual heat input to an EGU during a calendar year and the potential heat input to the EGU had it been operated for 8,760 hours during a calendar year at the base load rating.

*Base load rating* means the maximum amount of heat input (fuel) that ~~a steam-generating-unit~~ an EGU can combust on a ~~steady-state~~ steady-state basis, as determined by the physical design and characteristics of the ~~steam-generating-unit~~ EGU at ISO conditions. For a stationary combustion turbine, *base load rating* ~~means 100 percent of the design heat input capacity of the simple cycle portion of the stationary combustion turbine at ISO conditions (includes the~~ heat input from duct burners ~~is not included).~~

Biomass means biologically based material that is living or dead (e.g., trees, crops, grasses, tree litter, roots) above and below ground, and available on a renewable or recurring basis. Materials that are biologically based include non-fossilized, biodegradable organic material originating from modern or contemporarily grown plants, animals, or microorganisms (including plants, products, byproducts and residues from agriculture, forestry, and related activities and industries, as well as the non-fossilized and biodegradable organic fractions of industrial and municipal wastes, including gases and liquids recovered from the decomposition of non-fossilized and biodegradable organic material).

CO<sub>2</sub> ~~emissions performance~~ emission goal means ~~the~~ a statewide rate-based CO<sub>2</sub> ~~emissions-performance~~ emission goal or mass-based CO<sub>2</sub> emission goal specified ~~for a state in Table 1 of this subpart, or a translated mass-based form of that goal~~ in § 60.5855.

~~Coal means all solid fuels classified as anthracite, bituminous, subbituminous, or lignite by the American Society of Testing and Materials in ASTM D388 (incorporated by reference, see § 60.17),~~



~~coal refuse, and petroleum coke. Synthetic fuels derived from coal for the purpose of creating useful heat, including but not limited to solvent refined coal, gasified coal (not meeting the definition of natural gas), coal-oil mixtures, and coal-water mixtures are included in this definition for the purposes of this subpart.~~

*Combined cycle **facility**unit* means an electric generating unit that uses a stationary combustion turbine from which the heat from the turbine exhaust gases is recovered by a heat recovery steam generating unit to generate additional electricity.

*Combined heat and power **facility**unit* or *CHP **facility**unit*. (also known as “cogeneration”) means an electric generating unit that ~~that use~~uses a steam-generating unit or stationary combustion turbine to simultaneously produce both electric (or mechanical) and useful thermal output from the same primary energy source.

*Compliance period* means a discrete time period for an affected EGU to comply with either an emission standard or State measure.

*Demand-side energy efficiency project* means an installed piece of equipment or system, a modification of an existing piece of equipment or system, or a strategy intended to affect consumer electricity-use behavior, that results in a reduction in electricity use (in MWh) at an end-use facility, premises, or equipment connected to the electricity grid.

*Derate* means a decrease in the available capacity of an electric generating unit, due to a system or equipment modification or to discounting a portion of a generating unit’s capacity for planning purposes.

*Eligible resource* means a resource that meets the requirements of § 60.5800(a).

*Emission Rate Credit or ERC* means a tradable compliance instrument that meets the requirements of § 60.5790(c).

*EM&V plan* means a plan that meets the requirements of § 60.5830.

*ERC tracking system* means a system for the issuance, surrender and retirement of ERCs that meets the requirements of § 60.5810.

~~*Compliance*~~ *Final* period means the period ~~of time, set forth by a state in its state plan, during which each affected entity must demonstrate compliance with an applicable emissions standard, and shall be no greater than a three-year period for a mass-based plan, and shall be no~~ that begins on January 1, 2030, and continues thereafter. The final period is comprised of final reporting periods, each of which may be no longer than two calendar years (with a calendar year beginning on January 1 and ending on December 31).

*Final reporting period* means an increment of plan performance within the final period, with each final reporting period being no longer than two calendar years (with a calendar year beginning on January 1 and ending on December 31), with the first final reporting period in the final period beginning on January 1, 2030, and ending no later than December 31, 2031, ~~greater than a one-year period for a rate-based plan.~~

~~*Emission performance level in a state plan*~~ means the level of emissions performance for affected entities specified in a state plan, according to § 60.5740.

~~*Emission standard*~~ means in addition to the definition in § 60.21, any requirement applicable to any affected entity other than an affected source that has the effect of reducing utilization of one or more affected sources, thereby avoiding emissions from such sources, including, for example, renewable energy and demand-side energy efficiency measures requirements.

~~*Excess emissions*~~ means a specified averaging period over which the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions rate is higher than an applicable emissions standard or an averaging period during which an affected EGU is not in compliance with any other emission limitation specified in an emission standard.

~~*Existing state program, requirement, or measure*~~ means, in the context of a state plan, a regulation, requirement, program, or measure administered by a state, utility, or other entity that is currently established. This may include a regulation or other legal requirement that includes past, current, and future obligations, or current programs and measures that are in place and are anticipated to be continued or expanded in the future, in accordance with established plans. An existing state program, requirement, or measure may have past, current, and future impacts on EGU CO<sub>2</sub> emissions.

*Fossil fuel* means natural gas, petroleum, coal, and any form of solid fuel, liquid fuel, or gaseous fuel derived from such material for the purpose of creating useful heat.

~~*Gaseous fuel* means any fuel that is present as a gas at ISO conditions and includes, but is not limited to, natural gas, refinery fuel gas, process gas, coke oven gas, synthetic gas, and gasified coal.~~

*Heat recovery steam generating unit* (HRSG) means a unit in which hot exhaust gases from the combustion turbine engine are routed in order to extract heat from the gases and generate useful output. Heat recovery steam generating units can be used with or without duct burners.

*Independent verifier* means a person (including any individual, corporation, partnership, or association) who has the appropriate technical and other qualifications to provide verification reports. The independent verifier must not have, or have had, any direct or indirect financial or other interest in the subject of its verification report or ERCs that could impact their impartiality in performing verification services.

*Integrated gasification combined cycle facility* or ~~*IGCC facility*~~ means a combined cycle facility that is designed to burn fuels containing 50 percent (by heat input) or more solid-derived fuel not meeting the definition of natural gas plus any integrated equipment that provides electricity or useful thermal output to either the affected facility or auxiliary equipment. The Administrator may waive the 50 percent solid-derived fuel requirement during periods of the gasification system construction, startup and commissioning, shutdown, or repair. No solid fuel is directly burned in the unit during operation.

*Interim period* means the period of eight calendar years from January 1, 2022, to December 31, 2029. The interim period is composed three interim steps, interim step 1, interim step 2, and interim step 3.

*Interim step* means an increment of plan performance within the interim period.

*Interim step 1* means the period of three calendar years from January 1, 2022, to December 31, 2024.

Interim step 2 means the period of three calendar years from January 1, 2025, to December 31, 2027.

Interim step 3 means the period of two calendar years from January 1, 2028, to December 31, 2029.

ISO conditions means 288 Kelvin (15°C), 60 percent relative humidity and 101.3 kilopascals pressure.

~~Liquid fuel means any fuel that is present as a liquid at ISO conditions and includes, but is not limited to, distillate oil and residual oil.~~

M&V report means a report that meets the requirements of § 60.5835.

Mechanical output means the useful mechanical energy that is not used to operate the affected facility, generate electricity and/or thermal output, or to enhance the performance of the affected facility. Mechanical energy measured in horsepower hour ~~should~~must be converted into MWh by multiplying it by 745.7 then dividing by 1,000,000.

Nameplate capacity means, starting from the initial installation, the maximum electrical generating output that a generator, prime mover, or other electric power production equipment under specific conditions designated by the manufacturer is capable of producing (in MWe, rounded to the nearest tenth) on a steady-state basis and during continuous operation (when not restricted by seasonal or other deratings) as of such installation as specified by the manufacturer of the equipment, or starting from the completion of any subsequent physical change resulting in an increase in the maximum electrical generating output that the equipment is capable of producing on a steady-state basis and during continuous operation (when not restricted by seasonal or other deratings), such increased maximum amount (in MWe, rounded to the nearest tenth) as of such completion as specified by the person conducting the physical change.

Natural gas means a fluid mixture of hydrocarbons (e.g., methane, ethane, or propane), composed of at least 70 percent methane by volume or that has a gross calorific value between 35 and 41 megajoules (MJ) per dry standard cubic meter (950 and 1,100 Btu per dry standard cubic foot), that maintains a gaseous ~~state~~State under ISO conditions. In addition, natural gas contains 20.0 grains or less of total sulfur per 100 standard cubic feet. Finally, natural gas does not include the following gaseous fuels:

Landfill gas, digester gas, refinery gas, sour gas, blast furnace gas, coal-derived gas, producer gas, coke oven gas, or any gaseous fuel produced in a process which might result in highly variable sulfur content or heating value.

*Net allowance export/import means a net transfer of CO2 allowances during an interim step, the interim period, or a final reporting period which represents the net number of CO2 allowances (issued by a State) that are transferred from the compliance accounts of affected EGUs in that state to the compliance accounts of affected EGUs in another State. This net transfer is determined based on compliance account holdings at the end of the plan performance period. Compliance account holdings, as used here, refer to the number of CO2 allowances surrendered for compliance during a plan performance period, as well as any remaining CO2 allowances held in a compliance account as of the end of a plan performance period.*

~~*Net electric*~~ *Net electric* output means the amount of gross generation the generator(s) produce (including, but not limited to, output from steam turbine(s), combustion turbine(s), and gas expander(s)), as measured at the generator terminals, less the electricity used to operate the plant (*i.e.*, auxiliary loads); such uses include fuel handling equipment, pumps, fans, pollution control equipment, other electricity needs, and transformer losses as measured at the transmission side of the step up transformer (*e.g.*, the point of sale).

*Net energy output* means:

(1) The net electric or mechanical output from the affected facility, plus ~~75~~100 percent of the useful thermal output measured relative to SATP conditions that is not used to generate additional electric or mechanical output or to enhance the performance of the unit (*e.g.*, steam delivered to an industrial process for a heating application).

(2) For combined heat and power facilities where at least 20.0 percent of the total gross or net energy output consists of electric or direct mechanical output and at least 20.0 percent of the total gross or net energy output consists of useful thermal output on a 12-operating month rolling ~~3-~~year average basis, the net electric or mechanical output from the affected ~~facility~~EGU divided by

0.95, plus ~~75~~100 percent of the useful thermal output ~~measured relative to SATP conditions that is not used to generate additional electric or mechanical output or to enhance the performance of the unit;~~ (e.g., steam delivered to an industrial process for a heating application).

~~Petroleum means crude oil or a fuel derived from crude oil, including, but not limited to, distillate and residual oil.~~

~~Solid fuel means any fuel that has a definite shape and volume, has no tendency to flow or disperse under moderate stress, and is not liquid or gaseous at ISO conditions. This includes, but is not limited to, coal, biomass, and pulverized solid fuels.~~

Programmatic milestone means the implementation of measures necessary for plan progress, including specific dates associated with such implementation. Prior to January 1, 2022, programmatic milestones are applicable to all state plan approaches and measures. Subsequent to January 1, 2022, programmatic milestones are applicable to state measures.

Qualified biomass means a biomass feedstock that is demonstrated as a method to control increases of CO2 levels in the atmosphere.

*Standard ambient temperature and pressure (SATP) conditions* means 298.15 Kelvin (25 °C, 77 °F) and 100.0 kilopascals (14.504 psi, 0.987 atm) pressure. The enthalpy of water at SATP conditions is 50 Btu/lb.

State agent means an entity acting on behalf of the State, with the legal authority of the State.

State measures means measures that are adopted, implemented, and enforced as a matter of State law. Such measures are enforceable only per State law, and are not included in and codified as part of the federally enforceable State plan.

*Stationary combustion turbine* means all equipment, including but not limited to the turbine engine, the fuel, air, lubrication and exhaust gas systems, control systems (except emissions control equipment), heat recovery system, fuel compressor, heater, and/or pump, post-combustion emissions control technology, and any ancillary components and sub-components comprising any simple cycle stationary combustion turbine, any combined cycle combustion turbine, and any combined heat and power combustion turbine based system plus any integrated equipment that provides electricity or useful thermal output to the combustion turbine engine, heat recovery system or auxiliary equipment.

Stationary means that the combustion turbine is not self-propelled or intended to be propelled while performing its function. It may, however, be mounted on a vehicle for portability. If a stationary combustion turbine burns any solid fuel directly it is considered a steam generating unit.

*Steam generating unit* means any furnace, boiler, or other device used for combusting fuel and producing steam (nuclear steam generators are not included) plus any integrated equipment that provides electricity or useful thermal output to the affected facility or auxiliary equipment.

**Uprate means an increase in available electric generating unit power capacity due to a system or equipment modification.**

*Useful thermal output* means the thermal energy made available for use in any ~~industrial or commercial process, or used in any~~ heating ~~or cooling~~ application (e.g., steam delivered to an industrial process for a heating application, ~~i.e., total~~ including thermal ~~energy made available for processes and cooling~~ applications ~~other than~~ that is not used for electric generation, mechanical output at the affected ~~facility~~ EGU, ~~or~~ to directly enhance the performance of the affected ~~facility~~ EGU (e.g., economizer output is not useful thermal output, but thermal energy used to reduce fuel moisture is considered useful thermal output), or to supply energy to a pollution control device at the affected EGU. Useful thermal output for affected ~~facilities~~ EGU(s) with no condensate return (or other thermal energy input to the affected ~~facility~~ EGU(s)) or where measuring the energy in the condensate (or other thermal energy input to the affected ~~facility~~ EGU(s)) would not meaningfully impact the emission rate calculation is measured against the energy in the thermal output at SATP conditions.

Affected ~~facilities~~ EGU(s) with meaningful energy in the condensate return (or other thermal energy input to the affected ~~facility~~ EGU) must measure the energy in the condensate and subtract that energy relative to SATP conditions from the measured thermal output.

**Valid data means quality-assured data generated by continuous monitoring systems that are installed, operated, and maintained according to part 75 of this chapter. For CEMS, the initial certification requirements in § 75.20 of this chapter and appendix A to part 75 of this chapter must be met before quality-assured data are reported under this subpart; for on-going quality**

assurance, the daily, quarterly, and semiannual/annual test requirements in sections 2.1, 2.2, and 2.3 of appendix B to part 75 of this chapter must be met and the data validation criteria in sections 2.1.5, 2.2.3, and 2.3.2 of appendix B to part 75 of this chapter apply. For fuel flow meters, the initial certification requirements in section 2.1.5 of appendix D to part 75 of this chapter must be met before quality-assured data are reported under this subpart (except for qualifying commercial billing meters under section 2.1.4.2 of appendix D), and for on-going quality assurance, the provisions in section 2.1.6 of appendix D to part 75 of this chapter apply (except for qualifying commercial billing meters).

*Waste-to-Energy* means a process or unit (e.g., solid waste incineration unit) that recovers energy from the conversion or combustion of waste stream materials, such as municipal solid waste, to generate electricity and/ or heat.



TABLE 1 TO SUBPART UUUU OF PART 60—~~STATE RATE-BASED~~ CO2 EMISSION PERFORMANCE ~~GOALS~~RATES  
 [Pounds of CO2 per net MWh]

| <u>Affected</u>   | <u>Interim rate</u> | <u>Final rate</u> |
|---|---------------------|-------------------|
| <u>Steam generating unit or integrated gasification combined cycle (IGCC)</u> | <u>1,534</u>        | <u>1,305</u>      |
| <u>Stationary combustion turbine</u>  | <u>832</u>          | <u>771</u>        |

TABLE 2 TO SUBPART UUUU OF PART 60—STATEWIDE RATE-BASED CO2 EMISSION GOALS  
[Pounds of CO2 per net MWh]

| State                                       | Interim                       | Final <u>emission</u>         |
|---|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| Alabama                                     | <del>1,147</del> <u>1,157</u> | <del>1,059</del> <u>1,018</u> |
| <del>Alaska</del> <u>Arizona</u>            | <del>1,097</del> <u>1,173</u> | <del>1,003</del> <u>1,031</u> |
| <del>Arizona</del> <u>Arkansas</u> .....    | <del>735</del> <u>1,304</u>   | <del>702</del> <u>1,130</u>   |
| <del>Arkansas</del> <u>California</u> ..... | <del>968</del> <u>907</u>     | <del>940</del> <u>828</u>     |
| <del>California</del>                       | <del>556</del>                | <del>537</del>                |
| Colorado                                    | <del>1,159</del> <u>1,362</u> | <del>1,108</del> <u>1,174</u> |
| Connecticut                                 | <del>597</del> <u>852</u>     | <del>540</del> <u>786</u>     |
| Delaware .....                              | <del>913</del> <u>1,023</u>   | <del>844</del> <u>916</u>     |
| Florida .....                               | <del>794</del> <u>1,026</u>   | <del>740</del> <u>919</u>     |
| Georgia                                     | <del>891</del> <u>1,198</u>   | <del>834</del> <u>1,049</u>   |
| <del>Hawaii</del> <u>Idaho</u>              | <del>1,378</del> <u>832</u>   | <del>1,306</del> <u>771</u>   |
| <del>Idaho</del> <u>Illinois</u> .....      | <del>244</del> <u>1,456</u>   | <del>228</del> <u>1,245</u>   |

**TABLE 2 TO SUBPART UUUU OF PART 60—STATEWIDE RATE-BASED CO<sub>2</sub> EMISSION GOALS—Continued**  
**[Pounds of CO<sub>2</sub> per net MWh]**

| <b>Illinois State</b>                     | <b>1,366 Interim</b> | <b>1,274 Final</b> |
|---|----------------------|--------------------|
| Indiana                                   | <b>1,607</b> 1.451   | <b>1,531</b> 1.242 |
| Iowa                                      | <b>1,341</b> 1.505   | <b>1,301</b> 1.283 |
| Kansas                                    | <b>1,578</b> 1.519   | <b>1,499</b> 1.293 |
| Kentucky                                  | <b>1,844</b> 1.509   | <b>1,763</b> 1.286 |
| Lands of the Fort Mojave Tribe            | 832                  | 771                |
| Lands of the Navajo Nation                | 1,534                | 1,305              |
| Lands of the Uintah and Ouray Reservation | 1,534                | 1,305              |
| Louisiana                                 | <b>948</b> 1.293     | <b>883</b> 1.121   |
| Maine                                     | <b>393</b> 842       | <b>378</b> 779     |
| Maryland                                  | <b>1,347</b> 1.510   | <b>1,187</b> 1.287 |
| Massachusetts                             | <b>655</b> 902       | <b>576</b> 824     |
| Michigan                                  | <b>1,227</b> 1.355   | <b>1,161</b> 1.169 |
| Minnesota                                 | <b>911</b> 1.414     | <b>873</b> 1.213   |
| Mississippi                               | <b>732</b> 1,061     | <b>692</b> 945     |
| Missouri                                  | <b>1,621</b> 1.490   | <b>1,544</b> 1.272 |
| Montana                                   | <b>1,882</b> 1.534   | <b>1,771</b> 1.305 |
| Nebraska                                  | <b>1,596</b> 1.522   | <b>1,479</b> 1.296 |
| Nevada                                    | <b>697</b> 942       | <b>647</b> 855     |
| New Hampshire                             | <b>546</b> 947       | <b>486</b> 858     |
| New Jersey                                | <b>647</b> 885       | <b>534</b> 812     |
| New Mexico                                | <b>1,107</b> 1.325   | <b>1,048</b> 1.146 |
| New York                                  | <b>635</b> 1,025     | <b>549</b> 918     |
| North Carolina                            | <b>1,077</b> 1.311   | <b>992</b> 1.136   |
| North Dakota                              | <b>1,817</b> 1.534   | <b>1,783</b> 1.305 |
| Ohio                                      | 1,383                | 1,190              |
| Oklahoma                                  | 1,223                | 1,068              |
| Oregon                                    | 964                  | 871                |
| Pennsylvania                              | 1,258                | 1,095              |
| Rhode Island                              | 832                  | 771                |
| South Carolina                            | 1,338                | 1,156              |
| South Dakota                              | 1,352                | 1,167              |
| Tennessee                                 | 1,411                | 1,211              |
| Texas                                     | 1,188                | 1,042              |
| Utah                                      | 1,368                | 1,179              |
| Virginia                                  | 1,047                | 934                |
| Washington                                | 1,111                | 983                |
| West Virginia                             | 1,534                | 1,305              |
| Wisconsin                                 | 1,364                | 1,176              |
| Wyoming                                   | <b>1,526</b>         | <b>1,299</b>       |

**TABLE 3 TO SUBPART UUUU OF PART 60—STATEWIDE MASS-BASED CO<sub>2</sub> EMISSION GOALS**

**[Short tons of CO<sub>2</sub>]**

| <u>State</u>   | <u>Interim emission goal<br/>(2022–2029)</u> | <u>Final emission goals<br/>(2 year blocks starting<br/>with 2030–2031)</u> |
|--|--|---|
| <u>Alabama</u>   | <u>497,682,304</u>                           | <u>113,760,948</u>  |
| <u>Arizona</u>   | <u>264,495,976</u>                           | <u>60,341,500</u>   |
| <u>Arkansas</u> .....                                  | <u>269,466,064</u>                           | <u>60,645,264</u>   |
| <u>California</u> .....                                | <u>408,216,600</u>                           | <u>96,820,240</u>   |
| <u>Colorado</u>  | <u>267,103,064</u>                           | <u>59,800,794</u>   |
| <u>Connecticut</u>                                     | <u>57,902,920</u>                            | <u>13,883,046</u>   |
| <u>Delaware</u> .....                                  | <u>40,502,952</u>                            | <u>9,423,650</u>  |
| <u>Florida</u> .....                                   | <u>903,877,832</u>                           | <u>210,189,408</u>  |
| <u>Georgia</u>   | <u>407,408,672</u>                           | <u>92,693,692</u>   |
| <u>Idaho</u>   | <u>12,401,136</u>                            | <u>2,985,712</u>  |
| <u>Illinois</u> .....                                  | <u>598,407,008</u>                           | <u>132,954,314</u>  |
| <u>Indiana</u> .....                                   | <u>684,936,520</u>                           | <u>152,227,670</u>  |
| <u>Iowa</u>  | <u>226,035,288</u>                           | <u>50,036,272</u>   |
| <u>Kansas</u>  | <u>198,874,664</u>                           | <u>43,981,652</u>   |
| <u>Kentucky</u> .....                                  | <u>570,502,416</u>                           | <u>126,252,242</u>  |
| <u>Lands of the Fort Mojave Tribe</u> .....            | <u>4,888,824</u>                             | <u>1,177,038</u>  |
| <u>Lands of the Navajo Nation</u> .....                | <u>196,462,344</u>                           | <u>43,401,174</u>   |
| <u>Lands of the Uintah and Ouray Reservation</u> ..... | <u>20,491,560</u>                            | <u>4,526,862</u>  |
| <u>Louisiana</u>                                       | <u>314,482,512</u>                           | <u>70,854,046</u>   |
| <u>Maine</u>   | <u>17,265,472</u>                            | <u>4,147,884</u>  |
| <u>Maryland</u> .....                                  | <u>129,675,168</u>                           | <u>28,695,256</u>   |
| <u>Massachusetts</u> .....                             | <u>101,981,416</u>                           | <u>24,209,494</u>   |
| <u>Michigan</u>  | <u>424,457,200</u>                           | <u>95,088,128</u>   |

**TABLE 3 TO SUBPART UUUU OF PART 60—STATEWIDE MASS-BASED CO<sub>2</sub> EMISSION GOALS—Continued**  
**[Short tons of CO<sub>2</sub>]**

| <u>State</u>                | <u>Interim emission goal (2022–2029)</u> | <u>Final emission goals (2 year blocks starting with 2030–2031)</u> |
|-----------------------------|--|---|
| <u>Minnesota</u>            | <u>203,468,736</u>                       | <u>45,356,736</u>   |
| <u>Missouri</u>             | <u>500,555,464</u>                       | <u>110,925,768</u>  |
| <u>Mississippi</u> .....    | <u>218,706,504</u>                       | <u>50,608,674</u>   |
| <u>Montana</u> .....        | <u>102,330,640</u>                       | <u>22,606,214</u>   |
| <u>Nebraska</u>             | <u>165,292,128</u>                       | <u>36,545,478</u>   |
| <u>Nevada</u>               | <u>114,752,736</u>                       | <u>27,047,168</u>   |
| <u>New Hampshire</u> .....  | <u>33,947,936</u>                        | <u>7,995,158</u>  |
| <u>New Jersey</u> .....     | <u>139,411,048</u>                       | <u>33,199,490</u>   |
| <u>New Mexico</u>           | <u>110,524,488</u>                       | <u>24,825,204</u>   |
| <u>New York</u>             | <u>268,762,632</u>                       | <u>62,514,858</u>   |
| <u>North Carolina</u> ..... | <u>455,888,200</u>                       | <u>102,532,468</u>  |
| <u>North Dakota</u> .....   | <u>189,062,568</u>                       | <u>41,766,464</u>   |
| <u>Ohio</u>                 | <u>660,212,104</u>                       | <u>147,539,612</u>  |
| <u>Oklahoma</u>             | <u>356,882,656</u>                       | <u>80,976,398</u>   |
| <u>Oregon</u> .....         | <u>69,145,312</u>                        | <u>16,237,308</u>   |
| <u>Pennsylvania</u> .....   | <u>794,646,616</u>                       | <u>179,644,616</u>  |
| <u>Rhode Island</u>         | <u>29,259,080</u>                        | <u>7,044,450</u>  |
| <u>South Carolina</u>       | <u>231,756,984</u>                       | <u>51,997,936</u>   |
| <u>South Dakota</u> .....   | <u>31,591,600</u>                        | <u>7,078,962</u>  |
| <u>Tennessee</u> .....      | <u>254,278,880</u>                       | <u>56,696,792</u>   |
| <u>Texas</u>                | <u>1,664,726,728</u>                     | <u>379,177,684</u>  |
| <u>Utah</u>                 | <u>212,531,040</u>                       | <u>47,556,386</u>   |
| <u>Virginia</u> .....       | <u>236,640,576</u>                       | <u>54,866,222</u>   |
| <u>Washington</u> .....     | <u>93,437,656</u>                        | <u>21,478,344</u>   |
| <u>West Virginia</u>        | <u>464,664,712</u>                       | <u>102,650,684</u>  |
| <u>Wisconsin</u>            | <u>250,066,848</u>                       | <u>55,973,976</u>   |
| <u>Wyoming</u> .....        | <u>286,240,416</u>                       | <u>63,268,824</u>   |

**TABLE 4 TO SUBPART UUUU OF PART 60— STATEWIDE MASS-BASED CO2 GOALS  
PLUS NEW SOURCE CO2 EMISSION  
COMPLEMENT  
[Short tons of CO2]**

| <u>State</u>   | <u>Interim emission goal<br/>(2022–2029)</u> | <u>Final emission goals<br/>(2 year blocks starting<br/>with 2030–2031)</u> |
|--|--|---|
| <u>Alabama</u>   | <u>504,534,496</u>                           | <u>115,272,348</u>  |
| <u>Arizona</u>   | <u>275,895,952</u>                           | <u>64,760,392</u>   |
| <u>Arkansas</u> .....                                  | <u>272,756,576</u>                           | <u>61,371,058</u>   |
| <u>California</u> .....                                | <u>430,988,824</u>                           | <u>105,647,270</u>  |
| <u>Colorado</u> .....                                  | <u>277,022,392</u>                           | <u>63,645,748</u>   |
| <u>Connecticut</u>                                     | <u>58,986,192</u>                            | <u>14,121,986</u>   |
| <u>Delaware</u> .....                                  | <u>41,133,688</u>                            | <u>9,562,772</u>  |
| <u>Florida</u> .....                                   | <u>917,904,040</u>                           | <u>213,283,190</u>  |
| <u>Georgia</u>   | <u>412,826,944</u>                           | <u>93,888,808</u>   |
| <u>Idaho</u>   | <u>13,155,256</u>                            | <u>3,278,026</u>  |
| <u>Illinois</u> .....                                  | <u>604,953,792</u>                           | <u>134,398,348</u>  |
| <u>Indiana</u> .....                                   | <u>692,451,256</u>                           | <u>153,885,208</u>  |
| <u>Iowa</u>  | <u>228,426,760</u>                           | <u>50,563,762</u>   |
| <u>Kansas</u>  | <u>200,960,120</u>                           | <u>44,441,644</u>   |
| <u>Kentucky</u> .....                                  | <u>576,522,048</u>                           | <u>127,580,002</u>  |
| <u>Lands of the Fort Mojave Tribe</u> .....            | <u>5,186,112</u>                             | <u>1,292,276</u>  |
| <u>Lands of the Navajo Nation</u> .....                | <u>202,938,832</u>                           | <u>45,911,608</u>   |
| <u>Lands of the Uintah and Ouray Reservation</u> ..... | <u>21,167,080</u>                            | <u>4,788,708</u>  |
| <u>Louisiana</u>                                       | <u>318,356,976</u>                           | <u>71,708,642</u>   |
| <u>Maine</u>   | <u>17,592,128</u>                            | <u>4,219,936</u>  |
| <u>Maryland</u> .....                                  | <u>131,042,600</u>                           | <u>28,996,872</u>   |
| <u>Massachusetts</u> .....                             | <u>103,782,424</u>                           | <u>24,606,744</u>   |
| <u>Michigan</u>  | <u>429,446,408</u>                           | <u>96,188,604</u>   |
| <u>Minnesota</u>                                       | <u>205,761,008</u>                           | <u>45,862,346</u>   |
| <u>Mississippi</u> .....                               | <u>221,990,024</u>                           | <u>51,332,926</u>   |
| <u>Missouri</u> .....                                  | <u>505,904,560</u>                           | <u>112,105,626</u>  |
| <u>Montana</u>   | <u>105,704,024</u>                           | <u>23,913,816</u>   |
| <u>Nebraska</u>  | <u>167,021,320</u>                           | <u>36,926,888</u>   |
| <u>Nevada</u> .....                                    | <u>120,916,064</u>                           | <u>29,436,214</u>   |
| <u>New Hampshire</u> .....                             | <u>34,519,280</u>                            | <u>8,121,182</u>  |
| <u>New Jersey</u>                                      | <u>141,919,248</u>                           | <u>33,752,728</u>   |
| <u>New Mexico</u>                                      | <u>114,741,592</u>                           | <u>26,459,850</u>   |

TABLE 14 TO SUBPART UUUU OF PART 60—**STATE RATE-BASED STATEWIDE MASS-BASED CO2 GOALS PLUS NEW SOURCE CO2 EMISSION PERFORMANCE GOALS COMPLEMENT**—Continued

[PoundsShort tons of CO2 per net MWh]

| State                           | Interim<br><u>emission goal</u><br>(2022–2029) | Final<br><u>goal emission goals</u><br>(2 year blocks<br>starting<br>with 2030–2031) |
|---------------------------------|--|--|
| <del>Ohio</del> <u>New York</u> | <del>1,452</del> <u>272,940.44</u>             | <del>1,338</del> <u>63,436.364</u>   |
| <u>North Carolina</u>           | <u>461,424.928</u>                             | <u>103,753.712</u>   |
| <u>North Dakota</u> .....       | <u>191,025.152</u>                             | <u>42,199.354</u>  |
| <u>Ohio</u> .....               | <u>667,812.080</u>                             | <u>149,215.950</u>   |
| Oklahoma                        | <del>931</del> <u>361,531.056</u>              | <del>895</del> <u>82,001.704</u>   |
| Oregon                          | <del>407</del> <u>72,774.608</u>               | <del>372</del> <u>17,644.106</u>   |
| Pennsylvania .....              | <del>1,179</del> <u>804,705.29</u>             | <del>1,052</del> <u>181,863.274</u>  |
| Rhode Island .....              | <u>822</u> <u>29,819.360</u>                   | <u>782</u> <u>7,168.032</u>  |
| South Carolina                  | <del>840</del> <u>234,516.064</u>              | <del>772</del> <u>52,606.510</u>   |
| South Dakota                    | <del>800</del> <u>31,963.696</u>               | <del>741</del> <u>7,161.036</u>  |
| Tennessee .....                 | <del>1,254</del> <u>257,149.58</u>             | <del>1,163</del> <u>57,329.988</u>   |
| Texas .....                     | <del>853</del> <u>1,707,356.79</u>             | <del>791</del> <u>396,210.498</u>  |
| Utah                            | <del>1,378</del> <u>220,386.61</u>             | <del>1,322</del> <u>50,601.386</u>   |
| Virginia                        | <del>884</del> <u>240,240.880</u>              | <del>810</del> <u>55,660.348</u>   |
| Washington .....                | <del>264</del> <u>97,691.736</u>               | <del>215</del> <u>23,127.324</u>   |
| West Virginia .....             | <del>1,748</del> <u>469,488.23</u>             | <del>1,620</del> <u>103,714.614</u>  |
| Wisconsin                       | <del>1,281</del> <u>252,985.57</u>             | <del>1,203</del> <u>56,617.764</u>   |
| Wyoming                         | <del>1,808</del> <u>295,724.84</u>             | <del>1,714</del> <u>66,945.204</u>   |

[FR Doc. ~~2014~~2015-13726~~22842~~ Filed ~~610-1722-1415~~; 8:45 am]

BILLING CODE 6560–50–P

**STATUTORY AND REGULATORY ADDENDUM**

Except for the following, all applicable statutes and regulations are contained in the Addendum to the Opening Brief of Petitioners on Core Legal Issues, ECF 1599889, the Opening Brief of Petitioners on Procedural and Record-Based Issues, ECF 1599898, and the Reply Brief of Petitioners on Core Legal Issues, ECF \_\_\_ (forthcoming).

**Table of Contents**

**Federal Statutes**

Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401, *et seq.* (2014)

CAA § 101(b), 42 U.S.C. § 7401(b) .....REPLY2-ADD-001

CAA § 307(d), 42 U.S.C. § 7607(d) .....REPLY2-ADD-002



**42 U.S.C. §7401(b). Congressional findings and declaration of purpose**

(b) DECLARATION

The purposes of this subchapter are—

(1) to protect and enhance the quality of the Nation's air resources so as to promote the public health and welfare and the productive capacity of its population;

(2) to initiate and accelerate a national research and development program to achieve the prevention and control of air pollution;

(3) to provide technical and financial assistance to State and local governments in connection with the development and execution of their air pollution prevention and control programs; and

(4) to encourage and assist the development and operation of regional air pollution prevention and control programs.

**42 U.S.C. §7607(d). Administrative proceedings and judicial review****(D) RULEMAKING**

(1) This subsection applies to—

(A) the promulgation or revision of any national ambient air quality standard under section 7409 of this title,

(B) the promulgation or revision of an implementation plan by the Administrator under section 7410(c) of this title,

(C) the promulgation or revision of any standard of performance under section 7411 of this title, or emission standard or limitation under section 7412(d) of this title, any standard under section 7412(f) of this title, or any regulation under section 7412(g)(1)(D) and (F) of this title, or any regulation under section 7412(m) or (n) of this title,

(D) the promulgation of any requirement for solid waste combustion under section 7429 of this title,

(E) the promulgation or revision of any regulation pertaining to any fuel or fuel additive under section 7545 of this title,

(F) the promulgation or revision of any aircraft emission standard under section 7571 of this title,

(G) the promulgation or revision of any regulation under subchapter IV–A of this chapter (relating to control of acid deposition),

(H) promulgation or revision of regulations pertaining to primary nonferrous smelter orders under section 7419 of this title (but not including the granting or denying of any such order),

(I) promulgation or revision of regulations under subchapter VI of this chapter (relating to stratosphere and ozone protection),

(J) promulgation or revision of regulations under part C of subchapter I of this chapter (relating to prevention of significant deterioration of air quality and protection of visibility),

(K) promulgation or revision of regulations under section 7521 of this title and test procedures for new motor vehicles or engines under section 7525 of this title, and the revision of a standard under section 7521(a)(3) of this title,

(L) promulgation or revision of regulations for noncompliance penalties under section 7420 of this title,

(M) promulgation or revision of any regulations promulgated under section 7541 of this title (relating to warranties and compliance by vehicles in actual use),

(N) action of the Administrator under section 7426 of this title (relating to interstate pollution abatement),

(O) the promulgation or revision of any regulation pertaining to consumer and commercial products under section 7511b(e) of this title,

(P) the promulgation or revision of any regulation pertaining to field citations under section 7413(d)(3) of this title,

(Q) the promulgation or revision of any regulation pertaining to urban buses or the clean-fuel vehicle, clean-fuel fleet, and clean fuel programs under part C of subchapter II of this chapter,

(R) the promulgation or revision of any regulation pertaining to nonroad engines or nonroad vehicles under section 7547 of this title,

(S) the promulgation or revision of any regulation relating to motor vehicle compliance program fees under section 7552 of this title,

(T) the promulgation or revision of any regulation under subchapter IV–A of this chapter (relating to acid deposition),

(U) the promulgation or revision of any regulation under section 7511b(f) of this title pertaining to marine vessels, and

(V) such other actions as the Administrator may determine.

The provisions of section 553 through 557 and section 706 of title 5 shall not, except as expressly provided in this subsection, apply to actions to which this subsection applies. This subsection shall not apply in the case of any rule or circumstance referred to in subparagraphs (A) or (B) of subsection 553(b) of title 5.

(2) Not later than the date of proposal of any action to which this subsection applies, the Administrator shall establish a rulemaking docket for such action (hereinafter in this subsection referred to as a “rule”). Whenever a rule applies only within a particular State, a second (identical) docket shall be simultaneously established in the appropriate regional office of the Environmental Protection Agency.

(3) In the case of any rule to which this subsection applies, notice of proposed rulemaking shall be published in the Federal Register, as provided under section 553(b) of title 5, shall be accompanied by a statement of its basis and purpose and shall specify the period available for public comment (hereinafter referred to as the “comment period”). The notice of proposed rulemaking shall also state the docket number, the location or locations of the docket, and the times it will be open to public inspection. The statement of basis and purpose shall include a summary of—

- (A) the factual data on which the proposed rule is based;
- (B) the methodology used in obtaining the data and in analyzing the data; and
- (C) the major legal interpretations and policy considerations underlying the proposed rule.

The statement shall also set forth or summarize and provide a reference to any pertinent findings, recommendations, and comments by the Scientific Review Committee established under section 7409(d) of this title and the National Academy of Sciences, and, if the proposal differs in any important respect from any of these recommendations, an explanation of the reasons for such differences. All data, information, and documents referred to in this paragraph on which the proposed rule relies shall be included in the docket on the date of publication of the proposed rule.

(4)(A) The rulemaking docket required under paragraph (2) shall be open for inspection by the public at reasonable times specified in the notice of proposed rulemaking. Any person may copy documents contained in the docket. The Administrator shall provide copying facilities which may be used at the expense of the person seeking copies, but the Administrator may waive or reduce such expenses in such instances as the public interest requires. Any person may request copies by mail if the person pays the expenses, including personnel costs to do the copying.

(B)(i) Promptly upon receipt by the agency, all written comments and documentary information on the proposed rule received from any person for inclusion in the docket during the comment period shall be placed in the docket. The transcript of public hearings, if any, on the proposed rule shall also be included in the docket promptly upon receipt from the person who transcribed such hearings. All documents which become available after the proposed rule has been published and which the Administrator determines are of central relevance to the rulemaking shall be placed in the docket as soon as possible after their availability.

(ii) The drafts of proposed rules submitted by the Administrator to the Office of Management and Budget for any interagency review process prior to proposal of any such rule, all documents accompanying such drafts, and all written comments thereon by other agencies and all written responses to such written comments by the Administrator shall be placed in the docket no later than the date of proposal of the rule. The drafts of the final rule submitted for such review process prior to promulgation and all such written comments thereon, all documents accompanying such drafts, and written responses thereto shall be placed in the docket no later than the date of promulgation.

(5) In promulgating a rule to which this subsection applies (i) the Administrator shall allow any person to submit written comments, data, or documentary information; (ii) the Administrator shall give interested persons an opportunity for the oral presentation of data, views, or arguments, in addition to an opportunity to make written submissions; (iii) a transcript shall be kept of any oral presentation; and (iv) the Administrator shall keep the record of such proceeding open for thirty days after completion of the proceeding to provide an opportunity for submission of rebuttal and supplementary information.

(6)(A) The promulgated rule shall be accompanied by (i) a statement of basis and purpose like that referred to in paragraph (3) with respect to a proposed rule and (ii) an explanation of the reasons for any major changes in the promulgated rule from the proposed rule.

(B) The promulgated rule shall also be accompanied by a response to each of the significant comments, criticisms, and new data submitted in written or oral presentations during the comment period.

(C) The promulgated rule may not be based (in part or whole) on any information or data which has not been placed in the docket as of the date of such promulgation.

(7)(A) The record for judicial review shall consist exclusively of the material referred to in paragraph (3), clause (i) of paragraph (4)(B), and subparagraphs (A) and (B) of paragraph (6).

(B) Only an objection to a rule or procedure which was raised with reasonable specificity during the period for public comment (including any public hearing) may be raised during judicial review. If the person raising an objection can demonstrate to the Administrator that it was impracticable to raise such objection within such time or if the grounds for such objection arose after the period for public comment (but within the time specified for judicial review) and if such objection is of central relevance to the outcome of the rule, the Administrator shall convene a proceeding for reconsideration of the rule and provide the same procedural rights as would have been afforded had the information been available at the time the rule was proposed. If the Administrator refuses to convene such a proceeding, such person may seek review of such refusal in the United States court of appeals for the appropriate circuit (as provided in subsection (b) of this section). Such reconsideration shall not postpone the effectiveness of the rule. The effectiveness of the rule may be stayed during such reconsideration, however, by the Administrator or the court for a period not to exceed three months.

(8) The sole forum for challenging procedural determinations made by the Administrator under this subsection shall be in the United States court of appeals for the appropriate circuit (as provided in subsection (b) of this section) at the time of the substantive review of the rule. No interlocutory appeals shall be permitted with respect to such procedural determinations. In reviewing alleged procedural errors, the court may invalidate the rule only if the errors were so serious and related to matters of such central relevance to the rule that there is a substantial likelihood that the rule would have been significantly changed if such errors had not been made.

(9) In the case of review of any action of the Administrator to which this subsection applies, the court may reverse any such action found to be—

(A) arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law;

(B) contrary to constitutional right, power, privilege, or immunity;

(C) in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, or limitations, or short of statutory right; or

(D) without observance of procedure required by law, if (i) such failure to observe such procedure is arbitrary or capricious, (ii) the requirement of paragraph (7)(B) has been met, and (iii) the condition of the last sentence of paragraph (8) is met.

(10) Each statutory deadline for promulgation of rules to which this subsection applies which requires promulgation less than six months after date of proposal may be extended to not more than six months after date of proposal by the Administrator upon a determination that such extension is necessary to afford the public, and the agency, adequate opportunity to carry out the purposes of this subsection.

(11) The requirements of this subsection shall take effect with respect to any rule the proposal of which occurs after ninety days after August 7, 1977.

a. (E) OTHER METHODS OF JUDICIAL REVIEW NOT AUTHORIZED

Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to authorize judicial review of regulations or orders of the Administrator under this chapter, except as provided in this section.

b. (F) COSTS

In any judicial proceeding under this section, the court may award costs of litigation (including reasonable attorney and expert witness fees) whenever it determines that such award is appropriate.

c. (G) STAY, INJUNCTION, OR SIMILAR RELIEF IN PROCEEDINGS  
RELATING TO NONCOMPLIANCE PENALTIES

In any action respecting the promulgation of regulations under section 7420 of this title or the administration or enforcement of section 7420 of this title no court shall grant any stay, injunctive, or similar relief before final judgment by such court in such action.

d. (H) PUBLIC PARTICIPATION